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DESIGN CONCEPT T2

This cover design is themed with “BUILD
UP STRENGTH FOR INNOVATION
AND FORGE AHEAD FOR GROWTH?,
implying that amid the challenging year 2020,
Everbright Water is like the ball that is formed
by water droplets and held by a pair of hands,
concentrating its focus and gaining momentum

0 rise. It is poised to become a leading p _
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FOCUSING ON WATER
ENVIRONMENT
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China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an
environmental protection company focusing on water environment
management. The Company is listed on the Mainboard of Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX” or “SGX-ST”) and
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “SEHK”) (stock codes: U9E.SG & 1857.HK), with its direct
controlling shareholder being China Everbright Environment Group
Limited (formerly known as China Everbright International Limited)
(stock code: 257.HK, “Everbright Environment”).

The Company has developed a full-fledged business coverage,
which includes raw water protection, water supply, municipal waste
water treatment, industrial waste water treatment, reusable water,
river-basin ecological restoration, and sludge treatment and disposal.
Meanwhile, the Company has formed a full industry chain on the
water business, including project investment, planning and design,
technological research and development (‘R&D”), engineering and
construction, operations management, and etc. The Company’s
geographical footprint spans across East, Central, South, North,
Northeast and Northwest China, including Beijing, Tianjin, Jiangsu,
Zhejiang, Shandong, Shaanxi, Henan, Hubei, Guangxi, Liaoning and
Inner Mongolia. As at 31 December 2020, the Company invested in
and operated water treatment projects with a designed daily water
treatment capacity exceeding 6.5 million m?.

With the experienced management team, the Company will
seize opportunities and strive to emerge as a leader in the
water industry of China.

.“‘- f-h |
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERIE

In 2020, amid the complex and challenging external environment,
Everbright Water adhered to its operating philosophy of
“PURSUING STABILITY WITH GOOD PROGRESS
AND SEEKING OPPORTUNITIES AMID CHANGES”,
continued to FORGE AHEAD in development and achieved
STEADY operating results.

: “EoTE NAKSESSER - Tk E s EPIBES
WSt B (RBPRE - BPRE) ngess BERT
~ KEEE meTBRRBrages .
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Dear Shareholders,

The year 2020 was an exceptional year. In 2020, the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19”) spread rapidly across the world with most
countries being hit hard by the pandemic, the road to global economic
recovery will be long and challenging. However, thanks to effective
pandemic prevention and control measures, various industries in China
took lead in resuming work and production and China became the only
major economy in the world that achieved positive economic growth.
The country also won the battle of “targeted poverty alleviation” and
successfully completed the “13" Five-Year Plan”.

The year 2020 was a year to learn from the past and prepare
for the future. In 2020, China accomplished the phased goal set
for the critical battle of pollution prevention and control. China has
recently reiterated the importance of green development in promoting
harmony between mankind and nature. In addition, China has
included the goals to peak carbon dioxide emissions and achieve
carbon neutrality in the “14" Five-Year Plan” and the economic work
for the first time, which demonstrates its willingness to undertake
the due responsibilities of a major country in pursuing green and low
carbon development. As ecological environmental protection has
been elevated to the national strategic level, it will bring more growth
opportunities to the water environment management industry.

The year 2020 was a year to forge ahead. In 2020, amid the
complex and challenging external environment, Everbright Water
adhered to its operating philosophy of “pursuing stability with good
progress and seeking opportunities amid changes”, continued
to forge ahead in development and achieved steady operating
results. For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”
or the “year under review”), the Group's revenue amounted to
approximately HK$5.66 billion, profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company was approximately HK$1.02 billion and basic earnings
per share were 35.80 Hong Kong cents (“HK cents”). With its steady
performance, the Company was once again recognised as one of the
“Top 10 Influential Enterprises in China’s Water Industry”; received
the “Highest Growth in Profit After Tax Over Three Years Award” from
“The Edge Singapore”, an influential financial magazine in Singapore;
and was given the “ListCo Excellence Award 2020”, which was jointly
presented by multiple institutions including the Hong Kong stocks
channel of “ifeng.com” and Hong Kong media “am730”.

BERMEMRRE :

—ECEFRBT A —F o5 —F W
WERmEsIERE ( [FHERE] ) FEE
B SRKHEREDER  EHEAEER L
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ZECEFEERIMEN—F o5 —F > TH
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MBI EEETIF - ZEETBE ABERL
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NERRBBEE @ £/KIRFEFEIREITE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

After twists and turns, the Group made remarkable achievements
over the past year. In 2020, Everbright Water shouldered and fulfilled
its social responsibilities. During the critical period of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group adopted scientific pandemic prevention and
control measures, and the staff guarded their positions steadfastly,
to ensure that all projects operated at full swing and provided high-
quality and stable water treatment services to the local communities.
At the same time, Everbright Water actively organised various online
and offline activities to open up its environmental facilities for public
visits, continuing the promotion and popularisation of ecological and
environmental concepts and knowledge. The recognition from all
social circles which the Company has received is its driving force to
move forward. On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company and the senior management, | would like
to extend my sincere gratitude to all colleagues who have remained at
their posts with hard work, as well as people from all walks of life who
have given great support to the Group's development all along!

Adhering to the principle of sharing the operating results with the
shareholders, the Board recommended a final dividend of HK6.07 cents
(equivalent to 1.04 Singapore cents (“Sing cents”)) per ordinary share to
the shareholders of the Company (the "Shareholders") for FY2020 (for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”): HK3.74 cents
(equivalent to 0.67 Sing cent) per ordinary share), which makes the total
dividend for FY2020 amount to HK9.81 cents (equivalent to 1.71 Sing
cents) per ordinary share (FY2019: HK7.48 cents (equivalent to 1.32 Sing
cents) per ordinary share).

Only by conquering challenges and adversities through solid
actions, could we show our bravery, understand how important
determination is and be honed to excellence. Looking to the new
year, with challenges and opportunities ahead, Everbright Water will
adhere to its corporate mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and
Environment for a Beautiful China”, strive to develop with determination
and dedication, grasp opportunities presented by the national strategies
and policies, pursue development led by innovation, carry out in-depth
analysis of industry opportunities, and seek flexibility and balance
between asset-light and asset-heavy businesses. Additionally, the
Group will fully leverage on the advantages of its technology platform,
actively explore and develop various investment and financing channels,
continue strengthening its corporate governance, and fully enhance its
operation and management efficiencies to steadily achieve high-quality
growth. Everbright Water will also strive to create sustainable returns
for the Shareholders and contribute the “Everbright strength” to the
development of the water environment management industry!

Mr. Wang Tianyi
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
11 March 2021
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
BEWE

In this new year, with the continuous efforts of
all the staff who work as a team to overcome
challenges, the Group is confident that it

will defeat all the obstacles,

INNOVATION, FORGE AHEAD, and
SEIZE THE OPPORTUNITIES to fully
EMBARK ON A NEW JOURNEY of

high-quality development.

HO—F  E2RRCEEES BFRLH
TWE AT AEEBE UKD B S EE -

FOCUS ON

BOAF  SISEE - BRIMEE - 2Hu

HExkresesEn IR -

MR. AN XUESONG

R B A &
Executive Director and V3o
Chief Executive Officer e
(“CEO”) Y
MITESRAER X,
i
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Operating Results

During FY2020, the unexpected outbreak and spread of COVID-19
added uncertainty to the complex international macro-environment.
The government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) fostered
anew development paradigm with domestic circulation as the mainstay
and the domestic and international circulations reinforcing each other. In
the meantime, through effective pandemic control and sound progress
in economic and social development, China has outshined other major
global economies in achieving a stable economic recovery, boosting
market vitality and ensuring people’s livelihood. During the last year
of the “13™ Five-Year Plan”, China accomplished the phased goal set
for pollution prevention and control, significantly improving ecological
and environmental quality. In addition, China achieved its 2020 carbon
emission target ahead of schedule. During the year under review,
despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on various businesses
to a varying degree, China reiterated the great attention on ecological
and environmental management and protection. It rolled out a series of
important policies and plans to further specify the focus of sub-sectors
in the ecological and environmental protection industry in order to drive
a rational and healthy industrial growth, propel the industry, unleash its
potential and break new ground.

Amid the opportunities and challenges in the external environment,
the Group, during the year under review, focused on the “Innovation-
driven Development” ethos and upheld the business philosophy of
“pursuing stability with good progress and seeking opportunities amid
changes”. It made a concerted effort to steadily forge ahead with
market expansion, project construction, operations management and
technological R&D. As a result, the Group made good progress in the
synergy and development of asset-light and asset-heavy businesses,
refined management and expansion of financing channels. In addition,
the Group demonstrated a stable progress in its overall business,
thereby further strengthening its fully-fledged business coverage and
full industry chain in the area of water environment management.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group invested in and held 138
environmental protection projects, commanding a total investment
of approximately RMB24.68 billion. In addition, it undertook 3
engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) projects, the total
contract sum of which amounted to approximately RMB207 million,
and 2 operation and management (“O&M”) projects. A summary of
the number of projects and water treatment/supply capacity is set out
below:

EBEERATR
EEEE

“ECTYREE  FERIEENERBFE
EE - RRARIEIE N B ZEIRBHAR
g o pE AR ( [FE] ) BUNES
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B MEE R RESBESE NRE -
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[+t=H] BENKE 2F @ HZF5RAK
BEEEMESEKERTK  £FRREEE
RREENE - PRI INEERIREEGRE — 2 —
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RARRENETE  FENLDEFERNSZRE
REERIRIBRIEHRENSEER - WHEE
e —RIEBBKMES @ E—FTHET
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Project Type® Number of Water Treatment/
EHB ERIM Projects Supply Capacity
HEHE (m/day)
IR BR B /K AR AR

(ZFK/B)
Municipal waste water treatment projects® MBS /KERIEIE H @ 107 5,175,000
Industrial waste water treatment projects® THREKEBIER® 13 181,000
Reusable water projects FoKEIAIEER 7 196,600
River-basin ecological restoration projects i AEIEE 6 115,000
Water supply projects HIKIEE 3 250,000
Raw water protection project JR/KIREIEE 1 600,000
Leachate treatment project BIRREIEIREB 1 600
Waste water source heat pump projects JEARERIE B 2 N/A
i
Total et 140 6,518,200

Notes: Biat -

(1) EPC projects excluded
2)  O&M projects included

In terms of operating results, with steady operation in FY2020, the
Group’s revenue amounted to HK$5.66 billion, representing an
increase of 2% from HK$5.55 bilion in FY2019. Earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) increased
by 17% from HK$1.65 billion in FY2019 to HK$1.93 billion in FY2020.
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for FY2020 was
HK$1,024.27 million, increased by 23% from HK$833.48 million
recorded in FY2019. Basic earnings per share for FY2020 were
HK35.80 cents, indicating an increase of HK5.73 cents or 19%
from HKB30.07 cents in FY2019. Gross profit margin stood at 39%,
representing an increase of 5 percentage points (“ppt”) from FY2019.
The Group has ready access to diverse financing channels, holds
quality assets and sufficient funds with a reasonable gearing ratio, and
is in a healthy financial position.

In relation to market expansion, during the year under review, the Group
focused on traditional business sectors like waste water treatment,
and continued solidifying its market position in regions such as the
Yangtze River Economic Belt and the Bohai Economic Rim. In FY2020,
the Group secured 9 new projects, commanding a total investment of
approximately RMB1.19 billion, in addition to 1 EPC project and 1
O&M project. Such projects contribute an additional designed daily
waste water treatment capacity (inclusive of the O&M project and
exclusive of the EPC project) of 290,000 m?® and an additional daily
reusable water supply capacity of 30,000 m®.

(1) T~ZEPCHEHH
(2) EZ/ELIEH

RGEIETE - —E_TRREE - AEERK
BIERERE BB AS6.6EBT B _T—
NOBFEZE 255.5@FTER2% : BRFIE
FRIE - TE MEHEATAF193EB T BT
—NHBFEEZ16 5EBTIER17% + ANAF]
EREFAAREAEF0.2427E BT B &
— N EE 2 8.3348EH TIER23%
IREARZF35.805 1 - R-_Z—NEKFE
230.07 B8 05,7351 - EIE19% - e
EME A% R-_E—NFREE LH5ME
Aok ([B2%] ) - AEBERMEERESZ T
E EESSER  BEenxnn - AaBhla
12 - BTSRRI B RE -

MGHEHT  CEEEARN  KEBEHS
KEBEEGEKAENRR  ZEZEM
BIEEE RPSLCEBSRIENTISH
i _T_ZTHHRFEE  AEELIBE
HIER BREIRENDIMIIETARE 3
EZVEEPCHERE R1ELTELEE - #
WEREHEE (5T ELIER - "3EPCHE
B) ABEIE5/K290,00057 5K « Btk
30,0007 73K o
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In relation to project construction, during the year under review, the
Group was dedicated to implementing the joint prevention and control
mechanisms amid the COVID-19 pandemic, to achieve an effective
pandemic control and business continuity. By ensuring the staff’s
health and safety, as well as complying with the relevant regulations of
government authorities at all levels, the Group managed to proceed with
its construction work in an orderly manner. In FY2020, the Group had
15 projects that commenced construction (inclusive of 1 EPC project),
with a designed daily waste water treatment capacity of 340,000 m?,
a designed daily reusable water supply capacity of 83,000 m?, and a
designed daily water supply capacity of 600,000 m?; a total of 8 projects
completed construction and commenced operation, with a designed
daily waste water treatment capacity of 230,000 m?, a designed daily
reusable water supply capacity of 40,000 m®, and a designed daily
sludge treatment capacity of 200 tonnes; 28 projects commenced
construction in succession (inclusive of EPC projects), with a designed
daily water treatment capacity of 1,371,500 mé. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had 9 projects in the preparatory stage, with a designed
daily water treatment capacity of 312,000 m?.

In relation to operations management, during the year under review,
the Group set “zero work safety accident and zero excessive discharge
of pollutants” as its target, and ensured that its operating projects
operated stably and were in compliance with the relevant discharge
standards. During the critical period of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group responded swiftly by carrying out effective pandemic
prevention and control measures. Not only did the Group ensure zero
infection of its staff, but also it established a multi-level managerial
and coordination mechanism involving the headquarter, the regional
management centers and the project companies. As a result, the
Group’s projects operated at full swing, providing high-quality water
treatment services to the local communities. In addition, the Group
continued undertaking various measures, including improving its
rules and guidances, studying relevant policies, and exploring new
controlling parameters and models, in order to further standardise
its operations and refine its management. It organised various
activities related to safe production, such as training and rehearsals,
to strengthen the staff’s safety awareness and build a strong line of
defense for safe production. While enhancing the effort to implement
the “Intelligent Water” management system, the Group published the
“China Everbright Water Limited Intelligent Water Whitepaper”, which
analyses and discusses the application scenarios, technical options
and implementation methods relating to “Intelligent Water” in the future.
During the year under review, a total of 3 waste water treatment plants
of the Group received regulatory approval for tariff hikes, ranging from
9% to 26%, and subsidies of RMB125.32 million in total were granted
to the Group.

TRERATE DBEFEFERA - ﬁﬂﬁ T 15
MERL  AEBEREHREZTHBIT®
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In relation to technological R&D, during the year under review, the
Group adhered to the philosophy of “Innovation-driven Development”
and leveraged on technologies to drive the development of asset-
light businesses, boosting the effort in providing technology services
and products for external markets. In FY2020, the Group secured a
number of projects from internal and external clients to provide its
in-house developed technological processes, with a total contract sum
of approximately RMB168 million. Meanwhile, the Group proactively
participated in the development of multiple industry standards, and
constantly applied for the relevant qualifications. The Group’s R&D
subsidiary in Nanjing City was recognised as a technological research
center for advanced waste water treatment technologies in the city,
while the Group’s Shenzhen subsidiary was recognised as a high-tech
enterprise. During the year under review, the Group was granted 25
patents (including 22 utility models, 1 invention patent, 1 software
copyright and 1 design patent).

In relation to the capital market, during the year under review, the
Group achieved good progress in exploring various financing channels
to facilitate its business development. In June 2020, the Company
issued its first asset-backed securities (“ABS”) to qualified investors in
mainland China with a size of issue of RMB300 million (including the
preference ABS and the subordinate ABS). The proceeds from the
ABS issuance were used to replenish the working capital of the Group.
In August 2020, the Company issued its first tranche of medium-term
notes (“MTN”), with a principal amount of RMB1 billion, to institutional
investors in the national inter-bank bond market of mainland China.
The proceeds from the MTN issuance were used to replenish the
working capital of the Company’s subsidiaries. The issuance of
the ABS and the first tranche of MTN helped optimise the Group’s
financing structure and kept its financial costs within a reasonable
range. In addition, the Group continued its regular reviews on the loan
structure and financing costs and made appropriate adjustment when
necessary, laying a solid capital foundation for the Group’s sustainable
development in the future.

In addition to pursuing economic efficiency, the Group strived to fulfill its
corporate social responsibility, staying committed to an all-win situation
for the economy, society and environment. During the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group put the protection of water environmental safety
as its top priority, and mobilised manpower and supplies to support its
frontline staff to fight against the pandemic. It provided uninterrupted
waste water treatment services in the project service areas and ensured
the stable operation of all projects in compliance with the relevant
discharge standards. At the same time, the Group helped the local
governments to properly treat medical waste water and waste water
from quarantined locations, which effectively prevented secondary
virus transmission through waste water and other types of waste. In
addition, the Group’s project companies actively participated in local
voluntary activities in relation to pandemic prevention and control.
The Group donated money and supplies, and worked hand-in-hand
with the local governments and communities to overcome difficulties.
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Given the regular pandemic control during the post-pandemic period,
the Group has been more flexible and innovative in opening up its
environmental protection facilities for public visits. Although the on-site
public visits were suspended due to the pandemic, the Group’s projects
launched online activities to promote environmental protection, such
as the webcast of the “Poetry Contest Themed with Environmental
Protection on World Environment Day” and the “Science Popularisation
Webinar about Pandemic”. The project companies of the Group also
continued to voluntarily organise regular charitable and public welfare
activities, such as donations, charitable visits and poverty alleviation,
and actively interacted with the local governments and communities
to enhance mutual trust and support. During the year under review,
the Group continued opening up its operating projects for public visits
and received a total of 543 groups of more than 7,000 visitors from all
walks of life.

During the year under review, the Group received a number of
domestic and international awards through dedicated work and
unremitting efforts in all aspects. The Group was recognised as one
of the “Top 10 Influential Enterprises in China’s Water Industry” for
the third consecutive year; “The Edge Singapore’s Billion Dollar Club
2020” awarded the Company the “Highest Growth in Profit After Tax
Over Three Years Award” under the transportation and utilities sector
in the Centurion Club Category; and multiple institutions including the
Hong Kong stocks channel of “ifeng.com” and Hong Kong media
“am730” jointly presented to the Company the “ListCo Excellence
Award 2020”. On the project level, several waste water treatment
projects of the Group in Jiangsu and Shandong Provinces were listed
in the fourth batch of the “National Environmental Protection Facilities
and Urban Waste Water and Waste Treatment Facilities Opened to
the Public”. There were also a number of operating projects selected
as the environmental protection facilities opened to the public at the
provincial and municipal levels.

The Company is committed to creating value for and sharing fruitful
operating results with the Shareholders. The Board recommended
a final dividend of HK6.07 cents (equivalent to 1.04 Sing cents) per
ordinary share for FY2020 (FY2019: HK3.74 cents (equivalent to 0.67
Sing cent) per ordinary share), which makes the total dividend for
FY2020 amount to HK9.81 cents (equivalent to 1.71 Sing cents) per
ordinary share (FY2019: HK7.48 cents (equivalent to 1.32 Sing cents)
per ordinary share).

Business Prospects

Stepping into 2021, the outlook of the global macroeconomy
remains highly uncertain. The COVID-19 pandemic, trade tensions
and economic downturn continue posing headwinds to the global
macroeconomy. Nonetheless, China has achieved a rapid economic
recovery in 2020 thanks to the effective prevention and control of the
pandemic, and such momentum is expected to continue this year.
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Amid the complicated global trends and the stable and improving
domestic environment in China, China’s “14%" Five-Year Plan” and long-
range goals for the year 2035 have clearly specified the requirements
on ecological environmental protection. Carrying out works relating
to peaking carbon dioxide emissions and achieving carbon neutrality
have been recognised as one of the eight major tasks for the year 2021
at the Central Economic Work Conference, in particular the promotion
of industrial transformation and upgrading as well as reduction of
pollutants and carbon. The water environment management has been
elevated to an unprecedented strategic level as an important mission
of China’s ecological conservation and pollution prevention and
control. “High-quality development” will become a key focus for the
water environment management industry and the relevant enterprises
during the “14" Five-Year Plan” period.

It is undeniable that the world still has a long way to go in the
COVID-19 battle. The Group will further improve and optimise the
relevant rules, procedures and measures, on top of the existing
regular pandemic prevention and control system, in order to be well
prepared for any unexpected pandemic situations and also improve
its safety management proficiencies at all levels in the long-term. In
the meantime, the Group will make full efforts as always to protect the
staff’'s health and safety, ensure stable operations of the projects, and
safeguard the smooth progress of all construction works. By carrying
out all works in an orderly manner, the Group will continue providing
stable and high-quality water services to the local communities to
safeguard the local water environment.

In this new year, amid uncertainties of the external environment,
the Group will seize opportunities arising from the national policies,
focusing on national strategic regions such as the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
region, Bohai Economic Rim, Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, and Yangtze River Economic Belt; continue its optimisation
of the asset-light and asset-heavy allocation to promote the steady
improvement of its operating efficiency; pursue development that
is led by innovation, in order to fully harness the strength of its
technological R&D platform; and accelerate the development of
digitalisation across the Group, strengthen refined management and
create value by “resource recovery”. The Group will leverage on its
dual listing status in Singapore and Hong Kong to drive business
integration with capital. With the continuous efforts of all the staff who
work as a team to overcome challenges, the Group is confident that
it will defeat all the obstacles, focus on innovation, forge ahead, and
seize the opportunities to fully embark on a new journey of high-quality
development.

ERGERNBEIBREERERRTHEANER
BT BR [tHUR] BEM-_ZSE=RAF&
S BIEEEHERRBRERDAEE K -
Hﬁﬁz&ﬂmk CERRATE] B REE
Tz s - —F N NBEFETHKEZ
- Eﬂﬁﬁkfﬁ E%%ﬁ—:ﬁufuﬂ'ﬁﬁ BIRES
PR R AE - KRB G IREBIEABRRAE
BEST AR AR N5 B E’Jigﬁf“ B i
AZRMAENELHESE - [REE%
& | ﬂ—r/ﬂ%%*f&iﬁi?/m\ﬁﬁﬁ%&?ﬁé%ﬁ%
I+ E] REIERARESE -

ZEERH - BRI EEE
BR - AEEBERER
E"J%ﬁ%t ! EE 'L/F;E flﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁll //\u
ERIEIE - 73 7] A8 B 22 B R 15 AR 0 U0 FE
B EALAR *&%xﬂmﬂ%%&ﬁ’f%

HfE EBIDAEEM
Eftf\%ﬁﬁ?%ﬁ/\

K o BdH[AIRF - ANEEEK —REE 1

7]1%3%5\1&}?1?% MR & “IEHF
CREEZ TRV ERE  EEDHD

Iﬁ%f“lf’ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁﬁ ﬂ%%/’%%%ﬁﬁ

BEEIEHET - BEAKBRYE - A%
KRB R TR -

Y —F - EmE WA EEEINRRE -
$Elﬂﬁ?§ml%ﬁ%§€7f& B RRE

%@i%m ?% K#E‘Eﬂﬁ
,%Eﬁt:l%skﬁﬂliﬁ %ii“%{ti‘“iiéféﬁﬂ
E HERRKEUNR %a*%zﬂ LA 81 %
SIRER  BERNHAETEEDR MRS
FORER - MEBALER - A fﬁﬁmbj
RABERIE - BENERM EHEENE
B NEREBEXES - £RRBRACEE

BB BFRLONITEENT  KEEBRE
DRBEE SEKE - BHAIF - SEE

B BY#ES 2 HhNEBR FSEEEEEN
HERR -



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PEIXARKBERAF

14

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

In FY2020, the revenue of the Group increased by 2% to HK$5.66
billion compared with the revenue of HK$5.55 billion in FY2019.
Gross profit of the Group increased from HK$1.89 billion in FY2019
to HK$2.20 billion in FY2020, representing an increase of 16%. The
profit of the Group increased from HK$884.73 million in FY2019
to HK$1,086.36 million in FY2020, representing a rise of 23%.
The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company in FY2020
amounted to HK$1,024.27 million, representing an increase of 23%
over FY2019. Basic earnings per share for FY2020 were HK35.80
cents, indicating an increase of HK5.73 cents or 19% from HK30.07
cents in FY2019.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets approximately
amounted to HK$26.91 billion with net assets amounting to HK$11.41
billion. Net asset value per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$3.68 per share, representing an increase of 19%
as compared to HK$3.08 per share as at the end of 2019. As at 31
December 2020, gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the
Group was 57.6%, which decreased slightly by 0.3 ppt from 57.9% at
the end of 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts a prudent approach to cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and low cost of funds. It
finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow and
loan facilities from banks, supplemented by funds raised from issuance
of corporate bonds, ABS and MTN. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had cash and bank balances of HK$1.72 billion, representing
a decrease of HK$355.27 million as compared to HK$2.07 billion at
the end of FY2019. Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances,
representing approximately 99%, was denominated in HK$ and RMB.

BORROWINGS OF THE GROUP

Amounts payable within one year or less, or on demand

At 31 December 2020
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Amounts payable after one year

At 31 December 2020
R=—Z2-_ZFF+-A=+—H

—FRENAE

At 31 December 2019
RZF—NF+=_A=+—H

Secured Unsecured
BiEA KA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&xT
1,658,100 7,173,360

Secured Unsecured
BHEM EiE i
HK$’'000 HK$’000
TET THET

1,307,594 5,761,546

The Group is dedicated to improving financing methods and
increasing bank facility limit to reserve funding for developing the
water environment management business. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$11.08 billion,
representing an increase of HK$2.00 billion as compared to HK$9.08
billion as at the end of 2019. The borrowings included secured
interest-bearing borrowings of HK$1.88 billion and unsecured
interest-bearing borrowings of HK$9.20 billion. The borrowings are
mainly denominated in RMB, representing approximately 64% of
the total, and the remainder is denominated in HK$, United States
dollars (“USD”) and euros (‘EUR”). Most of the borrowings are at
floating rates. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had bank loan
facilities of HK$12.79 billion, of which HK$5.78 billion have not been
utilised. The bank loan facilities are of 1 to 21 years terms.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Currency exposure
arises within entities of the Group when transactions are mainly
denominated in foreign currencies such as USD, EUR, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), HK$ and RMB. In addition, the Group is exposed
to currency translation risk upon translation of the new assets in
foreign operations into the Group’s reporting currency of HK$. During
FY2020, the Group was affected by the changes in the exchange
rates and did not adopt any formal hedging policies nor used any
financial instrument for hedging purpose.

Although the Group was exposed to foreign currency exchange risks,
the Board believes that the future currency fluctuations will not have
any material impact on the Group’s operations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain bank loan facilities and ABS of the Group as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 were secured by certain revenue, contract assets,
receivables and intangible assets in connection with the Group’s
service concession arrangements and the equity interests in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate
net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries under
pledge arrangements amounted to HK$4.68 billion.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had outstanding purchase
commitments of HK$2.94 billion in connection with the construction
contracts and an outstanding capital commitment of HK$24.73 million
in connection with an unlisted equity investment. With the available
financial resources and unutilised bank loan facilities mentioned above,
the Directors are of the opinion that the working capital available to the
Group is sufficient for meeting these commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company provided financial guarantees
for two subsidiaries. The Board does not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company as at 31 December 2020 for the
provision of the guarantees was HK$989.14 million. Nonetheless, the
Group did not recognise any contingent liabilities at the consolidated
level as at 31 December 2020.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held the following other financial
assets:
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As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the above unlisted investments
were wealth management products issued by financial institutions
in Hong Kong and the above unlisted equity investment represents
the 6% equity interest in Yancheng CCCC Shanghai Dredging Water
Environment Investment Co., Ltd. They were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. During
FY2020, the dividend received by the Group from other financial assets
amounted to HK$1.93 million. Details of the other financial assets are
set out in note 24 to the financial statement.

On 26 April 2020, the Company, Sichuan Lutong Municipal Engineering
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lutong”) and the Urban-Rural Water Bureau of
Zhanggqiu District, Ji’'nan City entered into the Public-Private Partnership
(“PPP”) Project Agreement in relation to the Ji'nan Zhanggiu Water
Water Treatment (Plant 4) PPP Project. Pursuant thereto, the Group
and Sichuan Lutong has incorporated a joint venture company. For
further detalls, please refer to the announcements released by the
Company on 27 April 2020 and 19 May 2020.

TRANSACTION IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY OR ITS SUBSIDIARIES

On 25 August 2020, the Company has, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Everbright Water (Nanjing) Limited, increased its
shareholding in Everbright Industrial Waste Water Treatment Nanjing
Limited (“Nanjing IWWT”) from 60% to 100% by acquiring the
remaining 40% (the “Target Equity”) from an independent third party,
Nanjing Zhuohong Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd., with
whom it had jointly incorporated Nanjing IWWT (the “Acquisition”).

The purchase consideration for the Acquisition was RMB26 million
(the “Purchase Consideration”). The Purchase Consideration was
arrived at after good-faith negotiations on a willing-buyer and willing-
seller basis, taking into account the net asset value represented by the
Target Equity as at 31 March 2020, which was RMB20.336 million.
The Purchase Consideration has been paid in full by cash in lump sum
and funded entirely through internal resources.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the listing document issued by the Company dated
24 April 2019, the Group did not have other future plans for material
investments or capital assets during FY2020.
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Corporate management and risk control are of paramount importance
in ensuring efficient, healthy and sustainable corporate development.
The Group has established a sound management structure with five
committees under the Board (the “Board Committees”), comprising
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominating
Committee, the Strategy Committee and the Management Committee.
As the decision-making body for the Company’s daily management,
the Management Committee holds a meeting at least once a month
to deliberate the matters regarding the Group’s business and
management, ensuring sustainable development of the Company.
The Company has also set up various functional departments,
including the Legal & Risk Management Department, the Internal
Audit Department, the Finance Management Department, the Budget
Management Department, the Human Resources Department, the
Operations Management Department, the Safety & Environmental
Management Department and the Investment & Development
Department. Moreover, in response to business needs, the Group has
also set up four regional management centres, in order to manage
the Group’s projects by region and create good synergies. The Group
has continuously improved the internal management, established
complete management systems and emergency response capacity,
and fully implemented the Environmental, Safety, Health and Social
Responsibility (‘ESHS”) Management System (‘ESHS Management
System”) and the Risk Management System at all levels of the Group
in order to standardise the management of all aspects in the process
of project investment, construction and operations, identify and control
risks, and enhance the overall operational efficiency and profitability.
During the year under review, when facing the complex situation with
diverse projects, a large number of personnel and heavy tasks under
the severe COVID-19 pandemic, the Group applied effective and
scientific pandemic prevention and control measures, issued targeted
policies and strengthened implementation to achieve “zero infection”
in the work area; it has overcome various internal and external
unfavourable factors in ensuring continuous operations of operating
projects to provide waste water treatment services and safeguarding
environmental safety and health of residents.
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Talent is the key resource for corporate development. The Group
highly values its employees and puts great emphasis on talent training
and development. During the year under review, the Group continued
optimising the management structures at all levels, vigorously
cultivating and selecting outstanding young management personnel,
improving the assessment and evaluation as well as the discipline
and motivation mechanism, further building the leadership capacity
at all levels, improving the quality of candidates and employees, and
continuously identifying and cultivating outstanding talents. The Group
is dedicated to exploring various management models and carrying out
rotation programs for the training purpose in pilot areas. In addition, the
Group completed both online and offline training of the members in the
“backup talent pool” in the second batch of “Yongguan Programme”,
in decentralized and concentrated forms, which achieved satisfying
results. The Group also organized lectures and seminars to safeguard
the empowerment and sustainable development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 2,231 employees.
Employees within the Group are remunerated according to their
qualifications, experience, job nature, performance and with reference
to market conditions. Apart from discretionary bonuses, the Group
also provides other benefits such as the pension funds as required
by the laws and regulations in the relevant jurisdictions. Details of the
salaries and other benefits of the employees are set out in note 8 to
the financial statement.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

During the year under review, the Group continued enhancing its
efforts in improving the risk management system to effectively control
the risks that the Group faced. The principal risks that the Group faced
during the year under review were policy changing risk, accounts
receivable risk, financing management risk, engineering construction
and operations management risks, technology and innovation risks,
compliance risk, investment and market competition risks, internal
control risk, staffing risk and cost control risk. In response to the above
principal risks, the Group has implemented risk control measures and
currently evaluates that the control measures are effective. During
the year under review, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the risk levels of accounts receivable risk and investment and market
competition risks of the Group are on an upward trend. With reference
to the implementation effect of the Group’s internal control during the
year under review and in the past, the risk level of compliance risk,
internal control risk and staffing risk is each on a downward trend.
Taking into account the complexity and diversity of the external factors
of other principal risks which are beyond the Group’s control, the risk
level of such other principal risks each remains unchanged.
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Effectiveness of

No. Risk control measures Change in Risk Level
5% [ B 7 78 EEXERERER JE B B AR LB 2
1 Policy changing risk Effective
BRE B E R Bk :
2 Accounts receivable risk Effective T
JFEE LT B R R B B
3 Financing management risk Eﬁeqtive
B B IR b B ’
4 Engineering construction and operational Effective
management risks VSRR —
T2k BB L EERE R
5 Technology and innovation risks Effective
R B AT = b B ’
6 Compliance risk Effective l
BEEHRER B
7 Investment and market competition risks Effective T
W& E M5 F R SR
8 Internal control risk Effeqtive l
PR 2 1 L B B
9 Staffing risk Effective l
ABEE R B
10 Cost control risk Effective
P A 122 ] B B Bk >
Note: Bizt -
Change of trend in risk level: [Elfg ERE(EEE
—>  means that the risk level remains unchangead: > JEZEREREIFTE
means that the risk level is on an upward trend.: * EZR R ERE FHEE
+ means that the risk level is on a downward trend. + HEZER ERE THEEZ -
1. Policy changing risk 1. HREERERE
The Group is subject to risks associated with changes in REBHEBHEISKER - REEE -8
regulations and policies for waste water treatment, river-basin AR ~ KB - K5 RE
ecological restoration, sponge city construction, reusable water, REBERNBBARRERRBEREEN
water supply and waste water source heat pump businesses in [R\ Bz - 5 AN SR B R B8 I B AR R ) B SR
the PRC. If the Group fails to effectively respond to the changes KRR BHASEEETREETE -
in the national policies in a timely manner, its performance will be REB—BEEYVEIZFBORAR - &
adversely affected. The Group has been closely monitoring the IEFEE e mMARNEBBERKS
changes in such policies and adjusting its development roadmap NHERERASEFEBTERNKER
swiftly in accordance with such changes, to ensure achieving the T EEFEAN  ASEEEEHEEEE
Group’s business goal of sustainable and stable development. B BEREZERATAEE - ZER
During the year under review, the existing control measures are ERBEFTF TR -

effective as a whole. However, the risk level remains unchanged
due to the uncontrollability of the risk.
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2. Accounts receivable risk

Because of its business model, the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects are affected by the
revenue and creditworthiness of the customers of the Group’s
environmental water projects to a large extent. The Group’s major
customers are the local PRC governments where environmental
water projects are located. During the year under review, the
Group was subject to the increase in accounts receivable
risk since the local PRC governments’ financial capability
was affected by the pandemic. The Group strengthened the
management and collection of accounts receivables by analysing
the accounts receivables on a regular basis, setting receivables
recovery objectives and composing recovery plans, reviewing the
recoverability of accounts receivables and actively communicating
with various local governments. The existing control measures
are effective as a whole. However, the risk level is on an upward
trend since the pandemic is not over yet and economic recovery
requires an objective process.

Financing management risk

Maintaining the Group’s competitiveness and implementing
growth strategies both require the Group to posess sufficient
capital resources. During the year under review, the financial
market was affected by the global COVID-19 pandemic with
consistent changes in exchange rates, interest rates and financing
conditions. During the year under review, the Group continued
monitoring the changes in the domestic and overseas financing
environment and the trend of the RMB exchange rate. The Group
made adjustment to its financing structure in a timely manner
and broadened the financing channels through the issuance of
ABS and MTN. Through strict control of capital usage, the Group
ensured that its capital reserves were sufficient and financing costs
were controllable. The existing control measures are effective as a
whole. However, the risk level remains unchanged since financing
activities are affected by many different factors.

Engineering construction and operations management risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly generated from the engineering
construction and operations management of projects. At the
beginning of the year under review, the construction progress
of a number of the Group’s construction projects was affected
by the epidemic prevention and control arrangements imposed
by various local PRC governments, and the construction and
operation of the projects were burdened with epidemic prevention
work. In order to cope with the relevant risks, the Group set up
an epidemic response leading team to coordinate the epidemic
prevention and control work of the entire company, formulated
and issued relevant procedures in a timely manner, actively
sourced epidemic prevention supplies through multiple channels
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and resumed construction in all respects in an orderly manner.
During the year under review, the Group’s construction progress
resumed in an orderly manner after a short period of slowdown,
and its operation and management were stable and improved with
no occurrence of major risk events. The Group has accumulated
intensive experience in construction and operations management
through years of operation, but considering the Group had a large
number of new construction and operation projects during the
year under review and the fact that the pandemic is still ongoing,
the level of such risk remains unchanged.

Technology and innovation risks

Along with the increasing importance of the construction of
ecological civilization emphasized by the PRC government and
the relevant government measures implemented every year aiming
to building a beautiful China, the standards of the environmental
water industry in the PRC may rise in the future. Large state-
owned enterprises in other fields continued to enter the water
environment management industry in the PRC during the year
under review, resulting in intensified competition in the industry.
To ensure that the Group can maintain its leading position in the
water environment management industry, the Group continuously
puts efforts on and resources in R&D and the identification of new
technologies. During the year under review, the Group attached
great importance to technological R&D and innovation, proactively
brought in professional and technological talents and fostered the
application of technological achievements to its projects, so as
to pursue development driven by technology. The existing control
measures are effective as a whole. However, the risk level remains
unchanged due to the fierce competition in the water environment
management industry.

Compliance risk

Failure to strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC, the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
SEHK (the “SEHK Listing Rules”), the listing manual of SGX
(the “SGX Listing Manual”) and relevant industry norms, etc.,
may result in administrative penalties or legal proceedings against
the Group in the relevant jurisdictions, which may adversely
affect the reputation and operation of the Group. With years of
internal and external control, the Group has established relatively
comprehensive compliance and approval procedures, including
the provision of safeguards through internal legal personnel and
external legal experts. During the year under review, the Group
strictly complied with the relevant laws and regulations with no
occurrence of material compliance risk-related incidents. The
existing control measures are effective as a whole with the risk
level on a downward trend.
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7. Investment and market competition risks

During the year under review, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in
the restriction of personnel mobility to a certain extent and a decline
in fiscal revenue of the local PRC governments, which presented
a challenge to the Group’s business expansion. Meanwhile,
a substantial influx of capital and competitors are seen in the water
environment management industry in which the Group operates,
causing intensified competition in the market, which may affect its
business expansion and investment return of the Group’s projects.
During the year under review, the Group stepped up its efforts
in business expansion through existing projects and achieved
positive outcome. In addition, the Group proactively explored
innovative business models and continuously focused on quality
business expansion so as to achieve sustainable growth of the
Group’s businesses. The existing control measures are effective
as a whole. However, the risk level is on an upward trend due to
the macroeconomic environment including the continuance of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the intensifying industry competition.

Internal control risk

The Group established an efficient and appropriate organisational
structure to specify the duties of each level and the functional
departments, set up special committees such as Risk Assessment
Committee, Engineering and Technology Committee, Budget
Management Committee and Procurement Management
Committee, and strengthened specialised review of material
matters. Through establishing a “three lines of defence” risk
management mechanism comprising project companies,
functional departments at the headquarters and the Internal
Audit Department, effective risk management is achieved.
During the year under review, the internal control measures of
the Group were effective and no significant internal control risk
event occurred. Considering the Group’s comprehensive internal
control, organisation structure and the relevant mechanisms in
place, and that the actual risks are well controlled, the risk level is
on a downward trend.

9. Staffing risk

The Group relies on the experience and ability of the Group’s
key management team and qualified staff to achieve stable
and satisfactory operating results. The training of key staff,
management and technical personnel is a cyclical process. With
more and more new projects put into operation, there might be
continual difficulties in the allocation of human resources. Besides,
external recruitment can only meet part of the Group’s demands
for talents. As a result, the Group persists to the approach of the
combination of internal training and external recruitment. During
the year under review, the control measures are effective as a
whole and the risk level is on a downward trend.

7. RELEGTSHEFREE

CEFERN  IHFEREZE - ABRD
E—ERE EXBRG - BT AR
BUWARD - e ANEEEHBIR TIEH R
BB AR AKEEAMBFE FEARE
BIFTERKIRFERAIRIEITR - BHMS
BFEE > FIREFEAREENEIREK
REBBRERR - OEFEN - AEE
ERAERBBEE MAEBIERAE - BUSTE
BACR - AEBEREGRRAF DR
A FEREREERENE  UBHE
RASEEBOAHELE - BRIEEE
IEERAR - BE RIS H ARG R
MITRBFNBERELY - ZRBRFR
2 FHABE -

P BB F2  J B

AEBEBISNEEMMBHER - Ak
BMARE MRS - R T AR
AELZEE IRERWMEZES  BREEHE
ZEg RETEZEQSHEAZEE -
s T HEMHFENEMEZ - ARED
Y 7TIHB RG] - AR RBEERFT - R
MOERERE [ =8l - HEBRETT
TEYERE - DBEFERN  AEBAE
HIERAR - RELEBRARFES AR E
I8 o E B 2R B R ERE S AR B R
IR STEE - BRIENRRRY © &%
FERERETEBE -

ABHEREE

AEBIRE RUMWKEEXESE  ABRE
ZEREGLEERABNKLRERLS -
FAdE e (M EIR BT AT MR R AR —
R - BEE MRS m IR B RUE
AEEEBASSEEEHEIEANE
% - MoNER AR {2 RE AR AN SR B R 20
ATRBED B o Bt - NEBEFAT
A ERIF R MSNER RIS AR A KT & - B8
FEAN AEERREZEERERER
RRERETEBY -



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PEIXARKBERAF

24

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

10. Cost control risk

The Group’s businesses involve engineering construction and
operations of environmental water projects. Substantial changes
in the market price of the relevant raw materials, energy, financial
and labour costs, etc. would adversely affect the Group’s cost
control. During the year under review, the Group continuously
optimised the tender and procurement systems and procedures
and adopted various measures to reduce procurement costs.
At the same time, it strengthened budget management, strictly
controlled project investment and operation costs and conducted
regular evaluation. During the early outbreak of the COVID-19, the
prices of certain raw materials fluctuated over the short term but
have all returned to the normal level. The control measures are
effective as a whole. However, the risk level remains unchanged
due to the continuance of the COVID-19 pandemic.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group adheres to the concept of responsible and green operation,
as well as attaches great importance to both the environmental and
social impacts arising from its operations. During the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group promptly set up an epidemic response leading
team, quickly deployed pandemic prevention and control measures
and implemented effective and scientific pandemic control measures.
It also actively implemented regular prevention and control measures in
particular during the autumn and winter seasons and the major festivals
and holidays which strengthened the pandemic control measures
with unrelenting effort. Under the premise of ensuring the health and
safety of its employees at various locations, the Group ensured the
safe production, stable operations and compliant discharge of all
projects and helped the local communities to prevent secondary virus
transmission through waste water and other types of waste.

The Group has been actively evaluating and managing its environmental
and social performance against internationally recognised standards,
including the World Bank Group’s Environmental, Health, and Safety
Guidelines, and has been regularly submitting monitoring reports to
International Finance Corporation since 2016. Most of the Group’s
projects have obtained or are actively applying for various related
international management standard certificates, including 1ISO 9001
Quality Management System, ISO 14001 Environmental Management
System, and OHSAS 18001/ISO 45001 Occupational Health and
Safety Management System. In addition, the Group’s “Intelligent
Water” information management system makes use of big data to
improve the efficiency and accuracy of the operations system, to
manage the entire production, management and service processes in
a more refined and dynamic manner, and to improve the environmental
and social performance of its projects with operations management on
the basis of the full life cycle.
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The operating and environmental performance of the Group’s projects
strictly adheres to relevant standards and requirements prescribed in
their respective environmental impact assessment reports. The Group
also takes into account the expectations of surrounding communities
and implements appropriate and sufficient mitigation measures to
resolve the “Not in My Back Yard Syndrome”. The key regulations and
standards which are highly relevant to the Group’s business include
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, Production Safety Law
of the PRC, Labour Law of the PRC, Law of the PRC on Environmental
Impact Assessment, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC, Marine Environment Protection Law of the PRC, Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes, Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Noise Pollution, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC, Discharge Standard for Pollutants of Municipal Wastewater
Treatment Plants (GB18918-2002) and the applicable discharge
standards for pollutants prescribed by local governments, etc. No
breach of such laws and regulations which resulted in any significant
loss or impact to the Group was recorded in FY2020.

With the aim of integrating policies and regulatory requirements
into the operational practices, improving the entire environmental
and social management process, as well as ensuring that the
Group undertakes the health and safety responsibility relating to
its products and services, the Group has implemented the ESHS
Management System since 2016. In FY2020, the Group continued
strengthening the implementation of the ESHS Management System
and Risk Management System at the group level and across all project
companies, standardising the management of all aspects throughout
project investment, construction and operation, so as to optimise the
environmental and social performance of the Group. The Group at all
times abides by the principle of “compliance with discharge standards”
to minimise the impact of harmful pollutants to the aquatic and
terrestrial ecosystems. In the aspect of occupational health and safety,
the Group placed “safe production” as its first priority and continued
carrying out “Safe Production Month” initiative and fully implementing
the “Three Zeros” goal (zero work safety accident, zero excessive
discharge of pollutants and zero case for violation of regulations or
discipline) through themed activities, training and education, safety
inspection and emergency drills across all project companies. In
addition, the Group included climate risks into its Risk Management
System to formulate more comprehensive emergency and natural
disaster contingency plans. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group implemented scientific prevention measures, achieved “zero
infection” in the work area, ensured non-stop operations of operating
projects to provide waste water treatment services, and safeguarded
the environmental safety and health of residents.
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Furthermore, the Group strives to provide the public with transparent,
reliable and consistent environmental information associated with its
project operations, such as environmental impact assessment reports,
annual environmental monitoring plans, environmental assessment
monitoring results and acceptance reports for completed projects,
environmental emergency preparedness and response plans,
monitoring results of waste water/air emissions/noise etc. The Group
uploaded such information to its corporate website or the official
websites designated by the local governments for public scrutiny.

At the same time, the Group actively responded to the requirements
under the “Notice on Further Opening the National Environmental
Protection Facilities and Urban Waste Water and Waste Treatment
Facilities to the Public” issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development, and opened its waste water treatment facilities to the
public. The Group is committed to developing itself into an advanced
hub open to public for environmental education that provides on-
site visits, practical learnings and technical trainings simultaneously.
As at 31 December 2020, a total of 27 projects of the Group were
officially opened to the public. During FY2020, these projects received
in aggregate, 543 groups of visits with more than 7,000 visitors in
total. Although the physical public visits were suspended for a while
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s projects launched
activities to promote environmental protection via online platforms,
aiming to promote environmental protection concepts and relevant
scientific knowledge to the public. The Group has implemented
specific targets and policies for public opening of facilities. It is also
committed to participating in national and international environmental
protection and technology activities, as well as aligning with national
policies to formulate policies for environmental protection open days,
and encourages employees to live a low-carbon lifestyle. In addition,
The Group’s waste water treatment projects have received various
awards and recognitions, such as the “Science Popularisation and
Education Hub”, “Environmental Education Hub” and “Practices Base
for Ecological Civilisation Development”.
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DIVIDEND
(a) Current financial year reported on

Any dividend declared for the current financial year reported on? Yes

As part of the Directors’ continuing efforts to enhance the
Shareholder’s return, the Directors have recommended a final
dividend of HKB6.07 cents (equivalent to 1.04 Sing cents) per
ordinary share for FY2020, which is subject to the approval by
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) to be held on or around 27 April 2021 (Tuesday).

@S

(a) XHEMBFE
EERA2BUBFREES SEMBEL ? 2
E=xgHRIREARRE® 12
R —E = BﬁE&EE/ﬁﬁxﬂiﬁﬁﬂxgt

BT @6.07 8 (51E1.04%) @ M
i,\ FHRER_ZE-_—FWMA-++H8 (£

) RABRBRTNEERRBFRS
( Fﬂﬁiﬂﬁkm ) EHbAE -

Name of Dividend RE & FY2020 Proposed Final Dividend ~ —Z ~ZBIHFEEHAHKE
Dividend Type BEER Cash Re
Dividend Amount RESE HK6.07 cents (equivalent to 1.04 &% EBA%6.0781L
Sing cents) per ordinary share (FE1.0455)
Tax Rate B One-Tier Tax Exempt —RFHIBRE
(b) Corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial ~ (b) £ —81BF EHI#6 ER
year
Name of Dividend 5 &% FY2019 Final Dividend —E-NMBFEERARE
Dividend Type BEESE Cash Re
Dividend Amount REEEE HK3.74 cents (equivalent to 0.67 & E@EAL3. 74781
Sing cent) per ordinary share (F(E0.67FH7)
Tax Rate B One-Tier Tax Exempt —RFHIBERE

(c) Date payable

Subject to the Shareholders’ approval, the FY2020 Proposed Final
Dividend will be paid on or around 17 May 2021 (Monday).

(d) Books closure date

Details on closure of books are set out in the section below
entitled “Closure of Register of Transfer and Register of Members
— (b) For determining the entitlement to the FY2020 Proposed Final
Dividend”.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held on or around 27 April
2021 (Tuesday). The notice of the AGM will be published on the SGXNet
and the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and despatched to the Shareholders in due course.

(c) IkEH

FRCRHELER - —F - TP RFEEE AR
ng?lﬁ/\_?_ EﬁH—H:EI (28—)
SHANRIKAS

(d) BE#EIEH

FANELE L BNFBRN T [HEH
ERMBPERTFEMEFEERRRER
i — ( JEEZF _Q_EEﬁEkif‘%%%%ﬂi
HIREMER] —&0 -

ERERFAEAY

EERRAFASEMHIN _T - —FMA
—t++R (282) HAIRET - BEKR
BEREEE RN EE R IRESCXNet AR
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF TRANSFER AND
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(@

(b)

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM

For Singapore Shareholders

The Register of Transfer and Register of Members of the
Company will be closed at 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on
22 April 2021 (Thursday) for the purpose of determining the
entitlement of Singapore Shareholders to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM. Duly completed registrable transfers
received by the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent,
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., 50 Raffles
Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 up to
5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 21 April 2021 (Wednesday) will be
registered to determine Singapore Shareholders’ entitlements
to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM.

For Hong Kong Shareholders

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company
will be closed from 22 April 2021 (Thursday) to 27 April 2021
(Tuesday), both days inclusive, for the purpose of determining the
entitlement of Hong Kong Shareholders to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM. Duly completed registrable transfers of Shares
received by the Hong Kong Share Registrar and Transfer Office,
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148
Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong, up to 4:30 p.m. (Hong
Kong time) on 21 April 2021 (Wednesday), will be registered to
determine Hong Kong Shareholders’ entitlements to attend and
vote at the forthcoming AGM.

For determining the entitlement to the FY2020 Proposed
Final Dividend

For Singapore Shareholders

The Register of Transfer and Register of Members of the Company
will be closed at 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 30 April 2021
(Friday) being the Singapore Books Closure Date for the purpose
of determining the entitlement of the Singapore Shareholders to
the FY2020 Proposed Final Dividend.

TERERMBFECFENEE
BB REE M
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Duly completed registrable transfers of Shares received by the
Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate
& Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore
Land Tower, Singapore 048623 up to 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time)
on 30 April 2021 (Friday) will be registered before entitlements to
the FY2020 Proposed Final Dividend are determined. Members
whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte)
Limited are credited with Shares as at 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time)
on 30 April 2021 (Friday) will rank for the FY2020 Proposed Final
Dividend.

For Hong Kong Shareholders

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company wiill
be closed from 3 May 2021 (Monday) to 5 May 2021 (Wednesday),
both days inclusive, during this period no transfer of shares will
be registered. Shareholders whose names appear on the Hong
Kong branch register of members of the Company as at 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on 30 April 2021 (Friday) will be entitled to the
FY2020 Proposed Final Dividend.

Duly completed registrable transfers of Shares received by the
Hong Kong Share Registrar and Transfer Office, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong, up to 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 30 April
2021 (Friday), will be registered before entitlements to the FY2020
Proposed Final Dividend are determined.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CONVERTIBLES, PREFERENCE SHARES AND
TREASURY SHARES

The Company did not have any outstanding convertibles, preference
shares and treasury shares as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, there were no sales, transfers,
disposal, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares.

MR. AN XUESONG

Executive Director and CEO
11 March 2021
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEEF

BOARD OF Non-Executive Director FHTES
DIRECTORS Mr. Wang Tianyi (Chairman) FTRERE (BEER)
EFE Executive Directors HITES

Mr. An Xuesong (Chief Executive Officer) RBEMEE (8H)

Mr. Luo Junling (Chief Financial Officer) EizsESAE (BRUHBE)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFBTES

Mr. Zhai Haitao BEstE

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul M EE S

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee Ei Bl E 2zt

Ms. Hao Gang pidiEenn
AUDIT Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Chairman) MERESEAE (EFF)
COMMITTEE Mr. Zhai Haitao BEEEE
EFilZESE Ms. Cheng Fong Yee LERE S

Ms. Hao Gang M2+
REMUNERATION Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Chairman) BEFELT (&)
COMMITTEE Mr. Wang Tianyi FRE|EFE
FHESE Mr. Zhai Haitao BEELE

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MEDRE 52 A
NOMINATING Mr. Zhai Haitao (Chairman) BEELE (£F)
COMMITTEE Mr. Wang Tianyi FRE\EFE
EEZESE Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MEDRE ST
STRATEGY Mr. Wang Tianyi (Chairman) FRERE (XFE)
COMMITTEE Mr. An Xuesong LZEMRFE
BmESE Mr. Luo Junling EiEEESEE

Ms. Hao Gang piiEeanmn
MANAGEMENT Mr. An Xuesong (Chairman) LTENEE (EFF)
COMMITTEE Mr. Luo Junling EILEESTSE
EEZSE Mr. Wang Yuexing TR LS A

Mr. Wang Guanping FEFLEE

Mr. Zhang Guofeng oREI$8 5T A

Mr. Sun Linbo B S

Mr. Niu Kesheng el s

Mr. An Pinglin LIRS

Mr. Wu Zhiguo REBELAE
JOINT COMPANY Ms. Peng Pei (ACG, ACS) g+t (ACG, ACS)
SECRETARIES Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy (FCG, FCS(PE)) sk 2+ (FCG, FCS(PE))
BEALEHE
REGISTERED Clarendon House Clarendon House
OFFICE 2 Church Street 2 Church Street
Figiisi5a Hamilton HM 11 Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda Bermuda
SHENZHEN 26/F., Block A, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza BRI T 48 H % R A 1003557
OFFICE No.1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District R R RIS AR 261
3/ A Shenzhen, People’s Republic of China 518000 4m + 518000
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SINGAPORE 9 Battery Road RTINS B IR E KON
OFFICE MYP Centre, #20-02 MYPH [:#20-02%
FMBERARE Singapore 049910 AR © 049910
HONG KONG Room 3601, 36/F. BBERE165
OFFICE Far East Finance Centre RSB
EEWLE 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong 361£3601%=
BERMUDA Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
SHARE REGISTRAR Clarendon House, 2 Church Street Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
BREZERGEFZZE Hamiton HM 11, Bermuda Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
SINGAPORE Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. =& (> E B A AREER QA
SHARE TRANSFER 50 Raffles Place FANS A 57505%
AGENT #32-01 Singapore Land Tower B AREH#I2-01E
FTINH IR 7 B E Singapore 048623 B4R © 048623
HONG KONG Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited EEEEHFTLBRATF
SHARE REGISTRAR ~ 2103B, 21/F. BBl
AND TRANSFER 148 Electric Road BRIE1485%
OFFICE North Point, Hong Kong 21182103B=E
EBRODBFZLE
AUDITOR Ernst & Young LLP Ernst & Young LLP
FETHT (Recognised Public Interest Entity Auditor) (38 8] 2R Fzn B FE1Z20ET)
One Raffles Quay, North Tower, Level 18 FTON AR RS BE 1 SR AL BE 1812
Singapore 048583 H4E - 048583
Partner-in-charge: Mr. Alvin Phua Chun Yen FEERA  EBRELXE
(Appointed in Financial Year 2017) (R RFEERE)
COMPLIANCE Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited Kl BERERAR
ADVISOR 40/F Two Exchange Square BAPIRRE RS8R
aREE 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong R 5 EHE 281402
(will cease as at the date of this Annual Report) (BRAFE RS HHKR L)
LEGAL Allen & Gledhill LLP PRy EEeE S
ADVISORS Li & Partners FEIEANTT
R China Commercial Law Firm EE R BT
PRINCIPAL Agricultural Bank of China Limited PRI RFRITRODBRAR]
BANKERS Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited HREIRIT () BRAR]
FEERT Bank of China Limited P EIRITARID BRR A A
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. RIBIRITEE DT
Hong Kong Branch
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited FHEER$R1T (Z2M) BRD AR AT
China Construction Bank Corporation PR IRTTIRHD BRRA A
DBS Bank Limited BRIRIT
Far Eastern International Bank ERPIREEERT
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited FETEIRITIRHDBRRA A
Mizuho Bank, Ltd. IniRERIT
Taipei Fubon Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. Bt EHEERITRHBRAR
PUBLIC Citigate Dewe Rogerson HEAE
RELATIONS
A=) ]
WEBSITE www.ebwater.com www.ebwater.com
E 74
STOCK CODES U9E.SG U9E.SG
BREGEHE 1857.HK 1857.HK
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RESULTS ¥#&
FY2020 FY2019 PERCENTAGE
—_E_—F —_=E—H CHANGE
BIEE BIBCEE  FY2020 VS FY2019
—E-THRERE
¥t
HK$’000 HK$000 —T—AMBEFE
FHET FHBT FER DL
Revenue e 5,663,292 5,850,778 2%
Gross Profit B e, 2,200,536 1,892,441 16% _
EBITDA MRS -~ FRIE - ITER o
.............................................................................. gpgan N TR
Profit Attributable to RATHERIFTAEA
. Equity Holders of the Company __ f8 o A 8348 e "
........................................................................... BRESOHE (%) 106 99 o o...0T7ppt
Basic Earnings per Share B EAREF 35.80
HKcents) ] I i )
Total Dividend per Share ERE2FRE
(HK cents) (L) 9.81 7.48 31%
_lequivalentto Sing cents) BB ) ] LA N 182  ...80%
FINANCIAL POSITION 8135k 5%
31 31 PERCENTAGE
DECEMBER DECEMBER CHANGE
2020 2019 31 DECEMBER 2020
— ? —%= ﬂi :g—j'bqi VS
+=A +=H 31 DECEMBER 2019
=+—H Sar—[=2 —E T
+-—A=1+—B%tt
—E—NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 +=—A=+—H
Fit Tt BEEDL
TotalAssets ~  BAE 26,907,534 ~ 22683031 19% _
JTotal Ligbities @8\ 15,501,675 13,134,279 18% _
Equity Attributable to AR RIETHAA 9
_Equity Holders of the Company ~ ffaigm 10594298 8810009 e
Net Asset Value per Share (HKS) ~ St&EsE (8) 368 308 19%
Gearing Ratio BEABX
(Total Liabilites/Total Assets) (%) (lwaFeiEr) (%) 57.6 57.9 (0.3)ppt
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REVENUE Y A

HK$'000 / T35 7T
4,768,318 -9 5,550,773 =9
FY2018 N FY2019 ~N
G:E—J\Eﬁﬂlifﬁ ' O:E—ﬂﬁﬁﬁlifﬁ

5,663,292 =9

FY2020 )
. o:g:smzfﬁg

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

AATEREEAEGER
HK$’'000 / F7& 7T
676,459 833,483 1,024,271
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020
—T \UHBEE TN RER —E-BUHEE
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE SREAXZEF]
HK cents / 711l
" 35.80
35 30.07 S
. 25.58 S —
25 ‘_:: — T e e = . — = 7_:;_:
20 e e — —
15 — —
10
0
FY2018 FY2019 FY2020
T \RBEE TG RER —EoSHHEE
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE S8REEZFE
HKS$ / 77T
» 3.68
3.5
3.0
2.5
2.0
1.5 —
1.0 — — —
0.5 — ————

0

31 December 2018
- N\F+-_A=+—H

31 December 2019
—E-hF+-A=1+—H

31 December 2020
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CORPORATE MILESTONES
EEBRR

Suzhou Chengnan Waste Water
Treatment Project
R R Ak 5 /K R IRTE B

FIRST QUARTER OF 2020 —E=-Z2F%—FE

e Announced FY2019 annual results, with profit attributable to the o AHB-Z— NP HRFEE2FEE » KA Q7

equity holders of the Company up by 23% year on year BaBFE AELRANBR - \MRFE
£r1523% 1 K
e Secured multiple waste water treatment projects in Suzhou City e BRI E#HEEMNAEZHET « IURAEE
and Lianyungang City of Jiangsu Province, and also in Binzhou MAHTEGZE)S/KERIEIER - 2ENI&
City of Shandong Province, in succession, solidifying the Group’s EMURATES/KERIETIZHES A

advantageous market position in the municipal waste water
treatment industry of Jiangsu and Shandong Provinces

e launched a series of environmental protection promotional e E#& [tHAKE] ~ THEI/KE] EF -

campaigns themed with “Living in Harmony with Water”, FEREEA [MEEA SKmE] BRT
responding to the initiatives of the “World Water Day” and the RIRAHEEEE
“Water Week of China”

Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Poetry Contest Themed with Environmental Protection
BN B RS KEIEIER on World Environment Day

EAREAFAAEEZERE
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2019 Top Ten
Influential Enterprises in

kY
N,

Lianyungang Xugou Waste China’s Water Industry
Water Treatment Project ZE-NFEKRETK
EEREETKEEIER TEN%

SECOND QUARTER OF 2020 —E=-ZF%-FE

Recognised as one of the “Top Ten Influential Enterprises in China’s
Water Industry” for 2019 by E20 Environment Platform for the third
consecutive year

Published “China Everbright Water Limited Inteligent Water
Whitepaper”, which analyses and discusses the application scenarios,
technical options and implementation methods relating to “Intelligent
Water” in the future, based on the Group’s relevant experience in the
waste water treatment sector over the past few years

Issued ABS to qualified investors in mainland China for the first
time, with a size of issue of RMB300 million

Secured two waste water treatment projects in Ji'nan City and
Dezhou City of Shandong Province in succession, further cementing
the Group’s market position in the municipal waste water treatment
industry of Shandong Province

Secured two waste water treatment projects in Shenyang City
and Dandong City of Liaoning Province in succession, enhancing
the Group’s market planning in the industrial and municipal waste
water treatment industries of Liaoning Province

NEE20RRF B T NFE [PBKE
TAREENDE|  BEE-FREZGE

i (PEXAKBBERABESKHEA
RE) - BERAREERESKEET
ENEBRLR ORI ARR [FEEK
%] TENERER  RINEE  BigS
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CORPORATE MILESTONES

TREBRRR

N
» ,ﬂ
»" /’3 3
ﬁ%ﬁ"“/w "
IZ

THIRD QUARTER OF 2020 —Z2=2F%=FF

e Secured Dandong Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il in
Liaoning Province, enhancing the Group’s market position in
Northeast China

e |Issued first tranche of MTN to institutional investors in the
national inter-bank bond market of the mainland China, with a
principal amount of RMB1 billion, an interest rate of 3.6% and
a maturity period of three years
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Liaoning Dandong Waste Water Treatment Project
FENETKEEER
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Awarded the “Highest
Growth in Profit After Tax
QOver Three Years Award”
by “The Edge Singapore”
FEMEF N (The Edge Singapore)
[=FRabEMEER] K

Video program promoting
environmental protection by

company in Nanjing City //;
ARKEBRRAEEGENER

FOURTH QUARTER OF 2020 —Z=—FF%NFE

Received “ListCo Excellence Award 2020” from multiple institutions
including the Hong Kong stocks channel of “ifeng.com” and Hong
Kong media “am730”

Awarded the “Highest Growth in Profit After Tax Over Three Years
Award” under the transportation and utilities sector in the Centurion
Club Category by “The Edge Singapore’s Billion Dollar Club 2020”

Secured Changzhou Zhenglu Waste Water Treatment Project
Phase Il in Jiangsu Province, venturing into the water market of
Changzhou City and solidifying the Group’s market position in
Jiangsu Province

Several waste water treatment projects of the Group in multiple
places, including Nanjing, Jiangyin, Suzhou and Zhenjiang of
Jiangsu Province, Sanmenxia of Henan Province and Ji'nan of
Shandong Province, were shortlisted in the fourth batch of the
“National Environmental Protection Facilities and Urban Waste
Water and Waste Treatment Facilities Opened to the Public”

ES(RE®BER)  BHEKR
(am730) ERBBAR T [Hh L™
NAEAEE 2020)

R mE R EER (The
Edge Singapore) & [T{E#TE%EER]
RIFHEEE) [BARELE] ARd - &
B[ =FmaBefEgsr] (RBRAA
BEITHE) KE

BVSTEE NS5 KR IRIR B — 1 - i
ANEMNKIEH S - BEAREENIEREN™
S

ETITEHERMR LB -~ HMAMET
™Mo AEE =PI IWRE BTN S
E5kERIEIE R AEEMAEE [RIREK
?@Tlﬁﬂﬁiﬁkiﬁi&ﬁiﬁ?&ﬁ@ﬁ’A%F‘;ﬁfiﬁlﬁ
AYA

Everbright Water’s project i A

Received “ListCo Excellence Award 2020” from the
Hong Kong stocks channel of “ifeng.com”
5 (EEAER) [ EmARIAS 2020]

The opening-up event organised by Everbright Water’s project in Ji'nan City
BERKIEIER ARG
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. WANG TIANYI
ITRERE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

HUTESEREER

Mr. Wang, aged 58, is the Non-Executive Director and Chairman of
the Company. He is also the chairman of the Strategy Committee,
a member of the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Wang is the Executive Director, the Chairman of the board of
directors and the Chief Executive Officer of Everbright Environment.
He is also the Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the board
of directors of China Everbright Greentech Limited (a subsidiary of
Everbright Environment, the shares of which are listed on the SEHK).

Prior to joining the Group and Everbright Environment, Mr. Wang
was formerly the Dean of Shandong Academy of Science and the
Deputy Mayor of Ji'nan City, Shandong Province. Mr. Wang had
been the Vice President of Yantai University, and the Dean and
Professor of the Economic Management Faculty of Yantai University,
in Shandong Province.

Mr. Wang is currently a part-time professor of Tsinghua University,
the Co-Director of the Center for PPP at Tsinghua University, a
member of International Coalition for Green Development on the
Belt and Road Advisory Board, a vice chairman of China Ecological
Civilization Research and Promotion Association, a vice chairman of
All-China Environment Federation, and a vice chairman of Industrial
and Academic Union of Ecological Environment of the China
Association for Science and Technology. He is also a member of
the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe PPP Business
Advisory Board, a member of the China Council for International
Cooperation on Environment and Development, and a member of
China Business Research Centre Advisory Council of the National
University of Singapore.

Mr. Wang holds a Doctorate degree in Economics, a Master’s
degree in Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Electronics from
Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced studies at Harvard
University and University of California in the United States.

Mr. Wang joined the Board in December 2014 and was
re-designated as Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company in February 2017.
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MR. AN XUESONG
ZENSE
Executive Director and CEO
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Mr. An, aged 50, is the Executive Director and CEO of the Company.
He is also the chairman of the Management Committee, a member
of the Strategy Committee, and a director of several subsidiaries
of the Group. He is also the Deputy General Manager of Everbright
Environment.

Mr. An has comprehensive experience and knowledge in mergers
and acquisitions, project investment and management, accounting
management and risk management. Prior to joining the Group and
Everbright Environment, Mr. An worked at the Municipal General
Office of Jingzhou, Hubei Province, China Everbright Bank Company
Limited and Guangdong Technology Venture Capital Group Ltd.

Mr. An holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
Jinan University. He is a Certified Public Accountant in China and a
Certified International Internal Auditor.

Mr. An joined the Board in December 2014, and was re-designated
as Executive Director and CEO of the Company in August 2015.

ZRE  RFS0R  RARARITESHRE
HoEHEZBETF BEBMZBEEZRE U
RAEBETHBRARNES - RAELTR
HARIRI ) Bl AR TR -

RREERWE  HBREREE B
EEMEABREESTHABEENLER - &
MAREE RN RRIZAR - HEEAILE
FMHERAE ~ PEERRITRODARA
A ERAEBMEARIKESEERE -

RHREHEEHADIHERELE © #)
Foh LR 0 S R R M PO ED B 16 -

RERAR-_Z-—NF+_AMAEREE I
RZZE-—RAFN\AREASRRBRTESR
B o



40 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PEIXARKBERAF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. LUO JUNLING
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Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer =
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Mr. Luo, aged 47, is the Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFQ”) of the Company. He is also a member of the Strategy
Committee and the Management Committee, and a director of
several subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Luo has rich experience in accounting management and
operations management. Mr. Luo was formerly the Vice President
of the Company. Prior to joining the Group and Everbright
Environment, Mr. Luo worked at China Construction Bank (Fujian
Branch), Fuzhou Guang Min Road and Bridge Construction and
Development Co., Ltd., and Fujian Min Xing Accounting Firm.

Mr. Luo holds a Bachelor’s degree in International Accounting from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics. He is a Certified Public
Accountant and a Certified Tax Agent in China.

Mr. Luo joined the Board in May 2018.
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MR. ZHAI HAITAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

BYFHTES

Mr. Zhai, aged 52, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company, the chairman of the Nominating Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He is also the Independent Non-Executive Director of Everbright
Environment.

Mr. Zhai has extensive experience and knowledge in banking,
capital market and management. He is currently the President
and Partner of Primavera Capital Group. He is also the Director of
China Asset Management Co. Ltd. He was formerly the Managing
Director of Goldman Sachs Asia LLC and the Chief Representative
of Goldman Sachs Beijing Office. Prior to joining Goldman Sachs,
Mr. Zhai worked at the International Department of the People’s
Bank of China in Beijing, and was the Deputy Representative of
the People’s Bank of China Representative Office for the Americas
based in New York.

Mr. Zhai holds a Master’s degree in International Affairs from
Columbia University, a Master of Business Administration degree
from New York University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from Peking University.

Mr. Zhai joined the Board in August 2015.

BIAE  BWEL2E 0 RARBIEUIFNITE
5 ORRLBEIF  EFRBSLFHERE
BRE W KRRRZBIIFNTES -

BEENRT BAMSEREEEETA
RELENERENM BRERTEE
EASENBEHREBA  UNFEEES
ERARAFMES - BEAGERS RS
MEREEAREFALERSREEIL
RRREEFREK - ETBSENAA - &2
JoAE B AL RN T B ARRITATT B
A YEREPEARRITHEEMNKRE
(d49) Bk -

BRERAFRELTIAREERBEEREAL - 4@
MABIRHERBELTURIERAREEEES
THe

BEAR_Z-—AFEN\ANMAESSE -



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PEIXARKBERAF

42

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. LIM YU NENG PAUL
MARE ST E

Independent Non-Executive Director

BYFHTES

Mr. Lim, aged 58, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Lim has over 25 years of banking experience with international
investment banks including Morgan Stanley, Deutsche Bank,
Salomen Smith Barney and Bankers Trust. He is currently the
Managing Director and Head of Private Equity of SBI Ven Capital
Pte. Ltd., and the Independent Director of Golden Energy and
Resources Limited (listed on SGX) and Nippecraft Limited (listed
on SGX).

Mr. Lim holds a Master of Business Administration degree in
Finance and a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science
from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, United States. He is
also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Mr. Lim was first appointed as the Independent Director of the
Company in July 2007 and continued to be the Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company upon the completion of reverse
takeover in December 2014.
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MS. CHENG FONG YEE
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Ms. Cheng, aged 64, is the Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company. She is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Ms. Cheng has more than 20 years of experience in the insurance
industry and is an Associate of the Australian Insurance Institute.
She has been involved in major overseas insurance projects,
particularly in the Asia Pacific region, and is actively involved in
utilising insurance as a financial tool for project development. Ms.
Cheng is currently the head of the Insurance Division of AsiaOne
Insurance Agency Pte. Ltd. in Singapore and Executive Director
(Principal Representative) of the Cambodia Branch of AsiaOne
Insurance Agency Pte. Ltd. She also headed the Business
Development Department of Aon Insurance Brokers, the biggest
broking house in Asia, and managed the insurance division of the
Singapore Technologies Group.

Ms. Cheng completed her insurance study at the Australian
Insurance Institute.

Ms. Cheng was first appointed as the Independent Director of the
Company in July 2007 and continued to be the Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company upon the completion of reverse
takeover in December 2014.
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MS. HAO GANG
B 22 £

Independent Non-Executive Director
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Ms. Hao, aged 62, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company. She is also a member of the Audit Committee and
the Strategy Committee.

Ms. Hao is currently an Associate Professor at the Department
of Management Sciences, the Assistant Dean of the College of
Business, and the Co-Director of CityU-Tsinghual EMBA/MPA
(PPP) dual degree programme at the College of Business, City
University of Hong Kong. Prior to that, she took a number of roles
at the City University of Hong Kong, mainly responsible for university
development and international programme, amongst others.
Ms. Hao also worked in Techno-Economic Research Institute of
National Economic Commission of the PRC and participated in a
number of major national investment and research projects in China.

Ms. Hao holds a Doctorate degree in Decision Sciences and
Operations Management from University of Pittsburgh in the United
States, a Master’s degree in Industrial Administration from Tianjin
University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from
Sichuan University.

Ms. Hao joined the Board in March 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MR. WANG YUEXING Vice President

TIEEE FmE

Mr. Wang, aged 52, is the Vice President of the Company. He is
also a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of
the Group.

Mr. Wang has rich experience in engineering construction and
operations management. Mr. Wang was formerly the Deputy General
Manager of Everbright Environmental Protection Technology
Development (Beijing) Limited and Everbright Environmental
Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited, and the Plant Manager
of Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1).

Mr. Wang holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Engineering from
Tsinghua University, a Master of Business Administration degree from
Shandong University and a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
from South China University of Technology. He also holds the titles
of Certified Cost Engineer and Certified Senior Engineer.

Mr. Wang was first appointed as senior management of the
Company in February 2016.

MR. WANG GUANPING Vice President
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Mr. Wang, aged 48, is the Vice President of the Company. He is
also a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries
of the Group.

Mr. Wang has rich experience in technology management and R&D.
He was granted several invention patents and utility models. Mr.
Wang was formerly the Assistant Dean of Everbright Environmental
Research Institute, Chief Technology Officer of China Environmental
Protection Science and Technology Holdings Limited, Deputy
Chief Engineer of Shenzhen Liyuan Water Design and Consultant
Limited and Chief Engineer of Operation Branch of Wuhan Kaidi
Water Services Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wang holds a Doctorate degree in Environmental Engineering
from Tsinghua University, a Master’s degree in Municipal Engineering
from Tongji University and a Bachelor’s degree in Water Supply and
Sewerage Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology. He holds the title of Certified Senior Engineer.

Mr. Wang was first appointed as senior management of the
Company in February 2016.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MR. ZHANG GUOFENG Vice President
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Mr. Zhang, aged 44, is the Vice President of the Company. He is also
a director of several subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Zhang has rich experience in project investment, operations
management and mergers and acquisitions. He was formerly the
General Manager of the Investment Development Department at
Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited, the Deputy
General Manager of Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited and the
Supervisor of Everbright Environmental Energy (Xintai) Limited.

Mr. Zhang holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
Yunnan University of Finance and Economics and a Bachelor’s degree
in Engineering from Qingdao University of Science and Technology.
He is a Certified International Accountant with the China Association
of Chief Accountants, a Certified Management Accountant with the
Institute of Certified Management Accountants in the USA and a
member of the Association of International Accountants.

Mr. Zhang was first appointed as senior management of the
Company in February 2017.

MR. SUN LINBO Vice President
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Mr. Sun, aged 50, is the Vice President of the Company. He is also
a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of
the Group.

Mr. Sun has rich experience in infrastructure construction and project
operations management in the environmental protection industry.

Mr. Sun holds a Master's degree in Environmental Engineering
from Shandong University and a Bachelor’s degree in Hydrology
Engineering and Construction from Shandong Industrial University.
He holds the titles of Certified Cost Engineer in China and Engineering
and Technical Application Researcher.

Mr. Sun was first appointed as senior management of the Company
in February 2017.

MR. NIU KESHENG CEO Assistant
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Mr. Niu, aged 57, is the CEO Assistant of the Company. He is also
a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of

the Group.

Mr. Niu has rich experience in operations management within the

environmental protection industry.
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Mr. Niu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering on Mechanical
Manufacturing Process and Equipment from Shandong University
of Technology. He also holds the title of Engineering Researcher on i

Environmental Protection Engineering.

Mr. Niu was first appointed as senior management of the Company

in May 2018.

MR. WU ZHIGUO CEO Assistant
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Mr. Wu, aged 43, is the CEO Assistant of the Company. He is also
a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of
the Group.

Mr. Wu has rich experience in waste water treatment and engineering
construction management.

Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering from Xuzhou
University of Technology. He also holds the titles of Human Resources
Professional (Intermediate) and Certified Senior Economist.

Mr. Wu was first appointed as senior management of the Company
in March 2021.

MS. PENG PEI Legal Counsel and Joint Company Secretary
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Ms. Peng, aged 34, is the Legal Counsel and Joint Company
Secretary of the Company. She is also the General Manager of the
Legal and Risk Management Department of the Company.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Peng was a practising lawyer at
the Singapore office of Allen & Gledhill LLP. Her areas of practice
included mergers and acquisitions and derivatives. She also
participated, as a core member, in a major research project of the
Supreme People’s Court of the PRC on disregarding the corporate
entity to propose the relevant judicial interpretations.

Ms. Peng holds Master of Laws degrees from New York University,
National University of Singapore and Tsinghua University and a
Bachelor of Laws degree from Tianjin University. She is called to the
PRC Bar and the State Bar of California, United States. Ms. Peng
is also an associate member of Chartered Secretaries Institute of
Singapore and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Ms. Peng was first appointed as senior management of the Company
in January 2017.
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This is an abstract of Everbright Water's Sustainability Report for
FY2020. The full Sustainability Report for FY2020 is prepared in
accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards:
Comprehensive Option, the SGX Listing Manual (Rules 711A and
711B and Practice Note 7.6 Sustainability Reporting Guide) and
the Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Reporting
Guide published by the SEHK. The Sustainable Development Goals
(*SDGs”) of the United Nations are fully integrated into the Group’s
environmental and social management strategies to align with its core
value of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”
and to demonstrate its commitment to tackling the world’s most
pressing issues.

The full report, in both Chinese and English languages, will be available
for download on the SGXNet (www.sgx.com) and the websites of
Everbright Water (www.ebwater.com) and Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) (www.hkexnews.hk) in May 2021.

WEMANXAKE S _EURFEAFE
RRBENHRE - —_ T -_THREEAHE
BERENTERESKBE2RFEEZALE
( [GRI] ) %8| : 2@EWEE - XA L™
FM (B7T11AIE - E711BIEMNET7.6IEE A
1B (AIFEREIREES) ) AR AT
HE GRIE - g RERFERS) mHlm
Koo dtiN  AEBRBBMARUBERREZ
( [SDGs] ) ZHBMAERBE AL SEER
BEBTE - M EAKE [1BRAERIRE @ #£E
EEHPE] OER  YERREEH2HKEK
BYZBRBRRL

TEEREE (BEPEXRA) IR
— & F ABEiIBSGXNet (www.sgx.com)
FRKHEAL (www.ebwater.com) RE®
RBREEFBERAR ( [BRAF] ) Buh
(www.hkexnews.hk) TEHMHE -




CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PEIXARKBERAF

50

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Following the increasing public awareness of environmental protection,
the PRC government has imposed more stringent industry regulations
in the environmental protection field and discharge standards for
environmental protection projects. The Group believes that maintaining
stable and good corporate operations management is of paramount
importance in ensuring efficient, healthy and sustainable corporate
development.

The Group has continuously improved its internal management. Apart
from establishing a complete management system and enhancing
emergency response capacity, the Group has fully implemented the
ESHS Management System and the Risk Management System at
all levels. Enhanced efforts are made in the further implementation
of management platforms such as the “Intelligent Water” system to
standardise the internal process for project investment, construction
and operations management, as well as to effectively identify, quantify,
assess and control risks, and enhance the overall operating efficiency
and proficiency. In order to identify and control the relevant environmental,
social and safety risks derived from the contracted work process, the
Group has specifically formulated and implemented the Contractors
ESHS Management Measures. Such measures require the Company
to review the contractors in different aspects, including background,
qualifications, construction operations and environmental performance.

The Group demonstrates a strong commitment to the concepts of
corporate social responsibility and green operation. The Group has been
actively evaluating its environmental and social performance against
internationally recognised standards, including the World Bank Group’s
Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines, and has been regularly
submitting monitoring reports to International Finance Corporation
since 2016. Such monitoring reports cover all projects of the Group,
including projects in the preparatory stage, projects under construction,
projects that completed construction and projects in operation.
All of the Group’s projects have obtained or are actively applying for
international management standard certificates, including ISO 9001
Quality Management System, ISO 14001 Environmental Management
System, and OHSAS 18001/ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL POLICIES
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i ENHANCE CITIES’ RESILIENCE AGAINST CLIMATE CHANGE

As consequences of climate change, the global temperature rises,
acute natural disasters such as heat waves, floods and extreme
weather are becoming more frequent, and chronic natural disasters
such as drought, rising sea levels and resource depletion intensify.
To improve the projects’ resilience against climate change, the
Group has included climate change risk into its Risk Management
System to formulate more comprehensive emergency and natural
disaster contingency plans.

The Group contributes to the development of sustainable cities
and communities by providing a series of water environment
management services. Its raw water protection, municipal waste
water treatment, industrial waste water treatment, water supply,
reusable water, and sludge treatment and disposal projects have
effectively relieved the pressure on urban water supply and drainage
and substantially minimised the impact of harmful substances on the
aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. Through establishing systems
for controlling surface runoff and relieving pressure on urban river
channels, the Group’s river-basin ecological restoration projects
enhance the ecological environment, and hence improve the cities’
flood prevention ability.

The concept of “Sponge City” was first proposed by China in 2012
Low-Carbon Urban Development and Technology Forum, aiming
to achieve flood prevention through effective control of rainwater
runoff. The Group’s “Sponge City” project aims to improve a city’s
ability in absorption, infiltration, retention, release and purification of
rainwater, and to enhance the function of the water ecosystem in
the city through systems that can effectively control surface runoff
and relieve pressure on urban river channels. The Group’s Zhenjiang
Sponge City Construction PPP Project fully implements the “Sponge
City” concept in practice, through the integration of a series of
water storage tanks, rainwater pump stations, rainwater drainage
networks, waste water treatment facilities, as well as ecological
restoration works etc. This project will significantly improve the
capacity of Zhenjiang City in waterlogging prevention, pollution
reduction and rainwater utilisation.
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Since the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group promptly set up an epidemic
response leading team, quickly deployed pandemic prevention and
control measures and implemented effective and scientific pandemic
control measures. It also actively implemented regular prevention and
control measures in particular during the autumn and winter seasons
and the major festivals and holidays which strengthened the pandemic
control measures with unrelenting effort. Under the premise of ensuring
the health and safety of its employees at various locations, the Group
ensured the safe production, stable operations and compliant discharge
of all projects and helped the local communities to prevent secondary
virus transmission through waste water and other types of waste.

During the outbreak, as large amount of disinfectants were discharged
into waste water, it increased the difficulty for the Suizhou Water
Environment Management Project of the Group (“Suizhou Project”)
in Hubei Province to achieve a stable effluent standard. To tackle the
shortage of chemicals during the early stage of the COVID-19 outbreak,
the Suizhou Project actively coordinated supplies, adjusted the waste
water treatment processes and used local flour to replace sodium
acetate as the carbon source to maintain stable and continuous
operation. The Suizhou Project’s staff held fast to their positions and
took daily samples of waste water effluent to monitor the waste water
treatment performance and ensured the compliance with relevant
discharge standards in major epidemic areas.

In February 2020, the situation of the pandemic in Liuhe District and
Jiangbei New Area in Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province was critical, and
the Group’s Nanjing Liuhe Waste Water Treatment Project (“Nanjing
Liuhe Project”) received the first batch of municipal waste water from
quarantine sites on 10 February 2020. To facilitate effective pandemic
control and compliance with effluent discharge standards, the Group
implemented five control measures for Nanjing Liuhe Project, including
isolated plant control, frequent disinfection and body temperature
measurement; prioritised allocation of disinfectants to the Nanjing
Liuhe Project; regular inspection and maintenance for facilities;
increased chemical storage capacity; as well as strict requirements for
laboratory personnel to wear full personal protective equipment.

As an environmental protection enterprise focusing on water
environment management, the Group recognises the importance,
urgency and challenges of environmental management. To ensure
compliance with the applicable discharge standards, the Group
adopts suitable waste water treatment processes to precisely remove
components harmful to the environment and human health before the
water is returned to nature.

PERSISTENCE ON FRONT-LINE PANDEMIC CONTROL
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Waste Water and Waste Management

The Group applies stringent discharge standards for all its waste water
treatment projects. Through continuous upgrading works, the effluent
discharged from all of the Group’s waste water treatment projects
complies with the requirements as stipulated in the environmental
impact assessment reports approved by the local governments,
whilst majority of the projects complying with Grade 1A standard of
Discharge Standard of Pollutants for Municipal Wastewater Treatrment
Plants (GB18918-2002). During the year under review, the Group
treated 1,559,100,000 m® of waste water and reduced approximately
339,000 tonnes of chemical oxygen demand (COD) discharge.

In additional, the Group’s reusable water projects purify effluent from
its waste water treatment plants in accordance with the Reuse of
Urban Recycling Water - Water Quality Standard for Industrial Uses
(GB/T19923-2005) or equivalent standards. To reduce freshwater
consumption of cities, reusable water produced by reusable water
projects can be used as in-plant cooling water or for general industrial
use by other corporations. During the year under review, the Group
produced 24,330,000 m?® of reusable water.

WASTE WATER TREATED
om o EEEK approximately

*°"  1,559,100,000 m?
1,559.100,0003Z 75 3K

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
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CHEMICAL OXYGEN DEMAND (COD)
&Q’ DISCHARGE REDUCED

tRRARINAL 339 000 tonnes

4 339,000M8

REUSABLE WATER Bk approximately 24,330,000 m?® 424,330,000 /5 >K

Sludge Management

Apart from strictly adhering to the national standards such as Discharge
Standard of Pollutants for Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant
(GB18918-2002), the Group also adopts the relevant international
standards including the World Bank Group’s General Environmental,
Health, and Safety Guidelines and Environmental, Health, and Safety
Guideline for Water and Sanitation to reduce environmental impacts of
sludge treatment and disposal.

Most of the treated sludge with satisfactory testing results is sent to
qualified third parties for further treatment, reuse and/or utilisation,
such as production of compost, utilisation as construction materials,
etc. The remaining sludge that cannot be utilised is sent to designated
landfills for disposal after undergoing dewatering process to reduce its
water content and volume.
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The Group firmly believes that a sound and outstanding talent pool
is a key factor for corporate development. The Group upholds the
“People-Oriented” philosophy and pays great attention to talent
development. Through a sound human resources management
system, the Group provides employees with attractive career
development opportunities and a caring working environment.

The Group’s Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct cover topics
including compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, the prevention of child labour and forced labour, and
other benefits and welfare. The policies also advocate a fair and open
workplace and ensure that employees are protected from all forms
of discrimination against gender, age, race, nationality, marital status,
religions, etc.

During the year under review, the Group implemented the following
staff development plans to establish a proactive and innovative team.

mE Ew “'

TALENT DEVELOPMENT
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Training to Backup Management Personnel at Everbright Water in 2020
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Training Programme
for Communications
Officers

F R B EEI
& ED

TALENT DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)
ATRE @)

Everbright Water launched its first online training programme for communications officers on
18 June 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The aim of the training was to summarise
and share experiences of different divisions of the Group on the establishment of corporate
cultures, systematically improve the learning and working abilities of communications officers,
and motivate them to better perform their duties on corporate promotion.

AFERIETE  AAKBEIAAZEZ RN RZZZF AT N\BRRBMESE
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Comprehensive
Appraisal System

ARA IR

The Group’s internal assessment mechanism closely monitored employees’ career development
by setting practical goals along with on-going evaluation. Such mechanism also helped cultivate
outstanding employees who embraced the core values of the Group.
NEEZHEE R E THEYEN LIER RIWETHEENTE  UEETERETHBE
TR o AL - AEERMIEEREAZOBENESFSEL -

Tiered Talent

The Group established a managerial and technical backup talent pool to recognise high

Development performing talents by offering them with internal promotion opportunities.

Strategy B BEBREATE  DRESBEXAS L EBEAMFRERNBE S -

BEAAT M E

Apprenticeship The apprenticeship programme allowed the skillful workers to lead new comers, which
Programme effectively passed valuable skills and knowledge to new employees and helped them establish

[Bh#4E | 518

practical career plans.

BARB THRI XTI - BRIEEENRMAMBEATE - WHBIF ABIEAIITH
BERAERE -

Technical Talent
Training Programmes

AT AT 5 IRt &l

Through “Industrial-Academic” collaboration, the Group invited local and overseas technical
experts to provide trainings to managerial and technical employees of the Group’s projects,
widening their horizons.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Al construction and operation projects of the Group stringently
comply with the local occupational health regulations. By putting “safe
production” as its first priority, the Group is committed to minimising
operational and construction risks to safeguard the health and safety
of its employees.

The Group has implemented standardised safety and environmental
management system to monitor the potential safety issue. Safety and
environmental management teams have been established at every
project company to enable continuous management on safe production
and enhance the awareness on risk prevention. Furthermore, the
Group extends the safety and environmental management system
to its supply chain by clearly stating the relevant occupational health
and safety requirements in the supplier contracts, thus monitoring the
health and safety performance of the Group’s key suppliers.

During the year under review, facing critical COVID-19 pandemic
situation, the Group issued targeted policies and strengthened
implementation to achieve “zero infection” in the work area; it
overcame various internal and external unfavourable factors in
ensuring continuous operations of operating projects to guarantee
compliance with effluent discharge standard and safeguarding
environmental safety and health of residents. The Group continued
carrying out the “Safe Production Month” initiative and fully
implementing the “Three Zeros” goal (zero work safety accident,
zero excessive discharge of pollutants and zero case for violation of
regulations or discipline) through themed activities, training, safety
inspection and emergency drills across all project companies.

In addition, the Group protected its employees’ health by providing
annual medical check-ups and occupational disease surveillance.
Moreover, the Group set up an Employee Safeguard and Safety
Fund, which can be disbursed upon application to provide support to
employees who suffer from accidents or diseases, relieving financial
burden of their families.
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Everbright Water deems environmental protection and environmental
education as its responsibility. The Group also leverages on its
competitive advantages in technology, resources and talent to join
hands with various environmental, technological associations and
government organisations in organising numerous activities to promote
the importance of environmental protection and green living.

The Group’s waste water treatment projects have received various
awards and recognitions such as the “Science Popularisation and
Education Hub”, “Environmental Education Hub” and “Practices Base
for Ecological Civilisation Development”. The Group actively responded
to the requirements under the Notice on Further Opening the National
Environmental Protection Facilities and Urban Waste Water and Waste
Treatrment Facilities to the Public issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of the PRC, and opened its waste water treatment facilities to the public.
The Group is committed to developing itself into an advanced hub for
public visits and environmental education that provides on-site visits,
practical learnings and technical trainings simultaneously. As at 31
December 2020, a total of 27 projects of the Group had been officially
opened to the public. In FY2020, these projects received more than
7,000 visitors in 543 batches in aggregate. Although the physical public
visits were suspended for a while due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group’s projects launched activities to promote environmental
protection concepts and relevant scientific knowledge to the public
via online platforms. The Group has implemented specific targets and
policies for public opening of facilities. The Group is also committed
to participating in local and international environmental protection and
technology activities, aligning with national policies, formulating policies
for environmental protection open days, and encouraging employees to
live a low-carbon lifestyle.

During the year under review, the Group launched the new “Cloud
Open Day”, which was an online platform for virtual tours of waste water
facilities. Through various methods, such as: online direct interaction,
recording videos and uploading them to the official media and news
media, the number of online views exceeded 160,000 during the year
under review. In addition, through live streaming with online interactive
activities, the public can virtually visit and understand the operation of
waste water treatment projects. The “Cloud Open Day” particularly
benefits the seniors and individuals with disabilities, allowing them to
learn about environmental protection facilities at home through videos.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
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22 April 2020 - “Earth Day”

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (CONTINUED)
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The National Youth Charity Alliance collaborated with Nanjing Liuhe Project
Company under the Group to host the “Science Popularisation Webinar
about Pandemic” with the theme of “Human and Nature: Clean Water for
Everyone” through online live broadcast interactive mode, and organised
a “Cloud Tour” of the Nanjing Liuhe Project through “Cloud Streaming”.
The “Cloud Open Day” activity attracted over 1,300 views online and
approximately 800 people participated in the online Q&A session.
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24 May 2020 - “The 20* Science Popularisation Promotion Week”
—B-BFREA-TNA - [$-tERNEEME]

In the “20" Science Popularisation Promotion Week” hosted by the Suzhou
(Wuzhong District) Association for Science and Technology, the Suzhou
Waste Water Treatment Project (“Suzhou Project”’) Company under the
Group organised a “Cloud Open Day” to allow the public to virtually visit and
understand the Suzhou Project, which attracted nearly 800 views online.
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5 June 2020 - “World Environment Day”
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The Group used its Lianyungang Waste Water Treatment Project
(“‘Lianyungang Project”) as a demonstration project for science
popularisation. A “Cloud Tour” led by the project company representative
introduced the operation of the Lianyungang Project, attracting over 3,000
views online and more than 1,000 interactive comments. Lianyungang
Project and a group of “little journalists” of Cangwu Evening Newspaper
jointly launched “Cloud Visit” named “White Washing of Waste Water”
to introduce the process and principles of waste water treatment from
children’s perspective to the primary and middle school students in a more
intuitive way, attracting more than 60,000 views online.
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In addition, Everbright Water established a series of offline activities to
promote advanced environmental technologies and enhance public
awareness on environmental protection, as well as increase participation
in various kinds of philanthropic and charitable events.

Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (“Ji’nan Project”) Company
under the Group organised “Green Tour” for various local schools.
During the activities, primary school students visited the treatment
plant and understood the waste water treatment processes through
live interactions; and they also learnt about every treatment unit
through drawing simple flowcharts. Nanjing Liuhe Project Company
also organised “Cherish Water Resources, be a Little Pioneer of Water
Conservation” themed activities to teach children about waste water
treatment processes and water resources, with the aim to raise their
awareness of ecological and water resource conservation.

During the Sanmenxia charity event “Poverty Alleviation through
Cultural Development « Core Values of Education in Sanmenxia”, the
Sanmenxia Waste Water Treatment Project (“Sanmenxia Project”) of
the Group received recognition as a “Caring Organisation” for donating
science books to a local primary school. Through the donation, the
local students learnt more about science and emergency response
actions when encountering emergency incidents, while the Sanmenxia
Project shared their love and care to the local families.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed
to achieving high standards of corporate governance to ensure
investor confidence in the Company as a trusted business enterprise.
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) and the
management of the Company (the “Management”) will continue
to uphold good corporate governance practices to enhance long-
term value and returns for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and protect the Shareholders’ interests.

This report outlines the Company’s corporate governance practices
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020” or the
“year under review”) with specific reference made to the principles
and provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “SG
CG Code”), which forms part of the continuing obligations of the
listing manual (the “SGX Listing Manual”) of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX” or “SGX-ST”). Throughout
FY2020, the Company has complied with the principles and
provisions of the SG CG Code unless otherwise specified herein.

Since the listing of the Company’s ordinary shares on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) on 8 May
2019, the Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “HK CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the SEHK (the “SEHK Listing Rules”) as part of its governance
framework, in addition to the principles and provisions under SG CG
Code. In the event of any conflicts between the SG CG Code and
the HK CG Code, the Company will comply with the more stringent
requirements. Throughout FY2020, the Company has complied with
the principles and code provisions of the HK CG Code.

(A) BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s conduct of its affairs

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of
the Company. Its key responsibilities include providing leadership
and supervision to the Management with a view to protecting the
Shareholders’ interests and enhancing long-term Shareholders’
value.

All Directors recognise that they have to discharge their duties
and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries who act objectively
in the best interest of the Company and hold the Management
accountable for performance, and the Board is accountable to the
Shareholders through effective governance of the business.
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The Board’s principal functions include the following:

(1)

(10)

(11)

(12)

providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the necessary financial and
human resources are in place for the Group to meet its
objectives;

reviewing and approving corporate strategies, financial
objectives and direction of the Group;

establishing a prudent and effective control system to
assess and manage risks, including safeguarding of the
Shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

establishing goals for the Management and monitoring the
achievement of these goals;

ensuring the Management’s leadership of high quality,
effectiveness and integrity;

reviewing the Management’s performance;

approving annual budgets and investment and divestment
proposals;

reviewing the internal controls, risk management, financial
performance and reporting compliance;

identifying the key stakeholder groups and recognising that
their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;

setting the Group’s value and standards (including ethical
standards), and ensuring that obligations to the Shareholders
and other stakeholders are understood and met;

considering the sustainability issues, such as environmental,
health, safety and social factors, as part of its strategic
formulation; and

assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

In respect of its corporate governance functions, the Board is
responsible for the following:

(@)

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management of the Company;
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(@) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(o) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the SG CG Code,
HK CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Board performed the above duties during the year under review.

The Board has adopted a policy where the Directors who are
interested in any matter being considered, should recuse themselves
from deliberations and abstain from voting in relation to any such
resolution(s) relating to such matter.

All Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgment, and
are obliged to act in good faith and consider at all times the interest
of the Company.

The Board meets regularly, at least on a quarterly basis (four times
a year). Ad-hoc meetings are held at such times, as and when
required, to address any specific significant matters that may arise.
In FY2020, the Board held four meetings in total. In respect of the
regular meetings of the Board, formal notices and agenda are sent
to all Directors at least 14 days before the respective meetings. For
all other Board and Board Committee (defined below) meetings,
a reasonable notice is generally given. In general, the detailed
meeting materials for each agenda (including meeting papers and
explanatory or background information) are sent to the Board or the
Board Committees at least three days before the meeting to ensure
that the Directors or the members of the Board Committees have
sufficient preparation time for the meetings. The minutes of the
Board and the Board Committees are recorded with sufficient details
regarding the matters considered and decisions reached. Draft
and final versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors or Board
Committee members for comments and records within reasonable
time after the meetings. The minutes of the Board and the Board
Committees are confirmed at the subsequent meetings. The original
signed minutes are properly kept at the registered office or principal
business address of the Company as required under the relevant
laws, rules and regulations, and the minutes are open for inspection
by the Directors and the Board Committee members, as the case
may be.
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During the Board meetings, the relevant Management personnel may
be invited to make presentation and answer the Directors’ queries
on the relevant agenda, and the Directors are free to discuss and
openly challenge the views presented by the Management and
other Directors. The Chairman of the Board ensures that each
agenda is allocated sufficient time for discussion and each Director
is given sufficient opportunity to express his/her opinions. Where
necessary, the Company also engages external consultants to
provide professional opinions on specific projects or corporate
exercises to facilitate the Board’s decision-making process. The
Board’s decision-making process is an objective one. The Directors
are given separate and independent access to the Management
to address any enquiries. When necessary, the Directors can
seek independent professional advice, concerning any aspect of
the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfill their roles
and responsibilities as Directors, at the Company’s expense. The
Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against the Directors arising from corporate activities.

The number of meetings and the Directors’ attendance at the
meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nominating Committee, the Strategy Committee,
the Management Committee and the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”), held during FY2020, are as follows:
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Audit Remuneration Nominating Strategy Management Annual General

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors/ L FifREE HHWEEE REZEE BRZEE EBZEE RRAFAE
Board Committee members Held | Attended | Held | Attended | Held | Attended | Held | Attended | Held | Attended | Held | Attended | Held | Attended
EZ/EZgZ8868 BERY| HEAY |SERH| HEAR |SEAH| LERR |SEAY| LRERY |SEAY| LEAY |SEAY| LREAY |EERY| LERY
Mr. Wang Tianyi TRERHE 4 3 NA NA. 1 0 1 1 1 1 NA. NA. 1 1
Mr. An Xuesong ZENEE 4 4 NA. NA. NA. NA. NA. NA. 1 1 48 47 1 1
Mr. Luo Juniing FlkENE 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA 1 1 48 47 1 1
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEERE 4 4 2 2 1 1 1 1 NA. NA. NA. NA. 1 1
Mr. Lim YuNeng Paul ~ #i0E 564 4 4 2 2 1 1 1 1 NA. NA. NA NA 1 1
Ms.ChengFongYee  HEE#+ 4 4 2 2 1 1 NA NA NA NA NA. NA. 1 1
Ms. Hao Gang Mzt 4 4 2 2 NA. NA. NA. NA. 1 1 NA. NA. 1 1
Note: W -

N.A. — Not a member of the Board Committee

In lieu of physical meetings, written resolutions are also circulated
for approval by members of the Board and the Board Committees.
The Company’s Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) also provide for meetings
to be held by way of telephone, electronic or other communication
facilities.

- UHZEFEZRENHE

%‘WD%%A\?A SEBRRERANED
EERFFREIEN T AMRBSEARNS
% c NARIER ( [ARRER] ) W%EET@

@A AER - BT EAREMEAT A AR



ANNUAL REPORT 2020
—E-EEERE

65

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Authority and Delegation

The Board approves a document, known as the Board Authority
Matrix, with guidelines setting forth the matters reserved for the
Board’s decision and clear directions to the Management on matters
that must be approved by the Board. The Board Authority Matrix is
reviewed by the Board at least once a year and revised accordingly
when necessary. The matters reserved for the Board’s decision
include but are not limited to changes in share capital, acquisitions
and disposals of assets with value exceeding certain threshold,
venturing into non-core business, setting up of joint venture with
value or shareholding exceeding certain threshold, corporate or
financial restructuring, obtaining borrowings exceeding certain
threshold, appointment of key management personnel, decision on
major legal actions, share issuance and dividends, financial results,
annual budget and corporate strategies. The Board will provide
directions to the management teams of the Group’s business
divisions through presentations at Board and Board Committee
meetings.

The Board sits at the top of the Company’s governance framework.
To execute its responsibilities, the Board delegates specific functions
to its various sub-committees (the “Board Committees”), namely,
the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Strategy Committee and the Management
Committee. The Board Committees function within written terms of
reference and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular
basis. The terms of reference of each of the Board Committees are
available on the SGXNet and the websites of the Company and
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”). Each of the
Board Committees reports its activities regularly to the Board. Please
refer to the other sections of this Corporate Governance Report for
further information on the activities of the Board Committees.

Directors’ Orientations and Trainings

The current members of the Board are familiar with the Group’s
business operations and corporate governance practices. In
particular, a majority of the Directors (including a majority of
Independent Non-Executive Directors) have more than eight years’
experience serving as an executive officer or a director of a company
in the environmental protection industry. The Nominating Committee
(the “NC”) ensures that new Board appointees are provided with
trainings and information to familiarise themselves with the Group’s
business, strategic goals and directions and corporate governance
practices.
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Upon the appointment of a new Director, the Company will provide
a formal letter to the Director, setting out his/her duties and
obligations. Such Directors are given appropriate briefings when
they are first appointed to the Board. Appropriate orientations are
conducted for all new Directors appointed to the Board to ensure
that they are familiar with the Company’s business, operations,
governance practice and regulatory requirements. The Joint
Company Secretaries or the external lawyers also provide trainings
to the new Directors on his/her duties and responsibilities as a
Director and the Company’s ongoing obligations as a company listed
on both SGX and SEHK. If the newly-appointed Director has no prior
experience as a director of an SGX-listed company, he/she is also
required to attend courses and training organised by institutions
such as the Singapore Institute of Directors and the SGX-ST.

The Company provides ongoing education on Board procedures,
corporate governance practices and industry developments to
all Directors. The Company also invites external experts (such as
auditors, lawyers, sustainability consultants, technical experts or
other professionals) to provide regular trainings to the Directors and
the Management on legal, financial, technical and business topics,
depending on the Company’s development needs. The Management
further provides regular updates on changes in the relevant laws,
regulations and commercial risks to enable the Directors to make
well-informed decisions and to ensure that the Directors are
competent in carrying out their respective roles and responsibilities.
The Company also arranged project site visits for the Directors. At
the same time, the Directors are encouraged to keep themselves
abreast of the latest developments relevant to the business of the
Group.

Below is a summary of the trainings which the Directors received
during FY2020:

ERIHERR  ARAIGRAZESHL 7
IERBBAEK - EPSIRAM/ b ETEERTRE
TBEBNEBE - MEEFEERNMAERS
B iR 155l - AR R RPAE RIS ERE =
REEBNE - LHERMPAATAARRE
% BE EARHRANEEENR - BERNT
MWE IR RAD th SR EE S TR - R
TREREERENZBMBE AR RRE
RN PAMER P LT AR EEITEVRE LR
%o ENERENERREENIM LM AF
BEEENESR  HERZMAEFINKERS
B A MR P S A RO SR R AF )

ARrFERE2RESRTAHESSIERF
EREATRMITEERNIG - AR RIEH
AIMBER (LanEaHam - 260 - AIRERR
B RWMERKEMERAL) HEEMNE
EREETEME - BIIREREERE M
B wflT ~ BEFAE - ARRURARN AR A
BRFFR - EEEE T HIREAERER AR
HERFERIA R B R RROES - FEFFE
NEFD ZEESNER HELRTE - BRE
EMENBETESENABHNRBE - ARFHD
SREEMLHBERBEMER - Al - ARF
%Eﬂ%%fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁéﬁ%ﬁ‘%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬁ
HER o

NTREZME_ZE_SHBFEEZNFI

4B 4L

wevin[a

Directors Types of Trainings N°t
5= T R
Non-Executive Director HHITEE

Mr. Wang Tianyi FRERE AB,C
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. An Xuesong LZENFE AB,C

Mr. Luo Junling ElksETE AB,C
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITESE

Mr. Zhai Haitao B2EEE AC

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul M E S A AC

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee BB EZ L A,C

Ms. Hao Gang MBI Zz+ A,C
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Note:

Types of Trainings:

Al Attending seminars/ conferences/ forums

B: Giving talks at seminars/ conferences

C: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy,

environmental protection business or directors’ duties and responsibilities,
etc

Company Secretaries

The Joint Company Secretaries are accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board policy and procedures are followed and Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. They also advise
the Board on governance matters and facilitate the induction
and professional development of the Directors. Ms. Peng Pei and
Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy have been appointed as the Company’s
Joint Company Secretaries. Ms. Peng Pei has been the Legal
Counsel and Company Secretary of the Company since 20 January
2017, and she is a full-time employee of the Company. She is mainly
responsible for the legal and company secretarial matters of the
Group. Although she reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
CEQ, all the Directors may call for her assistance and advice at any
time in respect of their duties, so as to ensure effective operation of
the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy, an executive director of corporate services
division of Tricor Services Limited, which is a global professional
services provider specialising in integrated business, corporate and
investor services, has been engaged by the Company as one of
its Joint Company Secretaries. Her primary contact person at the
Company is Ms. Peng Pei, the Legal Counsel and Joint Company
Secretary of the Company. During FY2020, Ms. Ho has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the SEHK Listing Rules.

At least one of the Joint Company Secretaries attends all Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings and ensures that they
are conducted in accordance with the Bye-laws and the relevant
rules and regulations. The appointment and removal of any Joint
Company Secretary are subject to approval of the Board. The
Joint Company Secretaries, under the direction of the Chairman
of the Board, ensure good information flows within the Board and
the Board Committees and between the Management and Non-
Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors).
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Board Composition and Balance

The Company has a Board with a balanced composition of
Executive and Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-
Executive Directors). The Board currently comprises seven Directors,
with four Directors being Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
Directors as at the date of this Annual Report are:

0] Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of
Board);

(ii) Mr. An Xuesong (Executive Director & CEO);

(iii) Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO);

(iv) Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Non-Executive Director);

( Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Non-Executive Director);

(Vi) Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Independent Non-Executive Director);
and

(Vi) Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Non-Executive Director).

< <

An updated list of the Directors with their respective roles and
functions is available on the SGXNet and the websites of the
Company and HKEX. Independent Non-Executive Directors are
identified in all corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

In addition, none of the members of the Board is related to one
another and there was no change in the composition of Board
during FY2020.

The Board has determined that it is of an appropriate size to
facilitate effective decision-making, and to meet the objective of
having a balance of skills and experiences, taking into account the
size and scope of the Company’s operations.

Independence of Directors

The independence of each Director is assessed and reviewed
annually by the NC based on the definition of independence as
provided in the SG CG Code, SGX Listing Manual and SEHK Listing
Rules. The Board and the NC consider an independent director
as one who is independent in conduct, character and judgement
and has no relationship with the Group, its related corporations, its
5% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably
perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent
business judgment in the best interest of the Company and the
Group.
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Each Independent Non-Executive Director is required to complete
a Director’s Independence Checklist annually to confirm his/ her
independence based on the guidelines as set out in the SGX Listing
Manual and SG CG Code. The Company has also received from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation
on his/her independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the SEHK
Listing Rules. For FY2020, the NC has determined that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent. In particular,
Mr. Zhai Haitao is also an independent non-executive director of the
Company’s controlling shareholder China Everbright Environment
Group Limited (formerly known as China Everbright International
Limited) (“Everbright Environment”), but he is not involved in the
daily management and operation of Everbright Environment. The
NC and the Board determined that Mr. Zhai Haitao is independent
in conduct, character and judgment and his role as independent
non-executive director of Everbright Environment will not affect his
judgment as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee were appointed as
Independent Directors of the Company in July 2007. Since then,
the Company experienced changes in controlling shareholders and
the management teams twice. The current controlling shareholder,
Everbright Environment, only gained control of the Company in
December 2014 and the current management team and executive
officers joined the Company following that change. Thus, although
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee served the Board
beyond nine years from the date of their appointment, both the
NC and the Board held the view that they remain independent in
conduct, character and judgement. In addition, Ms. Hao Gang,
who was appointed in March 2018, has no relationship with the
Group, its related corporations, its 5% shareholders or its officers
that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the
exercise of her independent business judgement in the best interest
of the Company and the Group. Therefore, the NC and the Board
considered Ms. Hao Gang to be independent. The Board and the NC
will undertake more rigorous review annually on the independence
of any Director who has served the Board beyond nine years,
and in doing so, the Board will also take into account the need for
progressive refreshing of the Board. In addition, when a director
who has served the Board beyond nine years seeks for continued
appointment as an independent director, his/her re-appointment
will also be subject to more stringent Shareholders’ resolutions
mechanism in acccordance with the requirements under the
SGX Listing Manual.

The Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate
affairs independently from the Management. No individual or group
of individuals is allowed to dominate the Board’s decision-making.
Currently, a majority of the Board members are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. The Board has complied with the requirements
of SG CG Code that the independent directors make up a majority
of the Board where the chairman of the Board is not independent.
The Company has also met the requirements of Rule 3.10 of the
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SEHK Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-Executive Directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or
related financial management expertise. The NC and the Board are
thus of the view that there is sufficiently strong independent element
on the Board to enable independent exercise of objective judgment
on corporate affairs of the Group, taking into account factors such
as the number of independent directors and the size and scope of
the affairs and operations of the Group.

Furthermore, the Audit Committee (the “AC”), the Remuneration
Committee (the “RC”) and the NC are chaired by Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The AC comprises only Independent
Non-Executive Directors and the majority of the NC and the RC
members are also Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
Company currently has no Lead Independent Director. Considering
the Company’s current business operations and Board size of
seven members with a majority being Independent Non-Executive
Directors, the Company is of the view that the appointment of
a Lead Independent Director for the year under review is not
necessary. Nevertheless, the Board will annually examine the need
for such appointment.

Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors) play an important role in the Board’s decision-making
process. They constructively challenge and assist to develop
proposals on strategy, review the performance of the Management
in achieving targets and objectives, and monitor the reporting of
performance. In particular, the Chairman of the Board ensures that
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors is given sufficient
time to express his/her opinions during the Board meetings. During
FY2020, the Chairman and the Independent Non-Executive Directors
met once without the presence of the other Executive Directors and
the Management.

Board Diversity

The Company recognises the importance of having a diverse Board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance.
Therefore, the Company has established the Board Diversity Policy
to ensure the diversity of the Board members and balance of skills.
A diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, industry knowledge and professional experience, cultural
and education background and other qualities of the Directors and
does not discriminate on the ground of race, age, gender or religious
belief. These differences will be taken into account in determining the
optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately.
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The NC has responsibility for identifying and nominating candidates
for appointment to the Board and recommending the same to
the Board for approval. It takes responsibility in assessing the
appropriate mix of experience, expertise, skills and diversity required
on the Board and assessing the extent to which the required skills
are represented on the Board and overseeing the Board succession.
The NC is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board
in relation to board diversity.

The current Board members comprise business leaders, industry
experts, professionals and academia experts, with industry,
accounting, financial, business, management and academic
backgrounds. A majority of the Directors (including a majority
of Independent Non-Executive Directors) have more than eight
years’ experience serving as an executive officer or a director of a
company in the environmental protection industry. This composition
and diversity of the Board enable the Management to benefit from
a diverse and objective external perspective, on issues raised
before the Board. Each Director has been appointed based on
the strength of his/her caliber, expertise, experience and his/her
potential contribution to the Group and its businesses. Profiles of the
Directors are set out in the section entitled “Board of Directors” on
pages 38 to 44 of this Annual Report.

The NC and the Board had reviewed the Board’s composition,
expertise and experience and satisfied that the current Board
composition is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any
measurable objectives. The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Chairman and CEO

The Board recognises the recommendation of SG CG Code and
HK CG Code that the Chairman and the CEO should be separate
persons to ensure that there is an appropriate balance of power and
authority within the Company.

The Non-Executive Chairman of the Company is Mr. Wang
Tianyi and the CEO is Mr. An Xuesong. The Chairman bears the
responsibility for the effective conduct of the Board whilst the CEO
bears the executive responsibility for the operations of the Group’s
business. The Chairman and the CEO are not related to each other.

The Chairman is responsible for exercising control over the quality
and timeliness of the flow of information between the Management
and the Board and ensuring compliance with the Group’s guidelines
on corporate governance. The Chairman ensures that Board
meetings are held regularly in accordance with the agreed schedule
and sets the agenda of the Board meetings.
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The Chairman also builds constructive relations within the Board and
between the Board and the Management, and facilitates the effective
participation of Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-
Executive Directors) by promoting a culture of openness and debate
of the Board. The Chairman further ensures effective communication
with the Shareholders and promotes high standards of corporate
governance.

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group and chairs the Management Committee. The CEO works with
the Board for strategic planning, business development and charting
the growth of the Group.

The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and
checks to ensure that the process of decision-making by the Board
is independent and based on collective decisions without any
individual exercising any considerable concentration of power or
influence.

Nominating Committee
The NC comprises:

(i) Mr. Zhai Haitao (NC Chairman & Independent Non-Executive
Director);

(ii) Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of
Board); and

(iii) Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Non-Executive Director).

Majority of the NC, including the NC Chairman, are Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The key terms of reference of the NC are as follows:

(1) reviewing annually the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

2) establishing procedures for, reviewing, assessing and making
recommendations to the Board on the review of board
succession plans for Directors, in particular, the Chairman,
the CEO, and the key management personnel (as defined in
the SG CG Code), the process and criteria for evaluation of
the performance of the Board, the Board Committees and
Directors, the review of training and professional development
programmes for the Board and the Directors, and the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors;

(3) assessing the independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors bearing in mind the circumstances set out in Rule
3.13 of the SEHK Listing Rules and Provision 2.1 of the SG
CG Code and other salient factors;
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(4) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been
adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director, taking
into consideration the Director's number of listed company
board representations and other principal commitments;

(5) developing a process for evaluation of the performance of the
Board as a whole, the Board Committees and the Directors
and assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and
its Board Committees and for assessing the contribution by
the chairman and each individual Director to the effectiveness
of the Board; and

©6) reviewing training and professional development programmes
for the Board.

During FY2020, the members of the NC reviewed the
(i independence status of each of the Directors (including the
Independent Non-Executive Directors); (i) performance of each
individual Director, Board Committee and the Board as a whole; and
(iii) re-election of the retiring Directors.

Board Membership

Where a vacancy arises under any circumstances, or where it
is considered that the Board would benefit from the services of a
new Director with particular skills, the NC, in consultation with the
Board, determines the selection criteria and selects candidates
with the appropriate expertise and experience for the position in
accordance with its nomination policy. Besides the qualification and
experience of each candidate, the NC takes into consideration the
candidate’s ability to increase the effectiveness and the diversity of
the Board and to add value to the Company’s business in line with
its strategic objectives. Before appointment of any new Director, the
NC conducts an interview with the candidate and holds a meeting
to discuss the candidacy (and the independence, where applicable)
of the candidate. If appropriate, the NC makes recommendation to
the Board on the proposed appointment. The Board will then review
and discuss the candidacy of the candidate, and if appropriate,
approve the appointment of the new Director. The Company makes
immediate announcement on any new appointment of Directors in
accordance with the SEHK Listing Rules and SGX Listing Manual.

In considering the re-appointment of a Director, the NC evaluates
such Director’s contribution and performance, such as his/her
attendance at meetings of the Board or the Board Committees
(where applicable), participation, candour and any special
contributions. Upon the NC’s recommendation, the Board will
review and if appropriate, approve the nomination of a Director for
re-election for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGMs.
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Each Non-Executive Director, including each Independent Non-
Executive Director, is appointed for a term of three years until 11
April 2022.

All Directors (including the Chairman of the Board and the CEO) are
subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws whereby:

(a) each Director shall retire at least once every three years and
shall be eligible for re-election (Bye-law 86(1)); and

(b) any Directors appointed by the Board shall retire at the next
AGM of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election
(Bye-law 85(6)).

Mr. Zhai Haitao, Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul, Ms. Cheng Fong Yee
and Ms. Hao Gang are subject to retirement pursuant to the
Bye-law 86(1) at the forthcoming AGM. In addition, the continued
appointment of Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee as
the independent directors of the Company will be subject to a two-
tier voting pursuant to Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) of the SGX Listing Manual,
which will come into effect on 1 January 2022 (i.e. to be voted by (i)
all Shareholders; and (i) all Shareholders, excluding the Directors or
the CEO, and their respective associates at the forthcoming AGM)
as they have served as the Company’s Directors for more than
nine years. Following a review of their expertise, experience, overall
contribution to the Company, the Board and/or Board Committee
meetings, the NC and the Board recommended that both of
them be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM and
accordingly, the above-named Directors will be offering themselves
for re-election. The relevant information on each of the above-
named Directors can be found in the section entitled “Board of
Directors” on pages 38 to 44 of this Annual Report and the Circular
to Shareholders dated 23 March 2021. No Director is subject to
retirement pursuant to the Bye-law 85(6) at the forthcoming AGM.

All Directors are required to declare their board representations.
When a Director has multiple board representations, the NC will
consider whether he/she is able to adequately carry out his/her
duties as a Director, taking into consideration such Director’s number
of listed company board representations, the efforts and time
required for his/her other board representations and his/her other
principal commitments.
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The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that all Directors, who sit
on multiple boards, have been able to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company to adequately discharge their
duties as Directors of the Company, notwithstanding their multiple
board appointments. The NC did not recommend setting of limit as
to the number of listed board representations that every Director can
hold, as the time and efforts required for each board representation
may vary, depending on the type of directorship (executive or non-
executive). The Board will determine the maximum number of listed
company board representations which any Director may hold as and
when required.

There is no Alternate Director on the Board.
The dates of initial appointment, last re-election/re-appointment and

other listed company board representations of each of the Directors
are set out below:
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Directorship/
Chairmanship both
present and those

Membership held over the preceding
Country of of Board three years in other
principal Date of Initial Date of last Committees listed companies
Director Position Residence  Appointment  Re-election EEZgZE8 BATFA = FEEES/
S B IEEGEE  ORBERH L—REERE HE EERNHEMLETAR
Mr. Zhai Haitao Independent Hong Kong 14 Aug 2015 25 Apr 2018 NC Chairman Present:
BEELE Non-Executive ~ SAR,China  =ZF—AFNA ZF—/\FWMA  AC Member China Everbright
Director B RS +mA —+aH RC Member Environment Group Limited
BUERTES REZEEEFE  (formerly known as China
#=:ZBE%E8  Everbright International
HMZESZE  Limited) (isted on SEHK)
B
REEARE (RE) AR
A (RAEIXREIR AR
AR (BT )
Over the preceding three
years: None
RIZSMER : &
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Independent Singapore 31 July 2007 25 Apr 2018 AC Chairman Present:
Paul Non-Executive — ¥TAN% ZEELEEA ZZ-A$MA NC Member Golden Energy and
MEaE S A Director =+—A —+aH RC Member Resources Limited (isted
BIHTES FHAZERIE  onSGX)
IREZEBEZE  Nippecraft Limited (isted
FMEZEGEE  onSGX)
B
Golden Energy and
Resources Limited
(FERT 2P £7)
Nippecraft Limited
(FERT 2P £7)
Over the preceding three
years: None
RIZFMER : &
Ms. Cheng Fong  Independent Singapore 31 July 2007 25 Apr 2018 RC Chairman None
Yee Non-Executive ~ #TA03% ZTTLELA ZF-\§IMA  AC Member i
HElgEat Director =+—H —t+%A YEEEERE
BUFHITES EIREREE
Ms. Hao Gang Independent Hong Kong 16 March 2018 25 Apr 2018 AC Member None
il Non-Executive ~ SAR,China  ZF—/\&=H ZF—/\%IMA  SCMember i
Director REIEE +75H —+%A FITZERZE
BUFHITES BREEREE
Notes: Yoz
AC:  Audit Committee FHES® HES e
RC:  Remuneration Committee FNETE® : FHWEE=
NC:  Nominating Committee IBELZE® . EBELEZ
SC:  Strategy Committee BEEE® . BEEEES®
MC:  Management Committee EHEZES: EEZES
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Board Performance

The Board and the NC have adopted a formal process for the
assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and of
each Board Committee separately, as well as the contribution by
the chairman and each individual Director to the effectiveness of the
Board.

Following the end of each financial year, each of the Directors is
requested to complete a Board Evaluation Questionnaire and a
Director Self-Appraisal Form. Each of the NC members is also
requested to complete a Board Committee Appraisal Form. The
performance criteria for the Board as a whole include, amongst
others, the Company’s financial performance for that financial year,
an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s
access to information, accountability, Board procedures and Board
performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities.
The assessment criteria for an individual Director include, amongst
others, meeting attendance, adequacy in meeting preparation,
generation of constructive ideas, leadership, keeping abreast of
industry developments, and contribution in specific areas. The
evaluation criteria for the Board Committees include, amongst
others, committee composition, the contribution in assisting the
Board for better decision-making, sufficiency of expertise of Board
members, Board Committee chairman’s performance in discharging
responsibility, quality of Board Committee’s communication with
the Board. To facilitate the candour in providing feedback by the
Directors in the appraisal process, all completed appraisal forms are
sent to the Joint Company Secretaries directly for summarisation,
and then the appraisal summaries (on a no-name basis) and findings
are circulated to the NC for analysis and discussion during the NC
meeting. The NC will then report its findings and recommendations
to the Board for discussion with a view to enhancing the
effectiveness of the Board. The Board discusses and determines
the areas for improvement and enhancement relating to the Board’s
effectiveness as well as the implementation.

Following the review, the NC assessed the Board’s performance as
a whole, the Board Committees’ performance and the contribution
by individual Directors in FY2020, and is of the view that the Board’s
performance as a whole, the Board Committees’ performance and
the contribution by individual Directors are satisfactory.

No external facilitator was used in FY2020.

SRERRE

EFENRT

EEeMER L EeRALANREFHEES
CRENSESTZEEMNENE  UEES
R BEESLEeTFNEBRESHESZSAN
HERERL o

Eﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi&*%%%%%&%*ﬁ
B ESSFHRASM—MHEFTEFRR -
k%iﬁaml%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ ME=E
Afié?*ﬂﬁ%%ﬂ c HEEFESBEBRRANE
ERFENRR : ARREZMBFETNY
BRE  BEFGOABMBK - EFSHER
MIER - B1EF EFERFUANEETSERE
THIBRETENRRE - FEEREEE
ARBRHFEBFELARRY : FRHFEE - ¥
SHREGNENME ERUEBRMEL - RE
h- BTRBREREE  ERTEENE
Bl- AR EEFEZEeRANRERER
TRREFEZBENABAK  HHEFS
EHEBRARNER  E=Z@RESTFR
RETEL EFSRESHEBRE /RAMNA
o BT IREEFRMEREETE R R
B8 - A RHERIBERZRINE R GHE
NEIMEETTELR - ﬁf&?;@%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%@%%
MrHE &R ERIERERES  fEEeR L
EITOM AR R o IREBE B GBRAGEAER G
BIEFNBERENEBRRAESSETRS - U
BREEGAME - EFERAIRNEECESS
BT ELCEM IR E R E RS

MY _— T TURFEESEERRN -
%Ai,\aﬁﬁ‘%iﬁﬂt%é$ﬁfiﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ
REZEGABR/EZTNER §$E;<,Efr§

MRBAMSEREFNERESC ARE

TIRFE NG ERSMNEARTS o



78

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
FEXARKEERAF

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i

(B)

< EARE

Remuneration Matters and Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee

The RC comprises:

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (RC Chairman & Independent Non-
Executive Director);

Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of
Board);

Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Non-Executive Director); and

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Non-Executive Director).

The key terms of reference of the RC are as follows:

(1)

During FY2020,

reviewing and submitting its recommendation to the Board
for endorsement by the entire Board, on the policy and
general framework of remuneration for the Board and key
management personnel (including senior management), and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy;

reviewing and recommending to the Board for endorsement
(or determining with delegated responsibility) the remuneration
packages and terms of employment for each Director and
the key management personnel (including but not limited to,
Directors’ and key management personnel’s fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses and benefits-in-kind);

reviewing and approving compensation arrangement relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

reviewing and recommending to the Board in consultation
with the Chairman of the Board for endorsement by the
entire Board, share option schemes, share award plans or
any long-term incentive schemes which may be set up from
time to time, in particular to review whether Directors and key
management personnel should be eligible for such schemes
and also evaluating the costs and benefits of such schemes
and doing all acts necessary in connection therewith.

the members of RC reviewed the 2019

remuneration payment and 2020 remuneration framework for the
individual Directors and the key management personnel (including
senior management) of the Company.
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Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The RC is responsible for ensuring appropriate formality,
transparency to the Shareholders and a formal and transparent
procedure is in place for developing an appropriate executive
remuneration policy and a competitive framework for determining
the remuneration packages of Directors and key management
personnel. The RC recommends for the Board’s endorsement,
a framework of remuneration, including but not limited to, fees,
salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind for the
Directors and key management personnel. No Director is involved in
any decision-making relating to his/her own compensation.

The Company will also engage a third-party remuneration consultant,
on a regular basis or as requested by the RC, to review and make
recommendations on the remuneration framework and level for the
Directors and key management personnel. The Company did not
engage a third-party remuneration consultant in FY2020.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Under the framework developed by the RC, the RC uses the
following factors to determine the Directors’ remuneration:

(1) qualifications and experience of the Directors required by the
Company;

2) for Independent Non-Executive Directors, the general level of
fees earned by such Director in his/her professional capacity
or billed by professionals in their industry;

(3) time spent in preparing for meetings and actual attendance;

4) indirect costs and expenses incurred by the Directors;

5) such remuneration as may be considered fair and reasonable,
having regard to the nature and size of the business of the
Company;

(6) level of remuneration which is directly linked to the extent
of involvement and participation in and contribution to the
business of the Company;

(7) the level of commitment and the ability to devote sufficient
time and attention to the business of the Company; and

(8) where special circumstances justify, the payment of additional
remuneration.
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Annual reviews are carried out by the RC to ensure that key
management personnel are appropriately rewarded, giving due
regard to the financial health and business needs of the Group
without being excessive and thereby maximise the Shareholders’
value. The Group’s remuneration framework, remuneration packages
and bonus distribution plans for the Directors and key management
personnel for each financial year are reviewed and discussed by the
RC, which comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors
and one Non-Executive Chairman, before submitting to the Board
for endorsement.

The Executive Directors have entered into service agreements
with the Company. Their compensation consists of basic salary,
fixed allowance and performance-linked bonus. The bonus of
the Executive Directors and the key management personnel are
dependent on the Group’s performance and such individual’s
performance and contribution to the Company in that year. In
particular, the Company sets up a bonus pool and an objective
bonus determination mechanism for the Executive Directors and
the key management personnel at the beginning of each financial
year, which is reviewed and approved by the RC as delegated
by the Board. To incentise the Executive Directors and the key
management personnel to successfully manage the Company,
the performance-linked bonus makes up a substantial portion
of their total remuneration in a financial year. The amount of the
performance-linked bonus for each Executive Director and key
management personnel is linked to the achievement of certain key
financial indicators of the Company in that financial year and his/her
annual appraisal result.

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide remmuneration
packages appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors
and the key management personnel.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors receive directors’ fees
according to their level of contributions and other factors such
as effort and time spent for serving on the Board and the Board
Committees, as well as the responsibilities and obligations of the
Directors. The Company recognises the need to pay competitive
fees to attract, motivate and retain the Directors without being
excessive to the extent that their independence might be
compromised.

Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval by the
Shareholders at the AGMs.
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Disclosure on Remuneration F g

The Board believes that it is not in the best interest of the EEEHE ERREFEKBITE  LEREF
Company to fully disclose precise remuneration given the highly — BIFIRIFKFEITENBIIFRIBN > TOHEE
competitive industry conditions for the environmental water sectors,  EEERFH B TRFTA AR RIM R AFIZ o NRE
particularly in China. The disclosure of the Directors’ and the senior FHIESEMERAETIEE G EEHHER AR
management’s remuneration in this report is appropriate. & o

A breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and the senior  Z=fEEE Y SHEEEBER S - THBE

management (who are not Directors) for FY2020 is set out below. EARNHSERMAENT -

(@  The level and mix of each Director’s remuneration are as follows: (a) TBRESHFHHOKEMAEDT -
Remuneration Band and Directors’ Benefits

Name of Director Fee Salary Bonus in kind Total
FHIEENESHE EEHE (%) TIE%) R®E2%) BYUERN(%) BE(%)

SGD500,000 to below SGD750,000
500,000%7,00% 7T 2 750,000%7 0% 7T L T

Mr. An Xuesong TENF A - 49 42 9 100
Mr. Luo Junling EBESE - 29 63 8 100
Below SGD250,000

250,000%7 1% T LT

Mr. Wang Tianyi FRERAE - - - - -
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEELE 91 - - 9 100
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MEDBE S A 93 - - 7 100
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee BBl Ec T 92 - - 8 100
Ms. Hao Gang B2z £+ 92 - - 8 100




CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
FEXARKEERAF

82

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CRERRE

(b)  The level and mix of each senior management’s (who is nota (b)) JIFEZZ SWEIEENFIKFMAE
Director) remuneration in bands are as follows: BT

Remuneration Band and Name of Benefits

Senior Management Salary Bonus in kind Total

FHEENSREEELS TE (%) 8fE(%) BEBUWEN(%) BE(%)

Below SGD500,000

500,000F7 00470 ™

Mr. Wang Yuexing FAR MRS 35 55 10 100

Mr. Wang Guanping FREFEE 37 52 11 100

Mr. Zhang Guofeng SRENEE A 37 52 11 100

Mr. Sun Linbo BEMOR ST E 32 59 9 100

Mr. Niu Kesheng 4B A 39 49 12 100

Ms. Peng Pei EZliReann 47 49 4 100

The aggregate amount of the total remuneration paid to the key
management personnel (including but not limited to the senior
management listed above) is HK$15,931,000 during FY2020.

There are no employees of the Group who are immediate family
members of a Director or the CEO and whose remuneration exceeds
SGD50,000 during FY2020.

The Company does not have any employee share scheme.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY, AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Group’s internal controls and management systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance to the
integrity and reliability of the financial information and to safeguard
and maintain the accountability of the assets. While no cost-
effective internal control system can provide absolute assurance
against loss or misstatement, the AC, with the participation of the
Board, has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls and risk management systems to ensure that
they are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded, operational controls are in place, business risks are
suitably managed, proper accounting records are maintained and
the integrity of financial information used for business and publication
is preserved. The AC reviews the risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year.
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The internal auditors conduct annual review of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s key internal controls including
management of financial, operational, compliance, information
technology and sustainability risks. The external auditors during
the conduct of their normal audit procedures may also report on
matters relating to internal control. Any material non-compliance
and recommendation for improvements are reported to the AC. The
AC also reviews and continues to monitor the effectiveness of the
actions taken by the Management on the recommendations made
by the internal and external auditors in this respect. Based on the
work performed by the internal and external auditors, the AC reviews
the findings from the internal and external auditors on the Group’s
internal controls and the Management’s responses to the auditors’
recommendations for improvement to the Group’s internal controls
and discussions with the auditors and Management. The Company
may, from time to time, appoint external advisers to facilitate the
Company to assess and identify the key risks and the related key
controls established by the Company.

In addition, the Company has implemented two major management
systems to address risks in different aspects of the Company,
namely the Risk Management System and the Environmental,
Safety, Health and Social Responsibility (‘ESHS”) Management
System (“ESHS Management System”). The Risk Management
System provides the procedures for risk identification and
assessment, risk register compilation, risk tactics development,
risk event management, risk event reporting, and the review and
audit of such system. The Company updates its risk register on a
quarterly basis. Any material findings on the risk management will be
escalated to the AC and the Board. The ESHS Management System
provides a series of standard operating procedures to address the
environmental, safety, health and social responsibility risks.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO that
the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained
and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Company’s operations and finances; and regarding the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems (including financial, operational, compliance and
information technology controls).

The risk management is under the purview of the AC, and no other
dedicated committee at the Board level is set up. Nonetheless, a
Risk Assessment Committee is set up by the Company to assist the
Management Committee in making decisions on new investment
projects. In relation to the investment project which is subject to
the Board’s approval, the Risk Assessment Committee’s findings
and recommendations will also be submitted to the Board for
consideration. More details about the Risk Assessment Committee
are set out in paragraphs below in this Corporate Governance
Report under sub-section “Internal Management”.
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The Company’s Legal and Risk Management Department is
responsible for summarising the risk management results of each
department and regional management centre and assessing
the potential material risks faced by the Group according to the
risk management programme of the Group, formulating and
implementing the risk management plans for the next year. The
Legal and Risk Management Department is also responsible for
maintaining and updating the Company’s register of risks. Ms. Peng
Pei, the Legal Counsel and Joint Company Secretary, currently
heads the Legal and Risk Management Department of the Company.

The Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied with the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in addressing financial, operational,
compliance and information technology controls and sustainability
risks as at 31 December 2020.

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements. The Finance Management Department of the Company
is supervised by the CFO. With the assistance of the Finance
Management Department, the Directors ensure that the Group’s
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with relevant regulations and applicable accounting principles.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditor of the
Company, about its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is included in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 120 to 128 of this Annual Report.

Audit Committee
The AC comprises:

0] Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (AC Chairman & Independent
Non-Executive Director);

(ii) Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Non-Executive Director);

(iii) Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Independent Non-Executive Director);
and

(iv) Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Non-Executive Director).
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The Board considers Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul, who is a Chartered
Financial Analyst and has extensive and practical financial
management knowledge and experience, well qualified to chair the
AC.

Majority of the AC members have accounting or finance
background. The members of the AC, collectively, have recent and
relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or
experience to discharge the AC’s responsibilities.

The AC does not comprise former partners or directors of the
Company'’s existing auditing firm or auditing corporation: (a) within a
period of two years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be
a partner of the auditing firm or director of the auditing corporation;
and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in
the auditing firm or auditing corporation.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its
terms of reference. It has full access to, and the co-operation of
the Management and full discretion to invite any Director or any key
executive to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate resources,
including access to external auditors, to enable it to discharge its
responsibilities properly.

The AC met twice in FY2020 and the relevant Directors and
Management were invited to attend the meetings.

The AC is guided by the terms of reference which stipulate its
principal functions.

The functions of the AC include:

(1) reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and
judgements and monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements of the Group and annual reports and accounts,
half-year reports and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports and any announcements relating to the Company’s
financial performance;

2) reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls,
comprising financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls and risk management systems (such
review can be carried out internally or with the assistance of
any competent third parties), which shall cover the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function;
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(10)

(11)

< EARE

reviewing and monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness,
scope and results of the Group’s internal audit function;

reviewing the scope and results of the external audit, and the
independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

making recommendations to the Board on the proposals
to the Shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditors, and approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

reviewing any interested person transactions as defined in the
SGX Listing Manual and connected transactions as defined in
the SEHK Listing Rules, and to review the procedures;

reviewing potential conflicts of interest, if any, including
reviewing and considering transactions in which there may be
potential conflicts of interests between the major shareholder,
controlling shareholder (as defined in the SEHK Listing Rules),
interested/ connected persons (as defined in the SEHK
Listing Rules) and recommending whether those who are
in a position of conflict should abstain from participating in
any discussions or deliberations of the Board or voting on
resolutions of the Board in relation to such transactions as
well as ensuring that proper measures to mitigate such
conflicts of interest have been put in place;

reviewing the rectification measures and internal control
measures relating to regulatory issues involving the Group’s
licences, permits or certificates etc;

reviewing the investments in customers, suppliers and
competitors made by the Directors, controlling shareholders
and their respective associates who are involved in
management of the Group or have shareholding interests
in similar or related business of the Group and making
assessments on whether there are any potential conflicts of
interests and ensuring that proper measures to mitigate such
conflicts of interests have been put in place;

reviewing the statements to be included in the annual reports
concerning the adequacy and efficiency of internal controls,
including financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls, and risk management systems;

monitoring the implementation of outstanding internal control
recommendations and/or observations highlighted by the
external auditors in the course of their audit of the statutory
financial statements;

(11)
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(12) establishing a whistle-blowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the Company (eg.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence,
with the AC about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Company, and reviewing whistle-blowing investigations
within the Company and ensuring appropriate follow-up
action, if required;

(13)  reviewing and overseeing the implementation of the measures
in respect of the legal representatives of the subsidiaries
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”);

(14)  undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be
requested by the Board, and reporting to the Board its
findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the
attention of the AC and matters in the HK CG Code; and

(15)  generally undertaking such other functions and duties as
may be required by statutes or the SGX Listing Manual, SG
CG Code, SEHK Listing Rules or HK CG Code, and by such
amendments made thereto from time to time.

During FY2020, the members of the AC reviewed (a) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”); and (b) the unaudited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2020.

The AC meets regularly with the Management and the external
auditors to review auditing and risk management matters and
discuss accounting implication of any major transactions including
significant financial reporting issues. It also reviews the internal audit
functions to ensure the adequacy and that an effective system of
control is maintained in the Group.

On a regular basis, the AC also reviews the interested person
transactions (as defined in the SGX Listing Manual), connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions (as defined in
the SEHK Listing Rules) and the financial results announcements
before their submission to the Board for approval.

The AC is well informed by the Management and the external
auditors of change to accounting standards, the SGX Listing
Manual, the SEHK Listing Rules and other regulations which could
have an impact on the Group’s business and financial statements.

The AC met with the internal auditors and external auditors
separately twice in FY2020 without the presence of the Management
to review any matter that might be raised.
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The AC and the external auditors have discussed the significant FE:tZ B & MINBEAMENBAEZE

issues in financial reporting throughout FY2020 at the AC meetings.

ST THREEHERENEAS

As set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 120 T 7wl ° MMM AFEHEL120A %
to 128 of this Annual Report, the following significant issues were ~ 512882 [ Za RIS | FT#l - AT E
discussed with the Management and the external auditors and were =~ AFHCEHMEZ B @ REIEE RIMEE

reviewed by the AC:

RDETT T e - WEKBBETZESE/Z

Significant issues

EXERE

How the issue was addressed by the AC

FEZEEEEHBELNBRTE

Service concession arrangements and revenue
recognition

ARISAS ST BE MR AR,

The key area reviewed by the AC on revenue recognition
was the service concession arrangements of water
environment management projects under IFRIC 12. The AC
received confirmation from the Management that consistent
accounting policy was applied throughout the year for
recognising revenue under IFRIC 12. The AC assessed
the competency, capability and objectivity of the Group’s
independent financial model consultant. The AC also
considered the approach, methodology and key assumptions
applied to the financial model for the determination of the
fair value of construction services. The AC is satisfied with
the appropriateness of the methodology applied and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions used.
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Significant issues How the issue was addressed by the AC

EXRERE EEEEEERSELNBRSE

Recoverability of trade receivables The AC and the Board receive regular updates from the
FE U BE 25 g | Uk [3) 14 Management on the ageing analysis of trade receivables,

the progress of trade receivables collection and repayment
schedule discussions with customers in the year. The
AC is satisfied with the attention and effort taken by the
Management on the receivables collection. Besides
taking into account the opinion and findings from the
Management and the external auditors, the AC also
considered and reviewed the methodology used in the
estimation of impairment loss of trade receivables and the
appropriateness, completeness and reasonableness of the
factors used in the estimation based on their knowledge
of the business of the Group, the industry, the current and
future economic environment, and the lingering impact and
potential fundamental changes on them brought about by
the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic.

ELEeLEFTe T KR EEEA MRS EE YRR
B - RN ERERFETHRENERBRER - Tt
ZEgHEREHMEKFIARK T ENBIIEE KA L8
BARTHME - RER T BEE RINBETAIE B R RER
Hh BAEESOBRBEUAEERITEERNTHE - 8
Al MR R A 3R IR RO H B DA K A BY R R R B Sl eV R 1B
( [FBEE] ) HLAZESTROFETE LEEMNBR
M SRR IE SR EE BT A MEHEMME ER
EEMEAMYE  2EMREEMET T -

The AC is satisfied that provision for impairment loss of
trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 was adequate.
BHZEEHN S _TF+ A=+ —HHREREITR
BEEEBHEHRERTME °
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Significant issues

EXER

How the issue was addressed by the AC

FIEEEEERBELNBRTE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

R ER

The AC considered the approach and methodology
applied by the Management on both the assessment for
impairment indicators and the impairment assessment of
goodwill. In addition to considering opinion and findings
from the Management and the external auditors, the AC
also reviewed the approach used in the valuation and
the reasonableness of key assumptions used in the cash
flows forecast, including future revenue growth rate,
operating margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate
based on their knowledge of the business of the Group
and the industry, and the lingering impact and potential
fundamental changes on them brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Bt EBezE T EEEBAEN GRETRMEERENHP
FERMAXMEZE - BREE T EREMINTEFEIAE R
BN - FEFERE E@$ETJ%§¥T$’EEI&$”_¥¥@WE’]T%¢
AR EFT RGBSR FEYE B ENRAN M E S
FHEE RN EAMR S RE BB E R E’]E;ﬂﬁ““ (BIEXR
RMARRE - BEARE - REERRRIAREK) MaE
1HEITER o

The AC is satisfied with the appropriateness of the
methodology applied and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used.

BHEARYFRAEL 2 BRERFHE EEBR
f%*ﬂ’:rigﬂ—\/ﬁ«%\ °

Following the review and discussions, the AC recommended to the  &KEMNiTwE Bt EeEZ2aEsEToibe
Board to approve the full-year financial statements for FY2020. —ETHHFE E’Jiiﬂﬁ“#&i’%

External Auditors

S EBE T ER

The AC has reviewed the non-audit services provided to the Group — FTATZ B 23 7 INBFETATEMSt & Young
by the external auditor, Ernst & Young LLP during FY2020, and is  LLPE-Z T HREEANEANEBIRHEAIE
of the opinion that the provision of such services does not affect — Z&tARTE - ]L:ZJF%?ET L3 L AR 750 S 52 B HINED
the independence and objectivity of the external auditor. The AC  F|EtEIEE L M ZE L - %qu?,\ = A 1t )
is pleased to recommend its re-appointment to the Board for the  EE@HEINDIBEAINERE - WS EERER
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM. Accordingly, the  EREFAE A Z%?%Hﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁt}& o Eit - AR
Company has complied with Rule 13.88 of the SEHK Listing Rules. AE TR AT LT AR RIS 13,8816 ©
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The aggregate amount of fees paid or payable to the external auditor
and its affiliates for FY2020 in respect of the audit and non-audit
services is as follows:

SRERRE

- THRFEENSEN I NPERTR &
HE BB EIRSEBMNIEET R ERN
MeEET

FY2020 FY2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
MBFEE MIFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET

Type of services BR7S %8 R
Audit services FFT RS 3,000 3,080
Non-audit services* FEEET AR % 2,663 1,813
5,663 4,893

Non-audit services include tax advisory and other related services.

Further details on fees paid or payable to the external auditor and its
affiliates are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The AC is satisfied that the Company has complied with Rules
712, 715 and 716 of the SGX Listing Manual in relation to the
appointment of its external auditor for FY2020 and in making the
above-mentioned appointment recommendation.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing policy to provide
an avenue to all Directors and employees to report any concern
or complaint regarding financial reporting and questionable
accounting practices; criminal offences, unlawful and/or unethical
acts, fraud, corruption, bribery and blackmail; failure to comply
with legal or regulatory obligations and concealment of any of the
abovementioned issues.

An e-mail address and a special telephone number are set up to
allow whistle-blowers to contact the AC Chairman directly. Whistle-
blowers are also able to contact the CEO directly through the CEO
e-mail address which is provided on the Company’s website. All
concerns or irregularities raised will be treated with confidence and
every effort will be made to ensure that confidentiality is maintained
throughout the process.

Y HEARFBREBEARAMIERERE -

BN S SR B (g MR AT Bl K ELBS B AR
ERNEZHBENMEHRRMES -

EALEBEHR  ARRE_ S _THRFEE
PR Fal R TR B ST TP E T F
MET1215 « EB7T151EM716156 R INBEE
STRRAARTE o

FHBE

AARGIETRREK  BIBEEERETR
ey - BROMEME NP ES A B
REMAIFEETA -~ FIEILHE - IEEF/EHT
BETE  BEF B25 - RN RSg kLB

SPAEEBIA RS AR RN EETS o

RRARLTERBRNETFTHBENZERE

ué é—E*&}\TJ//\E}K% %\% n‘t—;/\ = EE}_‘_ ’E“—E
MAtLREEBBEINETEHN (EERARNE
Uh ) BEEBEM - FIIRENFERES
HYERTRABEERREREEEL - AAF
R UENEREESRREELRRER o



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
FEXARKEERAF

92

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CRERRE

Internal Audit

The Company has an Internal Audit Department (“IA”) to strengthen
the internal audit function and promote sound risk management,
including financial, operational, compliance, information technology
controls, sustainability and good corporate governance. The AC
approves the recruitment, removal and evaluation of the internal
auditors.

The IA reports primarily to the AC and has full access to the
documents, records, properties and personnel of the Company and
of the Group, and has appropriate standing within the Company. The
IA reports to the AC at least twice in a year regarding the progress
and major findings of the internal audit process. The AC reviews at
least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit
function of the Company and ensures that the Company’s internal
audit team is formed by the sufficient number of personnel with
relevant qualifications and experience.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for maintaining a system
of internal control to safeguard the Shareholders’ investments
and the Group’s businesses and assets, while the Management is
responsible for establishing and implementing the internal control
procedures in a timely and appropriate manner.

IAs main scope of work covers the review and evaluation of
processes and areas of concerns identified. IA assists the
Management in enhancing existing risk management initiatives
and carrying out regular independent monitoring of key controls
and procedures. The findings and recommendations in relation to
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and process
improvements will be presented to the AC and the Management.

Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted
during reviews are reported together with recommended corrective
actions to the AC on a regular basis. In particular, the Company had
certain outstanding licenses and/or permits in relation to its business
and operations as at November 2014 (“Licenses and/or Permits”)
as disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 12 November 2014,
Most of such Licenses and/or Permits had been obtained in the
financial years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, as
disclosed in the relevant annual reports. The IA continuously followed
up on the status of such Licenses and/or Permits and noted that
the Company obtained the following Licenses and/or Permits during
FY2020:
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Project Company (Plant/Project)
HEAR (IM/EER)

SRERRE

Licenses and/or Permits obtained

EV {5 B R 7] 7 A/ L

Everbright Water (Ji'nan) Limited
KRR (FEE) BRAR

(Ji'nan Xike Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 4))
(Bramz KkEREE (HK) )

Land Use Right Certificate
4 R R

Everbright Water (Suzhou) Limited (formerly known as
Suzhou Jin Di Water Co., Ltd.)
KKK (FIMN) BRATF (REFMNEEKBERAR)

(Suzhou Wuzhong Chengnan Waste Water Treatment Project
Phase | Stage II)
(FRMN R F5KEIREE — =) )

Land Use Right Certificate
+ HbfsE AR

The results of the internal audit findings are also shared with the
external auditor to assist it in its audit planning and also for it to
perform further checks on the weak areas identified.

(D) INTERNAL MANAGEMENT
Management Functions

As mentioned above, the Board approves a document, known as
the Board Authority Matrix, with guidelines setting forth the matters
reserved for the Board’s decision and clear directions to the
Management on matters that must be approved by the Board. The
matters delegated by the Board to the Management are generally
considered and decided by the Management Committee of the
Company (the “MC”).

The MC comprises:
(i) Mr. An Xuesong (MC Chairman, Executive Director & CEQ);

ii) Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO);
i Mr. Wang Yuexing (Vice President);
iv) Mr. Wang Guanping (Vice President);
Y% Mr. Zhang Guofeng (Vice President);
(Vi) Mr. Sun Linbo (Vice President);
i Mr. Niu Kesheng (CEO Assistant);
i) Mr. An Pinglin (Technical Director); and
(ix) Mr. Wu Zhiguo (CEO Assistant).

The MC is responsible for the management of daily business
operations, formulating and implementing annual work tasks
and medium-term development plans for the Group. The MC
is the decision-making authority for the day-to-day operations,
management and personnel matters.
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The MC holds meetings on a regular and ad hoc basis. It holds
meetings at least once a month and has a weekly communication
mechanism. The MC reviews and discusses, the Group’s investment
proposals on new projects, appointment and removal of key
executives at headquarter departments, regional management centres
and project companies, performance appraisals, status of financial
budget execution and the major works done and progress of the
headquarter departments and regional management centres, etc.

To assist the MC in decision-making process, the Company
also established a Risk Assessment Committee (“RAC”) and an
Engineering and Technology Committee (“ETC”) to assess the
risks and make recommendations in undertaking new investment
projects and construction works. Any new investment project, before
submitted to the MC for consideration, will be reviewed by the RAC
and the ETC respectively. The MC will then take into account the
findings and recommendations made by the RAC and the ETC. In
relation to investment project with investment amount exceeding
certain threshold, Board’s approval will be sought before the
definitive agreement is executed.

In relation to each meeting held by the MC, minutes duly signed by
its chairman (being the CEO) will be retained by the Company as
records.

(E) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT
Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

The Company treats all Shareholders fairly and equitably, and
recognises, protects and facilitates the exercise of the Shareholders’
rights. Shareholders are informed of changes in the Company’s
business that are likely to affect their assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The Management supports the SG CG Code’s principle to
encourage shareholder participation. Shareholders are encouraged
to attend the Shareholders’ meetings to ensure a high level of
accountability and to stay informed of the Company’s strategy
and goals. The Shareholders are informed of general meetings
through notices contained in annual reports or circulars sent to all
Shareholders. In FY2020, the notices of AGM (including notice of
postponed AGM) were despatched to the Shareholders, published
in the Business Times as well as uploaded onto the SGXNet and the
websites of HKEX and the Company. The Company also uploaded
the Management’s presentation slides to be used at the general
meetings in advance and the minutes of the AGM. The Board
welcomes questions from Shareholders who have an opportunity
to raise issues either informally or formally before or at the general
meetings. To facilitate the Shareholders’ communication with the
Directors and the Management, a question and answer session is
held at all the general meetings before voting is carried out.
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Resolutions at general meetings are on each substantially separate
issue. All the resolutions at the general meetings are single item
resolutions.

The Company encourages all the Directors to attend its general
meetings to address Shareholders’ questions relating to the
Company’s development and the work of the Board Committees.
For the AGM held in FY2020, all the seven Directors (including the
Chairman of the Board, two Executive Directors and the chairman
of all the Board Committees) attended such meeting. In view of the
COVID-19 situation, all the Shareholders were allowed to participate
the AGM held in FY2020 via electronic means, i.e. live audio-
visual webcast or live audio-only webcast or live audio-only stream,
submission of questions to the chairman of the AGM in advance
of the AGM, submission of questions during the AGM via an online
chat box, addressing of substantial and relevant questions at the
AGM and voting by appointing the chairman of the AGM as proxy
at the AGM and/or voting electronically during the AGM, pursuant
to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements
for Meetings for Companies, Variables Capital Companies, Business
Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020.

The Company’s external auditor and the Legal Counsel and Joint
Company Secretary are also invited to attend the general meetings
and are available to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant
queries by the Shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

The Company conducts poll voting for all resolutions to be passed
in its general meetings. The rules, including voting procedures,
will be explained by the scrutineers in the general meetings. If any
Shareholder is unable to attend general meetings, Bye-laws allow
each Shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at
all general meetings on his/her behalf. Meeting minutes are prepared
for all the general meetings (including the details of the question
and answer sessions therein) and are uploaded on the Company’s
website and properly maintained as the Company’s records.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a Special General
Meeting and to Put Forward Proposals

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene a special
general meeting are prepared in accordance with Bye-law 57 of the
Bye-laws.

(1) One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Joint Company Secretaries, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.
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2) The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those Shareholders.

(3) The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Joint Company Secretaries.

4) The special general meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of the requisition.

5) If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, themselves
may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3)
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Bermuda
Companies Act”).

The written requisition to convene a special general meeting shall be
submitted to the Board or the Joint Company Secretaries at 9 Battery
Road, MYP Centre, #20-02, Singapore 049910 or Room 3601, 36/F,,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Dividend Policy

The Group has adopted a policy on payment of dividend (the
“Dividend Policy”) since FY2019 in compliance with the HK
CG Code and SG CG Code, which establishes an appropriate
procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of
the Company.

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to the Shareholders after the Board considering the
factors, such as: the funding needs to the operation and business
development of the Company from time to time; the market situation
from time to time; the solvency requirements of the Bermuda
Companies Act; cash flow and financial condition of the Company;
the requirements of the Bye-laws and the relevant laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the Company; and so on. When assessing
the Company’s performance for each financial year or interim
financial period, the Board shall seek to maintain a steady dividend
depending on the capital expenditure and cash flow for each
financial year or interim financial period, while smoothing the effect
of any variation in the cash flow that may be due to one-off gains or
losses in the same period. The Board shall have the full discretion on
whether to pay a dividend, subject to the Shareholders’ approval, if
applicable.
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The Board shall review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.

In accordance with the Dividend Policy, the Company declared
and paid an interim one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 3.74 Hong
Kong cents (equivalent to 0.67 Singapore cent) per ordinary share
for the six months ended 30 June 2020. In addition, the Board
recommended a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 6.07 Hong
Kong cents (equivalent to 1.04 Singapore cents) per ordinary share
for FY2020, which will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming AGM.

Engagement with Shareholders

The Company recognises the importance of good communications
with its Shareholders and the investment community and also
recognises the value of providing current and relevant information to
the Shareholders and the investors. The Company has established
a Shareholders Communication Policy which is available on the
SGXNet and the websites of HKEX and the Company.

To facilitate the Shareholders’ ownership rights, the Company
ensures that all material information is disclosed on a
comprehensive, accurate and timely basis on the SGXNet and
the websites of HKEX and the Company, especially information
pertaining to the Group’s business development and financial
performance which could have a material impact on the share price
of the Company, so as to enable the Shareholders to make informed
decisions in respect of their investment in the Company. To ensure
a timely and equal disclosure to all its Shareholders, the Company
also uploads all its press releases and other disclosure documents
which includes material information on the SGXNet and the websites
of HKEX and the Company.

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company, and
pursuant to the SGX Listing Manual, SEHK Listing Rules and the
Bermuda Companies Act, the Board ensures that the Shareholders
are fully informed of all major developments that impact the Group
on a timely and equally basis.

Information is disseminated to the Shareholders on a timely basis through:

(i) SGXNet announcements;

(ii) HKEX announcements;

(iii) press releases;

(iv) results briefings and analyst briefing presentations;
(v) annual reports;

(Vi) interim reports; and

(vij  the Company’s website at www.ebwater.com, at which the
Shareholders can access information on the Group.
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The Company does not practise selective disclosure of material
information. All the material information is available on the SGXNet
and the websites of HKEX and the Company.

The Management acknowledges that effective communication with
investors is of paramount importance to the Group. In order to
reinforce mutual understanding between the Shareholders and the
Company, the Company established and maintained a number of
ways to strengthen its communication with investors.

Measures that the Company has taken are as follows:

(a) organising analyst briefings to explain its latest published
financial information as well as to provide its business update
when necessary;

(b) attending meetings or telephone conferences requested
by investors, Shareholders or analysts on an ongoing basis
throughout the year to assist them in understanding the latest
updates relating to the Company;

(c) organising road shows for the investors or potential investors.
This may be done solely by Company or coordinated with
investment banks;

(d) organising site visits by investors or potential investors to the
Group’s projects; and

(e) ensuring important information of the Group will be
announced in a timely manner without delay.

The Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns

to the Board in writing through the investor relations department via

ir@ebwater.com.

(F) STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee (the “SC”) comprises:

() Mr. Wang Tianyi (SC Chairman, Non-Executive Director &
Chairman of Board);

(ii) Mr. An Xuesong (Executive Director & CEO);

(iii) Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO); and

(iv) Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Non-Executive Director).
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The SC is primarily responsible for assisting the Board in providing
strategic direction to the Company and overseeing the strategic
planning of the Company and the implementation of such strategies;
reviewing the medium-term and long-term strategic objectives
proposed by the Management and overseeing the Management’s
performance in relation to such strategies; considering sustainability
issues in formulating strategies and overseeing the monitoring and
management of the environmental, social and governance factors
that are material to the business of the Company.

The SC was established in May 2018, with the main objective
to assist the Board in oversight responsibilities relating to the
planning and implementation of the Company’s development
strategies. It currently comprises Non-Executive, Executive, and
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The SC will hold meetings
as and when necessary. During its meetings, the SC may invite the
key management personnel to join and discuss on the Company’s
strategies and development directions. The SC will then report its
recommendations on the Company’s development strategies to the
Board for discussion and approval.

Engagement with Stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is an indispensable part of the Group’s
sustainable development strategy. The Board adopts an inclusive
approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests
of materials stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to
ensure that the best interests of the Company are served. The
Group maintained constant interaction and close communication
with stakeholders through various communication channels, to
gain insights into how its business affects different stakeholders.
Through collecting valuable suggestions and expectations from the
stakeholders in relation to the Group’s sustainable development,
the Group pinpoints areas for improvement on business policies
and project operations, and identifies issues that have significant
impacts on its sustainable development, hence allowing the Group
to formulate long-term development strategies.

Further information on engagement with stakeholders is set out in
section “Sustainability Report” on pages 49 to 59 of this Annual
Report.

(G) DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted an internal code (the “Internal Code”)
governing dealings in securities by Directors, officers and relevant
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price sensitive information of the Group. Following its
listing on the SEHK, the Company has updated the Internal Code
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to be in line with the requirements of the SEHK Listing Rules and
HK CG Code on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the SEHK Listing Rules, in
addition to the requirements of the SGX Listing Manual and SG CG
Code. This revised Internal Code has been disseminated to all the
Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group.

The Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group have
been informed not to deal in the Company’s securities at all times
whilst in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information and
during the periods commencing:

(a) 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of the
announcement of the Company’s interim results (and quarterly
results, if any) or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant half-year (and the relevant quarter, if applicable) up to
the publication date of the results; and

(b) 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the
announcement of the Company’s full-year results or, if shorter,
end of financial year and up to the publication date of the results.

The Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group are also
expected to observe relevant insider trading laws at all times, even
when dealing in securities within permitted trading period or while
they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company and they are not to deal in the Company’s securities
on short-term considerations.

Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code and the Internal Code throughout FY2020.

(H MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no material
contracts of the Group involving the interests of any Director or
controlling shareholder subsisting at the end of FY2020, or entered
into since the end of the previous financial year.

)] CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted a set of new bye-laws with effect from
8 May 2019 pursuant to the special resolution passed at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 16 November 2018.
During the year under review, there was no change in the Bye-laws.
An up-to-date version of the Bye-laws is also available on the
SGXNet and the websites of HKEX and the Company.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleasant to submit
this Annual Report to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) together with the audited financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020” or the “year
under review”).

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements are drawn up so as to present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year under
review, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of FY2020 (if any), an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Chief Executive
Officer’s Report” on pages 4 to 29 of this Annual Report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set
out in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the “Chief Executive Officer’s Report” on pages 19 to 24 of this
Annual Report. A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationship with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
is provided in the section headed “Environmental and Social
Management” in the “Chief Executive Officer’s Report” on pages
24 to 26 of this Annual Report.

EEEEH

¢ﬁ%ﬁ*%ﬁ@@ﬁ(f%k*ﬁjif¢
NGl EWEWE %F$$IJ)%
=([E%)) s (F§$QJ>W%W$

B ([BE] ) REAFEEEURIE _2
“EFE+ A=t HIENMEREE ( [Z8=
ggﬁﬁﬁjifﬁﬁﬁﬁj)Zﬁ%%%%
HE o

EFEERR:

(a) REZVBHRROBEER I GREE
BIRFTEE R A ERA L R AE B KA
RENZEZEF+_A=+—H2H
AR MR AEREEZALEFEY
PHRIR  EREFPHNRBReRE X

(b) RABRAREZA FLBREHEMBEEAR
NCIPSE ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ%h HEITEE o

ETBRER

ARRIZEBEBRRETR - ST BHER
Al EBEB R EMFFITHN M B RRMEE o
$¢l£z%ﬁ2ﬁ%ﬂ@@¢f@lﬁéﬁ

e e

AEBERK 2 FERE B2 T —
THREERARBEETHAEBRBEXNTE
Z2EZEMH (nF) FE5 - NRVBERER
BIEEHAEBFRARRBIELEZOMARS
BAEERKREBRBER ZFIMBNAFEERE
FL4EEFE2E Y [BEERME] & [HBHR
H]  c AEEFEYZ TERABR LK TEEIEZ
WS N A EEREFI0EEF 248 [#H
®E| 2 [FTERBLTEEE] —f-F
BAEERERR  BXEBHMEZBEANL
HAEBEERATEZRBEENERZET
BRZAHENAFEREF24EEE26H
[aFskes] 2 REEYESER] —5 -



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
FEXARKEERAF

102

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EEgEH

Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers of
the Group respectively during FY2020 is as follows:

FREFRHER

AEER —Z-_TPRFEAZETERTF Mt
FERZERIT

Percentage of the Group’s total

HEEETIREzADLL
Revenue Purchases
WA PREEEE
The largest customer BARF 20%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFPER 50%
The largest supplier AL FER 5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEEET 17%

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

Results

The financial results of the Group for FY2020 and the Company’s
financial position at the end of FY2020 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 129 to 286 of this Annual Report.

Interim Dividend

An interim dividend of 3.74 Hong Kong cents (“HK cents”)
(equivalent to 0.67 Singapore cent (“Sing cent”)) per ordinary
share was paid to the Shareholders on 11 September 2020 (for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”): HKB.74 cents
(equivalent to 0.65 Sing cent) per ordinary share).

Final Dividend

Subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM”), the Board recommended a final dividend
of HK6.07 cents (equivalent to 1.04 Sing cents) per ordinary share
for FY2020 (FY2019: HK3.74 cents (equivalent to 0.67 Sing cent)
per ordinary share).
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Share Capital

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year under review. Details of the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.
Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately HK$7,823,775,000
(31 December 2019: HK$7,826,197,000).

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during FY2020 amounted
to HK$2,192,000 (FY2019: HK$968,000).

Directors

The Directors during FY2020 and up to the date of this Annual
Report are:

Non-Executive Director
Wang Tianyi (Chairman)

Executive Directors
An Xuesong (Chief Executive Officer)
Luo Junling (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Zhai Haitao

Lim Yu Neng Paul
Cheng Fong Yee
Hao Gang

In accordance with Bye-law 86(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”), Mr. Zhai Haitao, Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul, Ms. Cheng Fong
Yee and Ms. Hao Gang will retire from the Board at the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In addition, the continued appointment of Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee as independent directors of the Company will be
subject to a two-tier voting (i.e. to be voted by (i) all Shareholders; and
(i) all Shareholders, excluding the Directors or the CEO, and their
respective associates at the forthcoming AGM) as they have served
as the Company’s Directors for more than nine years, pursuant to
Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) of the listing manual (the “SGX Listing Manual”) of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX” or “SGX-ST”),
which will come into effect on 1 January 2022.
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Directors (cont’d)

The Independent Non-Executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to re-election. The current four Independent
Non-Executive Directors hold office for a term until 11 April 2022.
They are all subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Bye-laws as indicated above.

Changes in Information of Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules (the “SEHK Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”), the change
in information of the Directors since the Company’s last published
2020 Interim Report is as follows:

Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman) was appointed
as the chairman of the board of directors of China Everbright
Environment Group Limited (formerly known as China Everbright
International Limited) (“Everbright Environment”) with effect from
25 September 2020.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of other
information which is required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1)
of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

Directors’ Interests

Under Singapore Law

According to the Company’s register of Directors’ shareholdings,
none of the Directors holding office at the end of FY2020 had any
interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related
corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in
the name of Director

EEEEH

EEkEs
IRIBHINIROE R

RIBANREERES LM EA_?_%‘\
MBEER - SEAERESNA R R E
RAEZ B BT A ’IELX‘F%
RO :

Holdings in which
Director is deemed
to have an interest

NEEERZ R 2RE ESYRARERERZRE

As at As at As at As at
Name of Director and Corporation in 1/1/2020 31/12/2020 1/1/2020 31/12/2020
which interests are held R=-=E= R-ZB-FF R-ZB-FF R-ZB-ZFF
BERZCESHERLATARE —HA—H +=A=+—H —A—H +=ZA=+—H
The Company RAT
Ordinary shares TZEE
Lim Yu Neng Paul M sE - - 1,608,909 1,608,909
Cheng Fong Yee R & 622,266 622,266 - -
China Everbright HEE R B EIRR
Greentech Limited (note) HIRAT (Hs)
Ordinary shares LZEE
Luo Junling mkeE 247 514 - - -
Note:  China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech’) is a ftat: HEEAXAFEIRRER NG ( [HABREE

subsidiary of Everbright Environment, the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Except as disclosed in this statement, none of the Directors who
held office at the end of FY2020 had interests in share options,
warrants or debentures of the Company or of related corporations,
either at the beginning or at the end of FY2020.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the
Company and its related corporation between the end of FY2020
and 21 January 2021.

R ) BARAERREHAAREZ I8 R
A °
BRABARTREIN R _THBRFEH

PISER Ft;T;iéEMﬁZEVEHEEH%E’J%

SMERARNR B R A E 2 I - REER
HEFT AR
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EEgEH

Directors’ Interests (cont’d)

Under Hong Kong Law

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the SEHK Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company

Exgs (8
REBEFEERE

ESRESTRARREZRMG - HEAROK
CEi 129589

R-ZZF-_ZFFE+_A=+—H" i%&zﬁ
AZERFBITBRABREEZZEMEALR
AR ) N/ E AT (] AR e VA (E%Eﬁ (FB
EPIERBET—8) (FBHEEABKH)
([ (RE®EB) | ) 5 XVEL) EARERN
AR alZ (BHEP) H352RMRERFET L
BrfANESSORR - SHREY ?&Fﬁim%ﬂ
RIFERAOFTHL (L BT AEFRAEHR
WigETAD (T CRESFAD | ) /,\%HE.
ARRRI R R PR SORBINT

RARBIRD 2R

Approximate
percentage of

total issued
Number of shares shares (Note)
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest  (ordinary shares) HNIEERITRGEE
EEpE 54 Rt ROEE (HBER) HEILE M)
Lim Yu Neng Paul Custodian (other Personal 1,608,909 0.06%
MAEDEE than an exempt A
custodian interest)
REAN (BHR2RE
N5 ﬁfﬁ\\)
Cheng Fong Yee Beneficial Owner Personal 622,266 0.02%
R = EmEEA fEA

Note:

Based on 2,860,876,723 issued ordinary shares of the Company as at

Biat : RER-_ZF-_FF+_-_A=+—HAR

A2 %

31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company, or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the
Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

772,860,876, 723 E B E -

R EFraiESN  R-_T_FFE+ - A=1+—
B ARASEENZESITRABREESE
, 5%%At$ﬁﬁ£ﬁ&$’&ﬁ?Eﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
(R GEZIRG) EXVEE) 27 - 1HE
iy EHPRAARE (FHFGED) $£352
1%%%;11%?213;.6%@?2%@52 (A SRR
<<TT TR BAHMEAR § 52 Ff 2 R e Bk
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year under review was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2020, the
following persons (other than any Directors or chief executive of the
Company) were Substantial Shareholders (as defined in the SEHK
Listing Rules) and had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company or the SEHK:

Long position of Substantial Shareholders in shares of the Company

EEEEH

ESRBRODES 2R

CIEFEER » A28 - AEFAMBRR] - 25k
Ak [R Z M A m S BT B - BUE
EEAREBEARR I EMEAERRD
HAEFFMEG A2 o

FERRREMALTREAQTRG R EBERG
HERERKE

BEEMRA R-_E-_TE+-_A=+—0H"
THAL (EAESSHARBRSITHRAER
SN BEBRE (FExEABAT EMmAEL)
WRAR BRI MABRER G R A IRE (F
FIRP) B3R EHT 2 ELMARBE NS
NN BRI RS SRR AT ¢

Approximate
percentage of total
issued shares

Name of Substantial Nature of Number of shares (Note (1))
Shareholder Capacity interest (ordinary shares) HIEEBITROEE
FTERREE 14 HmME RHOBE (FBER) BIL M)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(“Huijin”) (Note (2)) corporation interest

hRESREFREENR 2k | NG [E o NEER

([E£]) (H:FE)
China Everbright Group Ltd. Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(“China Everbright Group”) corporation interest
(Note (3)) R NIz NRER

R R EE AR (D AR

( [hERAEH] )

(MI5E(3) )
China Everbright Holdings Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
Company Limited (“CE Hong corporation interest
Kong’”) (Note (4)) e NI £ NEER
RN REE AR AT

([RREE] ) (@)
Datten Investments Limited Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(“Datten”) (Note (5)) corporation interest

(HH3E(5)) SRANFNES AR
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the

Company (cont’d)

Long position of Substantial Shareholders in shares of the Company

(cont’d)

FERRRAMATREL TR REERG

HESERXE (F)

ITERRRARRBO 2 HE (&)

Approximate
percentage of total
issued shares

Name of Substantial Nature of Number of shares (Note (1))
Shareholder Capacity interest (ordinary shares) KB BITROEE
FTERRHS 54 EEME ROEE (BBER) BIL (M)
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”) Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(Note (6) corporation interest

GEIO) RIEH A R a S NAKER
Everbright Environment Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(Note (Z:))* corporation interest
HRBE (7)) RIEHI AR e NEER
China Everbright Environmental  Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
Protection Holdings Limited corporation interest
(“CEEPHL”) (Note (8) XEGIATEERS QRS
A RIRIRIZERR B RR A A

( [RKRBR] ) (Hx@)
China Everbright Water Beneficial Owner Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
Holdings Limited (“CEWHL”) EnEAA interest
B KK 1R RR B BR A A NAKER

( [HERARBIER ] )

Notes:

(1)

Based on 2,860,876,723 issued ordinary shares of the Company as at 31
December 2020.

Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC and
holds 63.16% equity interest in China Everbright Group. It is deemed to be
interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by China Everbright

China Everbright Group holds 100% equity interest in CE Hong Kong. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by CE

CE Hong Kong holds 100% equity interest in Datten. It is deemed to be
interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by Datten.

@
Group.
®)
Hong Kong.
@
©)

Datten holds 55% equity interest in Guildford. It is deemed to be interested
in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by Guildford.

BENR-ZB-_TE+-A=1+—BARFZET
%15 2,860,876, 723/% E@ALETE -

PES BB R 2 AR - WA EDE
REMEZ263.16%MAE - HHAR RN B K%k
H PR R R 22,084,724, 57 2%y th BB #E

PR REEFE R RKEB Z100%A%4E o Hig
RAERKRKEBEERSE22,084,724,5720%

St RE BB DattenZ 100% 884 o B8 AR
DattenPriEl$Z 545 2 2,084,724, 572 )AL 15 4

Wi
1)
@
@)

R eR R -
)

Al -
)

Datten$$ 5 Guildford 2 55% %1 - E#WR AR
Guildford T #5782 2,084,724, 57 2% B {7 b
R -
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company (cont’d)

Notes: (cont’d)

(6)  Guildford holds 39.57% equity interest in Everbright Environment. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by
Everbright Environment.

(7) Everbright Environment holds 100% equity interest in CEEPHL. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by
CEEPHL.

(8)  CEEPHL holds 100% equity interest in CEWHL. It is deemed to be
interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares held by CEWHL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company
had not been notified of any other persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company or Substantial Shareholders) who
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’
Contracts

Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or

No transactions, arrangements or contacts of significance to which
the Company, or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of FY2020 or at any
time during FY2020.

No Competition between Everbright Environment and the
Company

In connection with the separate listing of the Company on the SEHK,
the Company implemented some corporate governance measures
to confirm that the directors of both Everbright Environment and the
Company will be able to function and operate independently and
effectively in the best interest of the respective companies. Details
relating to the non-existence of competition between Everbright
Environment and the Company are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholder” of the listing document
issued by the Company dated 24 April 2019 (the "HK Listing
Document”).

EEEEH

FERRREMALTRED TR RAEAER G
HEERKXE (#)

BifeE : ()

(6)  Guildford}F B J RIRIE 2 39.57% W& - EHR
ARNRIRIBEEEE 22,084,724 572 i
DHREEER -

(7)) RKREREBHBAENXRKREZI100%E - EWRE
R RIRIRFTEEFE 22,084,724, 572 8 5
RIEERERS ©

(8) HRIRIRIFHE K AR Z100%I5HE o Hi
BAER KRR TR 22,084,724,5720%
RD R RS o

B EXFraiEIN  R-FE-_TF+-A=+—
B ARRWEEEEAALT (EHAESHA
RABZEBITRABREZREREIN) BB
KRR AR BB R ARRE I BRI
(BHED) F£336RAETF2ECMARE

RAAR o
EERRS - RERSH B

AR S EFERE A B sk HE AR E R R EET
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Directors’ Interests in a Competing Business

During the year under review and up to the date of this Annual
Report, Mr. Wang Tianyi and Mr. Zhai Haitao are also the directors
of Everbright Environment. Everbright Environment is a listed
intermediate holding company of the Company and is engaged in
environmental protection business. Everbright Environment may be
in competition with the Group. However, as stated in the section “No
Competition between Everbright Environment and the Company”
above, the Company implemented some corporate governance
measures to ensure the independence between Everbright
Environment and the Company. Up to the date of this Annual
Report, there is no change in the details previously disclosed in the
HK Listing Document.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
Equity-linked agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during FY2020 and
subsisted at the end of FY2020.

Warrants

As at the end of FY2020, there were no warrants issued by the
Company to take up any unissued shares of the Company.

Share options

The Company has no share option scheme during FY2020.
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Pre-emptive Rights

Bye-law 12(1) of the Bye-laws provides that (subject to any direction
to the contrary that may be given by the Company in general
meetings) any issue of shares for cash to existing Shareholders
holding shares of any class shall be offered to such Shareholders
in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of shares of
such class then held by them and the provisions of the second
sentence of Bye-law 12(2) with such adaptations as are necessary
shall apply. Bye-law 12(2) of the Bye-laws provides, inter alia, that
except permitted by the SGX Listing Manual or the SEHK Listing
Rules or any direction given by the Company in general meetings,
all new shares shall before issue be offered to such persons who
as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from
the Company of general meetings in proportion, as far as the
circumstances admit, to the number of the existing shares to which
they are entitled. Save for the foregoing, there is no provision for
pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for FY2020.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

Material Related Party Transactions

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year under review are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements. In relation to those related party transactions that
also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the SEHK Listing Rules, the
Company has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the SEHK Listing Rules during the
year under review.
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BrBEEE
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions

During FY2020, the Company and the Group had the following
connected transactions and/or continuing connected transactions,
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Underwriting and advisory services

On 15 April 2019, the Company entered into the underwriting
and advisory services framework agreement (the “Underwriting
and Advisory Services Framework Agreement”) with
China Everbright Group, a controlling shareholder of Everbright
Environment, for a fixed term not exceeding three years from the
date of the agreement to 31 December 2021.

Pursuant to the Underwriting and Advisory Services Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure CEB International
Capital Corporation Limited (“CEB Capital”) and/or China Everbright
Securities International Limited (“EBSI”) and/or their respective
affiliates to provide the underwriting and advisory services to the
Group based on normal commercial terms and after arm’s length
negotiations between the Group and CEB Capital and/or EBSI and/
or their respective affiliates. The underwriting and advisory services
to be provided by CEB Capital and/or EBSI and/or their respective
affiliates shall be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable
than the terms available to the Group from independent third parties.

During FY2020, the Group had no transactions with CEB Capital
and/or EBSI and/or their respective affiliates with respect to the
receipt of underwriting and advisory services.

Lease of the premises

On 15 April 2019, the Company entered into the property lease
framework agreement (the “Property Lease Framework
Agreement”) with Everbright Environment, a controlling shareholder
of the Company, for a fixed term not exceeding three years from the
date of the agreement to 31 December 2021.

Pursuant to the Property Lease Framework Agreement, Everbright
Environment shall procure its subsidiaries and/or its afficiliates to
enter into tenancy agreements with the Group in respect of the
leasing of office premises, meeting rooms and guest rooms based
on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than the terms
available to the Group from independent third parties.

REXZR/RGFEEAERS

—TOTHMBEREAN  ARRRANEEE T
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Lease of the premises (cont’d)

During FY2020, the aggregate rental paid or payable to Everbright
Environmental and its subsidiaries amounted to HK$7,166,650.
The said amount was below the annual cap of HK$7,565,750 for
FY2020 as stated in the HK Listing Document.

Deposit services

On 15 April 2019, the Company entered into the deposit services
framework agreement (the “Deposit Services Framework
Agreement”) with China Everbright Group, a controlling shareholder
of the Company, for a fixed term not exceeding three years from the
date of the agreement to 31 December 2021.

Pursuant to the Deposit Services Framework Agreement, China
Everbright Group shall procure China Everbright Bank Company
Limited (“CE Bank”) to provide the deposit services to the Group
(including current and fixed term deposit) in accordance with rules
and regulations prescribed by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”)
and/or other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The deposit services
to be provided by CE Bank shall be on normal commercial terms
and no less favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties.

During FY2020, the maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s
deposits (including interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank
amounted to approximately HK$253,470,000. This amount was
below the maximum daily closing balance of HK$300,000,000 for
FY2020 as stated in the HK Listing Document.

EEEEH
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Sludge treatment and hazardous waste treatment services

On 15 April 2019, the Company entered into the sludge treatment
and hazardous waste treatment services framework agreement
(the “Sludge Treatment and Hazardous Waste Treatment
Services Framework Agreement”) with Everbright Environment,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, for a fixed term not
exceeding three years from the date of the agreement to 31
December 2021.

Under the Sludge Treatment and Hazardous Waste Treatment
Services Framework Agreement, Everbright Environment shall
procure its subsidiaries to provide sludge treatment and hazardous
waste treatment services to the Group based on normal commercial
terms, and after arm’s length negotiations between the relevant
subsidiary of Everbright Environment and the Group.

During FY2020, the Group had no transactions with Everbright
Environment and/or its subsidiaries with respect to the receipt of
sludge treatment and hazardous waste treatment services.

Loan services

On 15 April 2019, the Company entered into the loan services
framework agreement (the “Loan Services Framework
Agreement”) with China Everbright Group, a controlling shareholder
of the Company, for a fixed term not exceeding three years from the
date of the agreement to 31 December 2021.

Under the Loan Services Framework Agreement, China Everbright
Group shall procure its subsidiary, CE Bank, to provide loans
(including revolving credit facilities and fixed term loans) within
or outside the PRC in accordance with the rules and regulations
prescribed by the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and regulations
within or outside the PRC. The loan services to be provided by CE
Bank shall be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable
than the terms available to the Group from independent third parties.

During FY2020, the Group had no transactions with China Everbright
Group and/or CE Bank with respect to the receipt of loan services.

Save for the information disclosed above, during FY2020, the
Group did not enter into any other transactions which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that
were subject to reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the
SEHK Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were:

° entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;
° conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are

not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Audltor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young LLP has issued its
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the
Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the SEHK Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the SEHK.
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Interested Person Transactions Mandate and Aggregate Value
of Such Transactions

The Group obtained a general mandate (the “IPT Mandate”) from
the Shareholders for interested person transactions (the “IPTs”)
during its AGM held on 12 April 2019 pursuant to Rule 920 of
SGX Listing Manual. The IPT Mandate was renewed during the
Company’s AGM held on 10 June 2020. The aggregate value of the
IPTs in excess of SGD100,000 during FY2020 are set out as follows:

ABAIRERERZERZNEEE

RIBFT P E T FME0GMRTE - M-F—
NEEA+ - BETHARBIRRBFAE -
AEFBARRESEABBMALRS ( [FE
AXR5 ] ) BH—mIUEEE ( [BABALIRS
BEl ) -BFEBALRXSEER _T_TFX
ATBRTORRAEFASESER K-
—ZHMBEER - #818100,000% h1E TR B
AT ZEOEEESIIIT

Name of Aggregate value of all IPTs during Aggregate value of all IPTs conducted
interested person FY2020 (excluding transactions less under the IPT Mandate during
BEALTERE than SGD100,000 and transactions FY2020 (excluding transactions less
conducted under the IPT Mandate) than SGD100,000)
“ECRUBFEAMBBABALRS —EoEHERFEARBEBALRS
WAREE (2L R100,0008 MKt REFMETHERBALIRZNEE
RBBEBATIRZEREMETHRE E (£FLR100,00057 3% TR S
BRIM) BRSM)
Everbright Environment Nil HK$7,166,650
FRIRIE s (equivalent to SGD1,273,279)
7,166,650/ 7T
(551E1,273,279%T I 7T)
Sun Life Everbright Life Nil HK$1,658,641
Insurance Co., Ltd. 2 (equivalent to SGD294,686)

KRKAAZHREERAA]

1,658,641 7T
(%{E294,686F7 IN37T)

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The net proceeds from the global offering (the “Global Offering”)
in connection with the listing of the Company on the SEHK which
amounted to HK$248.61 million (the “Net Proceeds”) have
been fully utilised and that there is no deviation from the intended
use as disclosed in the HK Listing Document. For more details
(including the breakdown of the Net Proceeds used for working
capital and other general corporate purposes), please refer to the
announcements released by the Company on 21 February 2020 and
13 May 2020 and the Company’s annual report for FY2019.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under Rule 8.08 of the SEHK Listing Rules and Rule 723 of the
SGX Listing Manual. For more details, please refer to the section
entitled “Statistics of Shareholdings” set out on pages 302 to 307 of
this Annual Report.
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. There is
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2020 are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the financial
statements.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 287 to 288
of this Annual Report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

Retirement Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, respectively.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC
are members of the retirement schemes operated by the local
authorities. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits.

The Group also makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund in
Singapore. Pursuant to the Central Provident Fund Act (Chapter 36 of
Singapore), both the employer and its employees are required to make
regular contributions at certain rate based on the employees’ income.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during FY2020 amounted to
approximately HK$55,229,000 (FY2019: HK$64,762,000).
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Confirmation of Independence

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the SEHK Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent and satisfy
the requirements under Rule 3.13 and the Company has received an
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors pursuant to the SEHK Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The members of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) at the date of this statement are as follows:

Lim Yu Neng Paul (Chairman)
Zhai Haitao (Member)

Cheng Fong Yee (Member)
Hao Gang (Member)

All members of the Audit Committee are Independent and
Non-Executive Directors. The Audit Committee carried out its
functions as required by the SGX Listing Manual, the Code of
Corporate Governance 2018 (the “SG CG Code”) and the SEHK
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code (the “HK CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the SEHK Listing Rules.

Based on the internal control established and maintained by the
Group, the work performed by the internal and external auditors (to
the extent as required by them to form an opinion on the financial
statements), and the reviews conducted by the management of the
Company (the “Management”), the Board, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal
controls addressing financial, operational and compliance risks were
adequate as at the date of this statement.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings since the last directors’
statement. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with
the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope
of their work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the
Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following, inter alia:

° assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal
and external auditors;

° half yearly and annual financial statements of the Group prior
to their submission to the Directors for adoption; and

° interested person transactions (as defined in the SGX Listing
Manual), connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in SEHK Listing Rules).
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

The Audit Committee has full access to the Management and
is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions.
It has full authority and the discretion to invite any Director or
executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews

the level of audit and non—audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and &t
objectivity of the external auditor and has recommended to the  Elii
Board that the auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, be nominated for
re-appointment as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM

of the Company.

After reviewing the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, the Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied with the
adequacy and effectiveness of such systems for FY2020.

Further details of the Risk Management and Internal Controls, Audit
Committee, Internal Audit are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 82 to 93 of this Annual Report.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company in any of the

preceding three years.

Ernst & Young LLP will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young LLP as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Wang Tianyi
Non-Executive Director and Chairman

An Xuesong
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

25 February 2021
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
2P B AR B IR AIRE

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of China Everbright Water
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company
are properly drawn up in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) so as to present fairly, in all material
respects of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of
the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in
equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended
on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public
Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial

To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited

B BEAKRFEBR A AIRE
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statements.

The key audit matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANET NN EREZSE

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
(“IFRIC 12”) and Revenue Recognition

BT BmEMBRBEESREE 125 - RBSTE
THRBAER

The Group enters into service concession arrangements
with municipals in the People’s Republic of China to
build and/or operate waste water treatment plants. The
Group recognises the consideration for the construction
services as contract assets and/or intangible assets for
service concession arrangements within the scope of
IFRIC 12. As the related amounts are material and the
application of IFRIC 12 requires significant management
judgement, we identified this as a key audit matter.
BB BT BT PIB 5K BRI RS /B R
SRR ATRELE c EREYHERBRMBREREEZE
SREF12FRBEANN MG L L L HE PR ERS
HEERARENEENNEILEE - HNEBRIBHR
ERELEERER 12T AN ERERETEEIERE
TERERAE - RMEZEERERBREAEIE -

We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s
revenue recognition policies, evaluated the Group’s
process in assessing the applicability of IFRIC 12 and
also reviewed the associated agreements to assess
whether these agreements are appropriately identified as
service concession arrangements to be within the scope
of IFRIC 12.
BAFEEEENBRABRBRRNES T  fFTHERE
HEERBREZRELZEEEREF12FEAMMNRE
Fro WEBZEBWE - AT EZ SRS RIS 1R
ERBRERMBHREREZESEREZ12FERANN
PRI HE -

We considered the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent consultant and surveyors
engaged by management. We reviewed the progress
reports for projects under construction and the
reasonableness of the revenue recognised over time.
BMZERTHEUE =S EERRERR OB ENE -
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
2P B AR B IR AIRE

Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
BRETEE (&)

BREITER (R)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

B E MAEEZEE (8)

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
(“IFRIC 12”) and Revenue Recognition (cont’d)

B BREMERBEESRBE 125 - RESTE
THRBARR (&)

The Group applies IFRIC 12 in its recognition of revenue
from service concession arrangements, which includes
revenue relating to construction services, operation
income and finance income. Disclosure of the revenue
is included in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the financial
statements.
ESEERABRRVBHRERELZE 2R EE 129 R M
RIS RELHEBENOBA - BIERERBEA - B4
WAMBI WA o A B IR RS /RE I IS R i 5E2.4
B FESRNBTEES o

Construction service revenue is measured based on
the Group’s estimation of the fair value of construction
services and the percentage of construction completed
during the year. Significant judgement is required in
determining the fair value of the construction services
and involves estimation of the total construction costs
and the margin for each contract. The Group engaged
an independent financial modeling consultant to assist
in the estimation of the fair value of the construction
services. The percentage of construction completed
during the year is estimated based on the survey of
work performed by independent surveyors with relevant
qualifications and industry experience. Judgement is
required in estimating the percentage of construction
completed.
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We reviewed management’s computation of amortised
cost of contract assets and intangible assets and
allocation of consideration between contract assets and
intangible assets and the related revenue recognised
during the year and tested key estimates including
discount rates used by management by comparing
to the relevant market interest rates to identify any
inappropriate estimates.
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We engaged our internal specialists to review the
valuation methodology and the reasonableness of certain
key assumptions such as the margin used and the
industry comparable companies in the determination of
the fair value of the construction services in the financial
model.
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We also considered the adequacy of the disclosures
related to service concession arrangements in the
financial statements.

HAIRHE T B R B B HR P BARF AT L B
KENEEMMRD M -



ANNUAL REPORT 2020 123
—E-EEERE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ERTEN RS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 HiE—ZE-EF+-A=+—HILWHKEE

Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
BRETEE (&)

To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
B EEAKFEBIR L AIRR

BARESAEE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

B E MAEEZEE (8)

Recoverability of trade receivables

e B T M =

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade
receivables amounting to HK$ 1,268,075,000, net
of expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance of
HK$97,246,000. The Group determines impairment
losses by making debtor-specific assessment of ECL for
credit impaired debtors and has established a provision
matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment for the
remaining group of debtors taking into consideration
impact arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.
RZEZTFF+ZA=1+—H  ESERKERRESR
1,268,075,000% T - EMREHEEERE ( [EHE
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The estimation of impairment loss of trade receivables
is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of trade receivables as well as expectation
of forward-looking factors. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, taking into consideration
the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. Accordingly, we identified this as
a key audit matter. Disclosures of the trade receivables
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 23 to the financial
statements.

FEMBR FOR BB KRB E WU M T - BUCARFERER D
AR ATRE R RV FEEI AT E b Gt o ERTAE FEURTX
B P U Bl & 5B - RIS B AER AR EEEE
AN BREEBARAEOWE S - FEREEHE - Fit
B ZBERE RBRETEE - BUERRAEEIIR
BTSRRI 5E2.4 - MZE3 M Bd7E23 ©

We obtained an understanding of management’s
processes relating to the monitoring of trade receivables.

BT T BEEEERYIRARNRERIE -

In assessing the adequacy of the ECL allowance,
we reviewed the ageing analysis of the debtors to
identify potential collectability issues, reviewed data
used in management’s assessment of default rates
and assessed the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions used in establishing the forward-looking
adjustments including the potential impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, we discussed with
management about the status of significant overdue
individual debtors’ balance, management’s consideration
of the debtors’ specific profiles and risks, reviewed
settlement history and assessed management’s
assumptions used to determine the ECL allowance.
We also requested direct confirmations and considered
receipts subsequent to the year end.
AHMETEHEEBERER RS - BAIEZ T ERUERZH R
B ABERBEERIWIERERE - BB T EEERNU
AAEARENEE WA REEEEZARERE (8
RANESRESEETE) ARKIANKRKRNSIE
o o0 - PR EE IR E 3 BB 0 E A8 B A EUAR
TRERFE N B IR EH R EB AN KRB AR E EE
Ta0em o MPIEBR T RABWHEL - W TER
EANBERMEEHERENRE - RMEZRKEIW
FRFGARE A BB K - WigE 7 HR1E BIREYIENR ©

We further considered the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures regarding the estimation uncertainty involved
in determining the ECL allowance.

BME— AT EREREREEEERBMELSN
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
2P B AR B IR AIRE

Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
BRETEE (&)

TEREF A=t HUENBRFE

BREITER (R)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

B E MAEEZEE (8)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

7R R BRI =

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires goodwill to be tested
annually for impairment or more frequently when there is
an indication that the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) may
be impaired. This assessment requires the exercise of
significant judgement about the future market conditions,
including future cash flows to be generated from the
continuing use of the waste water treatment plants over
the service concession period. The determination of
the recoverable amount requires judgement in both
identification and valuation of the relevant CGU given the
changes in the market and economic conditions brought
on by the COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, we identified
this as a key audit matter.

ReshERIE 365 BEMEZR R EGFEITRE
AR - EESRKARGELET ( [REEHET] )
ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@%%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁo%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
HARRM SR ELEARHE - ﬁ%&%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
KEEBMAEENARKRERE - INOSENEEH
%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ#ﬁaflmxmm%&%@%%m
Bl EMHIR S EL B TaH5 MR EELHE - E
bt BRI ZFERE RARESEIE -

The Group determined that the water environment
management segment was accounted for as a
collective CGU for the purpose of impairment testing.
The impairment assessment was determined using
a value-in-use model based on the discounted cash
flows projection. Assumptions such as estimated key
financial data, the growth rate and discount rate used to
determine the discounted cash flows required significant
judgements by the Group.
EXESFMEOEEREERET - KRBEGR/RES
45 HETTRVEDA ut ERIR T ERAUTIRE S RE A
mﬁ%{ﬁﬁWﬁﬁoﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁg
ﬁ RSO RAR M S BUR - IBREMFRERSE
%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁik%%o

As at 31 December 2020, the goodwill carried
in the Group’s financial statements amounted to
HK$1,295,475,000. Disclosures of goodwill are included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the financial statements.
RZZE_ZFF+_A=+—0  S5EEUBREMED
ELRH1,295,475,0008 7T - BRI E I REM B
RMEE2.4 - BIEE3 R MIEE18 ©

S

We reviewed the appropriateness of the Group’s
determination of the CGU.

HMAE T EEEETREENETNEE T -

We assessed the appropriateness of the discount rate
used by assessing the cost of capital of the Company
and comparable organisations in the industry, and
where relevant, using our internal valuation specialists
to independently develop expectations for the discount
rate, and comparing the independent expectations to
those used by management.
BPIRHE 7 B RIS AR A6 A AR ARHEE IE
BERMITIRE - Wil 2K NEEESREITRRETE
ORI A RIS A %AgﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁT ETTHILL ©

We reviewed the cash flow forecasts by comparing
them to recent and past performance, taking into
consideration the approach used in the valuation. We
tested the reasonableness of key assumptions used
in the cash flows forecast, which include growth rate,
discount rate and long-term growth rate, and taking into
account management’s consideration of the potential
impact that COVID-19 pandemic has on the Group’s
operations.

BMERESERENMNABTINEERR BT HE
AREAIRESRER 15@7?/% HZM@ETRESAE
ANEZ/RK  BIEEEE EEYM&E%PE
= WERT AT AMRE AREHEEEEES
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We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
made in the financial statements on the impairment
assessment, specifically on the key assumptions that
have the most significant effect on the determination of
the recoverable amount of the goodwill.

B T EEEMRENSIELNBEBEER R0 E
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Other information

The other information consists of the information included in the
annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Management is responsible for other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs,
and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial
statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls.

° Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements (cont’d)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial HFstEIHHBR/RBITNEE (H)
statements (cont’d)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent  tHAZAE I EHEIRE M BFHE AR ARE
auditor’s report is Alvin Phua Chun Yen. &E o

Ernst & Young LLP Ernst & Young LLP \

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants NS R AFRTE AT

Singapore i

25 February 2021 —E--F-A=-+HA
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Notes 2020 2019
F = —ECEF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
REVENUE WA 5 5,663,292 5,550,773
Direct costs and operating expenses BEAAREERS (3,462,756) (3,658,332)
Gross profit EF 2,200,536 1,892,441
Other income and gains, net H b Ug A KU F 58 6 53,068 113,465
Administrative and other operating TR R A A A
expenses & (441,554) (476,502)
Finance income BRI A 7 15,807 20,348
Finance costs HBER 7 (348,795) (355,287)
Share of profits of associates FirfBgs & 2 R & F 4,224 614
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB A E A 8 1,483,286 1,195,079
Income tax FriSHt 11 (396,922) (310,350)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEEEF 1,086,364 884,729
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hib2mks
Other comprehensive income not to TeER iR
be reclassified to profit or loss in EHOEEESZ
subsequent periods: HEmzmiiea
Exchange differences arising on BRENGEEER
translation of functional currency EREBEEL
to presentation currency bE H ZRE 956,424 (290,747)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BREBHEAEAEEEMEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME U=
TAX 956,424 (290,747)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEE@KNSELEEE
FOR THE YEAR
2,042,788 593,982

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

B HR R EAART I REREELD
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Notes 2020 2019
BT —E-EF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: EBHERES
Equity holders of the Company RRalE=FEA 1,024,271 833,483
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR 62,093 51,246
1,086,364 884,729
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Eh2EKSAEDs -
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Company PAYNEL: £S S SN 1,927,449 558,139
Non-controlling interests FEIEIRE A 115,339 35,843
2,042,788 593,982
EARNINGS PER SHARE RATEZITE AEN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY BERER
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
- Basic and diluted - HEARKREEE HK35.80cents HK30.07cents
35.807# 1l 30.077811l

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R

As at 31 December 2020 R=—ZE=-ZF+=-H=+—H

As at 31 December

W+=A=+—8
Notes 2020 2019
Mi&E —E-EF —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - B NEE 14 152,855 141,744
Right-of-use assets RREE 16(a) 16,285 25,609
Investment properties HEY 15 12,082 3,138
181,222 170,491
Intangible assets mVEE 17 1,880,919 1,658,437
Goodwill [GES 18 1,295,475 1,213,509
Interests in associates [N 19 8,143 3,588
Contract assets GHEE 21 17,348,620 14,144,440
Trade and other receivables JFEE LT PR R e L A P LK R T 23 289,902 113,892
Other financial assets HEtbemEE 24 443,198 462,045
Total non-current assets FEMENEEBTE 21,447,479 17,766,402
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Contract assets BREE 21 1,681,187 1,389,205
Inventories FE 22 93,641 37,948
Trade and other receivables JFE LA BR X B L Ath FE U 7008 23 1,965,697 1,414,673
Cash and cash equivalents He MIReEEY 25 1,719,530 2,074,803
Total current assets MENEEERE 5,460,055 4,916,629
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables JE A BR SR R ELAth FE 1S 3R IE 26 2,540,938 2,472,484
Borrowings BE 27 2,246,673 2,010,556
Tax payable FERIBETE 69,029 64,930
Lease liabilities HEEE 16(0) 8,388 9,534
Total current liabilities mENBREERE 4,865,028 4,557,504
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 595,027 359,125
TOTAL ASSETS LESS WEER
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE 22,042,506 18,125,527

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

B HR R EAART I REREELD
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As at 31 December 2020 R=—E=-ZEF+=-HA=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8
Notes 2020 2019
Mi&E —E-EF —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FFRBEE
Borrowings BE 27 8,831,460 7,069,140
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE 29 1,801,819 1,496,256
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 3,368 11,379
Total non-current liabilities IERBEIEAEEE 10,636,647 8,576,775
NET ASSETS BESHE 11,405,859 9,548,752
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to equity RATERFEAELER
holders of the Company
Share capital %N 30 2,860,877 2,860,877
Reserves 1 31 7,673,416 5,949,192
10,534,293 8,810,069
Non-controlling interests IEIE I 871,566 738,683
TOTAL EQUITY e 11,405,859 9,548,752

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

B HR R EAART I REREELD
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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As at 31 December 2020 R=—ZE=-ZF+=-H=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8
Notes 2020 2019
Mi&E —E-EF —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THxT THETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B K& 14 5 11
Interests in subsidiaries M BN R 20 10,880,417 9,988,163
Other financial assets Hib e REE 24 409,147 431,035
Total non-current assets IFRENEERR 11,289,569 10,419,209
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables JFEE Ui B S CEL i B W kIR 23 6,502,232 4,982,545
Cash and cash equivalents Re MIReEEY 25 23,128 213,793
Total current assets MENEERER 6,525,360 5,196,338
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIAE
Other payables H AR FUR 26 99,253 92,881
Borrowings BE 27 1,954,648 1,522,919
Total current liabilities mEAEREE 2,053,901 1,615,800
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 4,471,459 3,580,538
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBERE
LIABILITIES 15,761,028 13,999,747
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Borrowings EE 27 5,129,809 4,039,303
NET ASSETS BEFH 10,631,219 9,960,444
EQUITY e
Share capital & 7 30 2,860,877 2,860,877
Reserves (e 31 7,770,342 7,099,567
TOTAL EQUITY e 10,631,219 9,960,444

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

B HR R EAART I REREELD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 HiE—ZE-EF+-A=+—HILWHKEE

Notes 2020 2019
o —EB-BRE ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BrAR AT & F) 1,483,286 1,195,079
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and Y
equipment e 8 16,633 16,571
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 8 10,129 6,979
Amortisation of intangible assets | A ERE 8 72,536 73,148
Loss on disposals of property, BEYZE - BE &G
plant and equipment fE518 8 406 933
Finance costs MEER 7 348,795 355,287
Interest income FLEWA 7 (15,807) (20,348)
Share of profits of associates Firfh s A ) & A (4,224) 614)
Provision for impairment of trade FEUBR FURE
receivables B 8 25,492 17,314
Provision for impairment of other H AU AR R
receivables REREAE 8 3,342 -
Provision for impairment of contract AHEE
assets SRIE B 8 12,695 -
Fair value adjustment of contingent AR EBREKFIEZ
consideration receivable NREEFAE 6 7,814 646
Fair value changes of other financial HihemEEARERA
assets, net HENFEE 6 47,746 (28,008)
Dividend received from other financial B E MR EEREA
assets [8s) (1,929) -
Effect of foreign exchange rates b =B EhHY
changes, net SR (25,021) 4,355
Operating cash flows before working & E& & #EaIHIEE
capital changes BERE 1,981,893 1,621,342
(Increase)/decrease in inventories e (#Em) (50,201) 1,740
Increase in contract assets BHIEEEM (2,327,398) (2,755,533)
Increase in trade and other receivables JFEE LT R R e L A JE LA SR TR G (635,243) (397,433)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other JE AT BR SR K LAt JE < 5RIE
payables CRA) 730 (83,802) 607,019
Cash used in operations REFMBANES (1,114,751) (922,865)
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) BT E AR
income tax paid ( [HE] ) FTiEH (207,594) (135,257)
Net cash flows used in operating RETHFBANESRE
activities FEE (1,322,345) (1,058,122

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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FEXARKEERAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (conT'D)
MEHERER W

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —

“EREF A=t HUENBRFE

Notes 2020 2019
o b —EB-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B IS 15,807 20,348
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYHE  BEK
and equipment BL (18,478) (17,885)
Proceeds from disposals of property, BEY - BE&RE
plant and equipment Fri8 k18 14 1
Payment for additions of intangible RNEBREEEMNK
assets (164,513) (229,313)
Increase in amounts due from an VH&Z B /NE]
associate FRIEIE 1N (733) (4,646)
Decrease in fixed deposits with maturity ?'Jﬂﬁ AR={EA N8 EH
period of over three months and TR RS R 6 & B s
restricted balances in financial ERRRL
institutions - 549,040
Increase in other financial assets H iR & EE - (451,563)
Dividend received from other financial BEMEmEEREIARE
assets 1,929 -
Net cash flows used in investing RETHMBANRERE
activities FEE (165,974) (134,018)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares under PIREEEITRGD
global offering IFECE /e - 310,870
Payment for listing expenses R RIA - (11,643)
Share issue expenses in relation to scrip A BB E 5T EIRRR (5
dividend scheme BITHY 30 - (354)
Proceeds from the issuance of corporate  #1TRA FMESFTERIA
bonds, net of related expenses paid ?D REBENAX - 804,235
Proceeds from the issuance of BITEEIRHES ( fﬁEi
asset-backed securities (“ABS”), net of ﬁ%%ﬂ ) FT1850R
related expenses paid MR EEE A 320,426 -
Proceeds from the issuance of ?é/_‘:F‘HﬂmTJf ( [PHIZERE] )
medium-term notes (“MTN”), net of FTiS 3R
related expenses paid HkRAE Fﬁaﬁﬁﬂi 1,120,135 -
New bank loans SR IRITER 2,665,730 3,203,420
Repayment of corporate bonds = L’Aﬂ%%‘% (337,290) -
Repayments of ABS BREEEXFES (41,599) -

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (conT’D)

MERERER @

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 &ZE -—ZT -ZTF+-A=+—HIFWHREE

Notes 2020 2019
MiEE —ECEH —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FABIT
Repayments of bank and other loans EBERTEHMER (2,164,948) (2,388,854)
Interest paid BERHE (334,334) (332,973)
Principal elements of lease payments MENRARE D (9,605) (6,430)
Interest elements of lease payments HENE E’Jﬂ jEﬁ 7 (797) (777)
Decrease in amounts due to intermediate  JE{ P 1A% A & Z0E
holding companies Vs - (4)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank EEPRITER
deposits A (3Eh) 7,037 (1,397)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest B FE et 2 32 (28,990) -
Dividends paid to shareholders of the EARARFIRRARE
Company (214,002) (29,279)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling Eﬁ H BN R FEIEARAR R
shareholder of subsidiary e - (28,990)
Capital contributions from non-controlling WE GESE &)
shareholders of subsidiaries TE 33(a) 51,859 45,368
Net cash flows generated from RETHMEEARESRETHE
financing activities 1,033,622 1,563,192
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERBSZEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CRA) EhnEE (454,697) 371,052
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzRekREE
beginning of the year (7 2,052,250 1,706,871
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on fﬁi&fﬁAw{E%Eﬁ
cash and cash equivalents, net R B R 2R 105,302 (25,673)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZESRRESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 1,702,855 2,052,250
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF HERREESEYERDT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in ~ 4R& MM E
the consolidated statement of financial ﬁﬁ/T\ #iRe K
position BeEEY 25 1,719,530 2,074,803
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEBIRI TR 25 (16,675) (22,553)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FEHeRER
the consolidated statement of cash FIRrRE &
flows HEeEEY
1,702,855 2,052,250

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 755 R 3R B

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—E-ZTF+=-F=+—HItWHBEE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and is dual primary listed on the Mainboard of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the
Mainboard of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The registered address of the Company is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is located at 26" Floor, Block A, Oriental
Xintiandi Plaza, No. 1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District,
Shenzhen, PRC 518000.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company’s subsidiaries are primarily involved in the water
environment management business in the PRC.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
China Everbright Water Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity
of the Company is China Investment Corporation, an entity
established in the PRC.

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct and
indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, the particulars
of which are set out below:

DNEEHR

KRR ARBERNEMKZBERAF
WRAFT NN 555 22 5 FT A PR A &) = R A1
EEBMERSMERAFEREEETE
e RARIAFEHIE AClarendon
House * 2 Church Street © Hamilton
HM11 > Bermuda B E T E2L 2 A
R EDFEYITfE M ERFE AE 10035 R
R EIZARE26/E (E4F : 518000) o

ARARINEBREBSREER - AR7]
ZHB AR EBEREFRBEIRAKRRTA
S

AN B R B R AR AR B A R B KK A%
ERAERAR (—HFRNEBERRES
( [ RBEERHEBR| ) SN A
RAT) - EFRL  ARBHRKE
BEERTBEREEREEIAR &R
AR BRI 2 B RS

RAREEH - ARFIERATHER
AIEAEE MEEER - HFROT
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